## **NOTE TO USERS**

Page(s) missing in number only; text follows. Page(s) were scanned as received.

66

This reproduction is the best copy available.



#### **University of Alberta**

## Pathogenesis and Etiology of Congenital Diaphragmatic Hernia

In an Animal Model

by



**Randal Peter Babiuk** 

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

**Department of Physiology** 

**Edmonton**, Alberta

Spring 2003

National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisisitons et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 0-612-82081-5 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 0-612-82081-5

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou aturement reproduits sans son autorisation.



## **University of Alberta**

## Library Release Form

Name of Author: Randal Peter Babiuk

# **Title of Thesis:** Pathogenesis and Etiology of Congenital Diaphragmatic Hernia in an Animal Model

Degree: Doctor of Philosophy

## Year this Degree Granted: 2003

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Library to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis, and except as herein before provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatever without the author's prior written permission.

Randal Peter Baliele

3 Seven Oaks Place Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada R2V 0J8

Date Submitted: December 16, 2002

Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research for acceptance, a thesis entitled "*Pathogenesis and Etiology of Congenital Diaphragmatic Hernia In an Animal Model*" submitted by *Randal Peter Babiuk* in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of **Doctor of Philosophy** 

Dr. John Greer Dr. Joseph R. Case Dr. K Dr. D. Alan Underhill

Dr. Shabih U. Hasan

November 27, 2002

To my mother and my entire family:

I couldn't have done it without your love and support.

Thank you

## ABSTRACT

Congenital diaphragmatic hernia (CDH) is a serious birth defect that is manifested by a hole in the diaphragm. There is high mortality and severe morbidity of affected infants. In this thesis, an animal model of congenital diaphragmatic hernia has been used to address several issues. The first project examined the embryonic origins of the diaphragm muscle. Immunohistochemical labeling for developmentally expressed markers of muscle development was utilized to identify the source of the diaphragmatic musculature. From these studies, the primary source of the diaphragm muscle was determined to be myogenic cells from cervical somites that migrated to the pleuroperitoneal fold (PPF).

Secondly, the hypothesis that the initial defect in CDH occurs in the mesenchymal substratum of the diaphragm was examined. *C-met* null mice were used to examine the nonmuscular component of the diaphragm and its role in the pathophysiology of CDH, and to test the hypothesis that a lung defect is the primary problem leading to development of CDH. It was found that hernias could be induced in the amuscular membrane using the same compounds that induced hernias in muscularized diaphragms. Also, in  $FGF10^{-4-}$  mice with no lungs, a hernia could be induced be induced in the diaphragm of a null fetus, demonstrating that CDH could occur in the absence of lungs.

The third project was an investigation of the hypothesis that the etiology of the CDH model involves the retinoid system. Four teratogens that independently induce diaphragmatic hernias in fetal rats were tested for the ability to inhibit retinoic acid production. All four compounds significantly diminished or abolished retinal dehydrogenase activity, strongly suggesting a definite link between the retinoid system and the chemical model of CDH.

The results of the study of the normal and pathological development of the diaphragm have shed new light on the long-held ideas about diaphragm formation and the tissue origin of the defect in CDH. Specifically, major findings from this work provide insight into the following: *i*) the embryonic origin of the diaphragmatic musculature, *ii*) the pathogenesis of CDH in the animal model, and *iii*) the potential involvement of the retinoid system in CDH etiology.

Thank you to Dr. John Greer, my supervisor. Your support and guidance throughout my time in the lab made it a tremendously valuable and rewarding experience.

Many thanks to Wei Zhang whose assistance and hard work made it possible for me to work on several aspects of the research at the same time.

Thank you to Dr. Douglas Allan who showed me the immunohistochemistry methods used in my work, and who taught me the intricacies of rodent surgery and diaphragm isolation. Also, thanks, Doug, for introducing me to a variety of different musical artists that I have come to enjoy over the years, and for your inimitable character and sense of humour.

I wish to thank Dr. Miguel Martin-Caraballo for many interesting and amusing philosophical and political discussions, stories of Cuba, and your unique personality when we were students in the lab.

Thank you to Robin Clugston and Silvia Pagliardini for your friendship, your assistance with my experiments and the unflagging encouragement you have given me. Thanks to Dr. Jun Ren for enjoyable conversations about work and life in China, and for your sense of humour and to Dr. Ba Fang for advice and help in getting ready for my defense and for assistance with thesis formatting.

Thanks to all of the other people in the Greer lab over the years who made it an enjoyable place to work and learn, including Brian Parsons, Linh Li, Rob Stack, Kelly Santarossa, Ryan Sustrik, Nicki Hooten and Yun Tang. A special thanks goes out to Dr. Rob Lemke and Dr. Bernard Thébaud for advice and sharing their insights into CDH with me.

Neil Tyreman, Al Dennington, Dave MacTavish, Kim Harris and Dean Zaragoza receive a special thanks for their assistance (and tolerance) on the innumerable occasions when I went to them with technical questions about experimental protocols, computer problems or when I was scrounging up reagents or equipment. Thanks to Zoltan Kenwell, Robert Rolf and Kelly James for answering questions about electrical, computer or mechanical problems I experienced during my PhD.

Thanks as well to Dr. Alan Bateson, Dr. David Olson and Dr. Alan Underhill for permitting me to use equipment in their labs, as well as for their advice and encouragement.

Also, thank you to Carol Ann Johnson, Brenda Topliss and Toni Stringham in the Neuroscience Office, as well as the staff and Physiology General Office, especially Michelle Babuik, and Sheila and Eileen in the Perinatal Research Center for all sorts of help with any number of things over the years.

I wish to thank the people on my committee for their help and for teaching me important things about thinking and writing scientifically: Dr. Keith Bagnall, Dr. Joe Casey, and Dr. Alan Underhill. Thank you to Dr. Shabih Hasan for agreeing to be the external examiner for my thesis.

Thanks to all of the staff at HSLAS for their hard work and time spent breeding and providing the many rats and mice used in the research.

I would really like to thank Dr. Peter Dickie for invaluable help in getting my PCR working and for letting me use his equipment, supplies and lab space for the past three years. I appreciate your encouragement and your advice on science, life and the future and hearing your views on all aspects of work and life. Also, thanks to Peter's great assistant Jen Witmer for help in genotyping the mice, helping me with technical matters upstairs and talking with me about stuff in general.

Many people have become good friends over the years in Edmonton. I thank you all, but I must mention a few people in particular. Thanks to Dr. Dave Collins who was one of the first people I met in Neuroscience, and Al Dennington for all his help (and football tickets.) Dan Healy and Dr. Chris Ptak have listened to my woes many times and have offered their advice on things both scientific and not. Likewise, Randy Helle, Cheesy, Mike C., Randy L., Mark, Scott, Lisa, Sue, Derek, Buffy, Eldon, Gary, Rob, Cam, Johnny, Trish, Janet, Mike F. and the whole gang at the Avenue for all the friendship, laughs and general good times.

I also must thank the Alberta Lung Association and Boehringer Ingelheim, the Canadian Foundation for the Study of Infant Deaths, and the Faculty of Medicine and Dentistry, University of Alberta, for my financial support and the CIHR, Alberta Lung Association and the March of Dimes for supplying research funding.

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

<u>CHA</u>	<u>.PTER 1.</u>	INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW	1
1.1	Objectiv	ves	
GEN	ERAL IN	TRODUCTION	4
1.2	Diaphra	gm embryogenesis	4
1.3	Mvogen	esis	
1.4	Congen	ital Diaphragmatic hernia – experimental and clinical aspects	
	1.4.1	Pathophysiology of CDH.	
	1.4.2	Treatment of CDH	
	1.4.3	Animal models of CDH	15
1.5	Retinoid	l signalling	22
	1.5.1	Retinoid uptake, transport, storage and conversion	22
	1.5.2	Retinoid receptors	25
	1.5.3	Regulation of gene function by retinoids	27
1.6	Referen	ces	30
<u>CHA</u>	<u>PTER 2.</u>	MATERIALS AND METHODS	41
	2.1.1	Caesarean section (Rats and Mice)	42
	2.1.2	Paraffin sectioning	42
	2.1.3	Diaphragm isolation (E15-21 Rats; E14-E18 Mice)	43
	2.1.4	Immunohistochemical labeling	43
	2.1.5	Microscopy	44
	2.1.6	Drug delivery	45
	2.1.7	C-met genotyping of adult and fetal mice	45
2.2	Referen	ces	47
СНА	PTER 3.	EMBRYOLOGICAL ORIGINS AND DEVELOPMENT OF	•
	THE R.	AT DIAPHRAGM	48
3.1	Introdu	ction	49
3.2	Materia	lls and Methods	50
	3.2.1	Tissue preparation	50
	3.2.2	Immunolabeling	51
	3.2.3	Nitrofen model of CDH	54
	3.2.4	Amuscular diaphragm model	54
3.3	Results		55
	3.3.1	Muscle precursors and phrenic axons congregate within the PPF.	55
	3.3.2	Spatiotemporal pattern of muscle precursor	
		migration/proliferation and intramuscular nerve branching	59
	3.3.3	PPF and diaphragm formation in CDH	64
	3.3.4	Amuscular component of the diaphragm	66
3.4	Discuss	ion	
F		AV 22 **********************************	

	3.4.1	Sources of the diaphragmatic musculature	68
	3.4.2	Relationship between the spatiotemporal distribution of muscle	
		precursors, phrenic axons and primary myotubes	70
	3.4.3	Amuscular component of the diaphragm	71
	3.4.4	Distribution of diaphragm muscle precursors in an animal	
		model of CDH	72
3.5	Referen	ces	74
CHA	PTER 4.	DIAPHRAGM DEFECTS OCCUR IN A CONGENITAL	
	DIAPHI	RAGMATIC HERNIA MODEL INDEPENDENTLY OF	
	MYOGI	ENESIS AND LUNG FORMATION	76
4.1	Introduc	ction	
4.2	Materia	ls and Methods	79
	4.2.1	Mutant Mice	79
	4.2.2	Drug Delivery	80
	4.2.3	Caesarean Section and Tissue Isolation	81
4.3	<b>Results</b> .		81
4.4	Discussi	on	86
	4.4.1	Consideration of the animal model	86
	4.4.2	Interpretation of data from experiments using c-met <sup>-/-</sup> mice	87
	4.4.3	Interpretation of data from experiments using Fgf10 <sup>-/-</sup> mice	87
4.5	Referen	ces	89
СПА	DTFD 5	DETINAL DEHVIDOCENACE 2 IS INHIDITED DV	
	$\frac{111EK J}{COMP}$	RETIVAL DENTDROGENASE-2 IS INHIBITED DI	
		MINDS THAT INDUCE CONCENITAL DIAPHPACMATIC	
	HERNL	OUNDS THAT INDUCE CONGENITAL DIAPHRAGMATIC	92
51	HERNI	DUNDS THAT INDUCE CONGENITAL DIAPHRAGMATIC AS IN RODENTS	92
5.1 5 2	HERNIA Introduc	DUNDS THAT INDUCE CONGENITAL DIAPHRAGMATIC         AS IN RODENTS	92 93
5.1 5.2	HERNIA Introduc Materia	DUNDS THAT INDUCE CONGENITAL DIAPHRAGMATIC         AS IN RODENTS	92 93 95
5.1 5.2	HERNIA Introduce Materia 5.2.1	DUNDS THAT INDUCE CONGENITAL DIAPHRAGMATIC         AS IN RODENTS	92 93 95 95
5.1 5.2	HERNIA Introduce Materia 5.2.1 5.2.2 5.2.3	DUNDS THAT INDUCE CONGENITAL DIAPHRAGMATIC         AS IN RODENTS         ction         ls and Methods         Animals         Chemicals         Cassarean Section and Diaphragm Isolation	92 93 93 95 95 95 95 95
5.1 5.2	<b>HERNIA</b> <b>Introduc</b> <b>Materia</b> 5.2.1 5.2.2 5.2.3 5.2.4	DUNDS THAT INDUCE CONGENITAL DIAPHRAGMATIC         AS IN RODENTS         ction         ls and Methods         Animals         Chemicals         Caesarean Section and Diaphragm Isolation         Batingl Debudrogenasa Assay	92 93 93 95 95 95 95 96 96
5.1 5.2	<b>COMPC</b> <b>HERNIA</b> <b>Introduc</b> <b>Materia</b> 5.2.1 5.2.2 5.2.3 5.2.4 5.2.5	DUNDS THAT INDUCE CONGENITAL DIAPHRAGMATIC         AS IN RODENTS         ction         ls and Methods         Animals         Chemicals         Caesarean Section and Diaphragm Isolation         Retinal Dehydrogenase Assay         Immunohistochomistry	92 93 95 95 95 95 95 96 96 96 90
5.1 5.2	<b>COMPC</b> <b>HERNIA</b> <b>Introduc</b> <b>Materia</b> 5.2.1 5.2.2 5.2.3 5.2.4 5.2.5 <b>B</b> egulto	DUNDS THAT INDUCE CONGENITAL DIAPHRAGMATIC AS IN RODENTS	92 93 95 95 95 95 95 96 96 99
5.1 5.2 5.3	<b>COMPC</b> <b>HERNIA</b> <b>Introdue</b> <b>Materia</b> 5.2.1 5.2.2 5.2.3 5.2.4 5.2.5 <b>Results</b>	DUNDS THAT INDUCE CONGENITAL DIAPHRAGMATIC AS IN RODENTS	92 93 95 95 95 95 95 96 96 99 99 00
5.1 5.2 5.3	<b>HERNIA</b> <b>Introduc</b> <b>Materia</b> 5.2.1 5.2.2 5.2.3 5.2.4 5.2.5 <b>Results</b> 5.3.1 5.2.2	DUNDS THAT INDUCE CONGENITAL DIAPHRAGMATIC AS IN RODENTS	92 93 95 95 95 95 96 96 99 99 99
<ul><li>5.1</li><li>5.2</li><li>5.3</li></ul>	<b>HERNIA</b> <b>Introduc</b> <b>Materia</b> 5.2.1 5.2.2 5.2.3 5.2.4 5.2.5 <b>Results</b> 5.3.1 5.3.2 5.3.2	DUNDS THAT INDUCE CONGENITAL DIAPHRAGMATIC         AS IN RODENTS         ction         ls and Methods         Animals         Chemicals         Caesarean Section and Diaphragm Isolation         Retinal Dehydrogenase Assay         Immunohistochemistry         Diaphragmatic Defects         Measurements of Retinal Dehydrogenase Inhibition	92 93 95 95 95 95 96 96 99 99 99 104
5.1 5.2 5.3	<b>EXAMPLE</b> <b>HERNIA</b> <b>Introdue</b> <b>Materia</b> 5.2.1 5.2.2 5.2.3 5.2.4 5.2.5 <b>Results</b> 5.3.1 5.3.2 5.3.3 <b>Discussion</b>	DUNDS THAT INDUCE CONGENITAL DIAPHRAGMATIC         AS IN RODENTS         ction         ls and Methods         Animals         Chemicals         Caesarean Section and Diaphragm Isolation         Retinal Dehydrogenase Assay         Immunohistochemistry         Diaphragmatic Defects         Measurements of Retinal Dehydrogenase Inhibition         RALDH2 Expression	92 93 95 95 95 95 96 96 99 99 99 99 104 107
<ul> <li>5.1</li> <li>5.2</li> <li>5.3</li> <li>5.4</li> <li>5.5</li> </ul>	<b>HERNIA</b> <b>Introdue</b> <b>Materia</b> 5.2.1 5.2.2 5.2.3 5.2.4 5.2.5 <b>Results</b> 5.3.1 5.3.2 5.3.3 <b>Discussi</b> <b>Deferen</b>	DUNDS THAT INDUCE CONGENITAL DIAPHRAGMATIC         AS IN RODENTS         ction         ls and Methods         Animals         Chemicals         Caesarean Section and Diaphragm Isolation         Retinal Dehydrogenase Assay         Immunohistochemistry         Diaphragmatic Defects         Measurements of Retinal Dehydrogenase Inhibition         RALDH2 Expression	92 93 95 95 95 95 96 96 99 99 99 99 104 107 111
<ul> <li>5.1</li> <li>5.2</li> <li>5.3</li> <li>5.4</li> <li>5.5</li> </ul>	HERNIA Introduc Materia 5.2.1 5.2.2 5.2.3 5.2.4 5.2.5 Results 5.3.1 5.3.2 5.3.3 Discussi Referen	DUNDS THAT INDUCE CONGENITAL DIAPHRAGMATIC         AS IN RODENTS         ction         ls and Methods         Animals         Chemicals         Caesarean Section and Diaphragm Isolation         Retinal Dehydrogenase Assay         Immunohistochemistry         Diaphragmatic Defects         Measurements of Retinal Dehydrogenase Inhibition         RALDH2 Expression         ces	92 93 95 95 95 95 96 96 99 99 99 104 107 111 111 116
5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.5 <u>CHA</u>	HERNIA Introduc Materia 5.2.1 5.2.2 5.2.3 5.2.4 5.2.5 Results 5.3.1 5.3.2 5.3.3 Discussi Referen	DUNDS THAT INDUCE CONGENITAL DIAPHRAGMATIC         AS IN RODENTS	92 93 95 95 95 95 96 96 99 99 99 104 107 111 116 116 120
5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.5 <u>CHA</u> 6.1	HERNIA Introduc Materia 5.2.1 5.2.2 5.2.3 5.2.4 5.2.5 Results 5.3.1 5.3.2 5.3.3 Discussi Referen APTER 6. General	DUNDS THAT INDUCE CONGENITAL DIAPHRAGMATIC         AS IN RODENTS	92 93 95 95 95 95 96 96 99 99 99 104 107 111 116 120 121
5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.5 <u>CHA</u> 6.1 6.2	HERNIA Introduc Materia 5.2.1 5.2.2 5.2.3 5.2.4 5.2.5 Results 5.3.1 5.3.2 5.3.3 Discussi Referen APTER 6. General Embryo	DUNDS THAT INDUCE CONGENITAL DIAPHRAGMATIC         AS IN RODENTS	92 93 95 95 96 96 96 99 99 99 99 99 99 
5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.5 <u>CHA</u> 6.1 6.2	HERNIA Introduc Materia 5.2.1 5.2.2 5.2.3 5.2.4 5.2.5 Results 5.3.1 5.3.2 5.3.3 Discussi Referen APTER 6. General Embryo 6.2.1	DUNDS THAT INDUCE CONGENITAL DIAPHRAGMATIC         AS IN RODENTS         ction         ls and Methods         Animals         Chemicals         Caesarean Section and Diaphragm Isolation         Retinal Dehydrogenase Assay         Immunohistochemistry         Diaphragmatic Defects         Measurements of Retinal Dehydrogenase Inhibition         RALDH2 Expression         Cees         GENERAL DISCUSSION         Diaphragms of the diaphragm         Source of the muscle cells forming the diaphragm	92 93 95 95 95 95 96 96 99 99 99 104 107 111 116 120 121 122 122
5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.5 <u>CHA</u> 6.1 6.2	COMPC         HERNIA         Introduc         Materia         5.2.1         5.2.2         5.2.3         5.2.4         5.2.5         Results         5.3.1         5.3.2         5.3.3         Discussi         Referen         APTER 6.         General         Embryo         6.2.1         6.2.2	DUNDS THAT INDUCE CONGENITAL DIAPHRAGMATIC         AS IN RODENTS	92 93 95 95 96 96 96 96 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 
5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.5 <u>CHA</u> 6.1 6.2	COMPC         HERNIA         Introduc         Materia         5.2.1         5.2.2         5.2.3         5.2.4         5.2.5         Results         5.3.1         5.3.2         5.3.3         Discussi         Referen         APTER 6.         General         Embryoo         6.2.1         6.2.3	DUNDS THAT INDUCE CONGENITAL DIAPHRAGMATIC         AS IN RODENTS	92 93 95 95 96 96 96 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 
5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.5 <u>CHA</u> 6.1 6.2	HERNIA         Introduc         Materia         5.2.1         5.2.2         5.2.3         5.2.4         5.2.5         Results         5.3.1         5.3.2         5.3.3         Discussi         Referen         APTER 6.         General         Embryo         6.2.1         6.2.3	DUNDS THAT INDUCE CONGENITAL DIAPHRAGMATIC         AS IN RODENTS	92 93 95 95 96 96 96 96 99 99 99 99 
5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.5 <u>CHA</u> 6.1 6.2	COMPC         HERNIA         Introduc         Materia         5.2.1         5.2.2         5.2.3         5.2.4         5.2.5         Results         5.3.1         5.3.2         5.3.3         Discussi         Referen         APTER 6.         General         Embryo         6.2.1         6.2.3         6.2.4	DUNDS THAT INDUCE CONGENITAL DIAPHRAGMATIC         AS IN RODENTS	92 93 95 95 96 96 96 96 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 

6.3	Insight into the pathogenesis of CDH in the animal model		128
	6.3.1	Future Directions	129
6.4	Findin	gs regarding the etiology of CDH in the animal model	131
	6.4.1	Future Directions	133
6.5	Chara	cterization of other models of congenital diaphragmatic defects	136
	6.5.1	Future directions	137
6.6	Refere	nces	141
APP	ENDIX		145
App	endix I	Mouse Models of Abnormal Diaphragm Development	146
intro	duction.		147
Mate	erials and	Methods	149
	Tissue	Isolation	149
	Antiboo	lies	149
	Immun	ohistochemistry	149
Resu	llts		150
Slit3 null diaphragms		150	
Fog2 mutant diaphragms			154
Disc	ussion	1 0	157
	Implica	utions from the Slit3 diaphragmatic hernia	157
	Implications from the Fog2 diaphragmatic hernia		158
Refe	rences	·····	161

## **LIST OF FIGURES**

## **FIGURES**

Figure 1.1	Simplified schematic of the retinoid-signalling pathway.	
Figure 3.1	The pleuroperitoneal fold (PPF) is the target tissue for phrenic axons and muscle precursors	56
Figure 3.2	Pax3/7 and MyoD immunolabeling demonstrating muscle precursors within the PPF at E13.25.	57
Figure 3.3	Pax3/7 immunolabeling to demonstrate muscle precursors at E12.5 (arrows)	58
Figure 3.4	Spatial relationship between phrenic intramuscular axonal outgrowth, location of muscle precursors and primary myotube formation.	61
Figure 3.5	Muscle precursors cover the full extent of the muscularized diaphragm by E17	62
Figure 3.6	Distribution of differentiated muscle precursors expressing myogenin	63
Figure 3.7	Montage of diaphragmatic tissue at various stages of development from an animal model of congenital diaphragmatic hernia (CDH)	65
Figure 3.8	The amuscular component of the diaphragm forms independently from the myogenic component	67
Figure 4.1	Diaphragmatic hernias can be induced in amuscular diaphragms of <i>c-met<sup>-/-</sup></i> mice	84
Figure 4.2	In the absence of lung tissue, <i>Fgf10<sup>-/-</sup></i> mice can develop diaphragmatic hernias	85
Figure 5.1	Photomicrographs of whole diaphragms labeled for neural cell adhesion molecule to demarcate myotubes	103
Figure 5.2	IEF fractions of cytosolic extracts from OLN93 cells exhibit RALDH activity.	108
Figure 5.3	Dose-dependent effects of enzyme inhibitors on RALDH2 activity.	109
Figure 5.4	Immunolabeling for RALDH2 in the primordial diaphragm, the pleuroperitoneal fold (PPF).	110
Figure 1	CDH in <i>Slit3<sup>-/-</sup></i> mice	152
Figure 2	E16.5 <i>Slit3<sup>-/-</sup></i> diaphragm	153

Figure 3	Diaphragm in <i>lil</i> mice has an abnormal pattern of muscularization	155
Figure 4	The innervation pattern of <i>Fog2</i> mutant diaphragms is irregular	156

The following abbreviations, definitions and units have been used throughout this thesis.

ADHalcohol dehvdrogenase
CDH
CRABP cellular retinoic acid
binding protein
CRBP cellular retinol binding protein
DAB
Hydrochloride
DAPI
DNAdeoxyribonucleic acid
DSHB Developmental Studies Hybridoma
Bank
DiI 1,1'-dilinoleyl-3,3,3',3'-tetramethyl-
indicarbocyanine perchlorate
E0 embryonic day 0
ECMO extracorporeal membrane
oxygenation
ENUN-ethyl-N-nitrosourea
ET endothelin
FBMfetal breathing movements
GER gastroesophageal reflux
GFP green fluorescent protein
FGF-10 fibroblast growth factor 10
HFOV high frequency oscillatory
ventilation
HGF/SF hepatocyte growth factor/scatter
factor
HSLASHealth Sciences Laboratory
Animal Services

HRE hormone response element
IGF-II insulin-like growth factor-II
LRAT lecithin: retinol acyl-transferase
MAb monoclonal antibody
MCA multiple congenital anomalies
MHC myosin heavy chain
NOnitric oxide
PBSphosphate-buffered saline
PCR polymerase chain reaction
PDGF-Bplatelet-derived growth
factor B
PPF pleuroperitoneal fold
PPHNprimary pulmonary hypertension
of the newborn
RA retinoic acid
RALDH2retinal dehydrogenase-2
RAR retinoic acid receptor
RAREretinoic acid response element
RBP retinol binding protein
RNA ribonucleic acid
RTroom temperature
RT-PCR reverse transcription- polymerase chain reaction
RXRretinoid X receptor
RXRE retinoid X response element
SNHLsensorineural hearing loss
SP-A,C surfactant protein C

TRIS	.tris[hydroxymethyl]-amino methane hydrochloride
TUNEL	TdT-mediated dUTP nick- end labeling
VA	vitamin A
VAD	vitamin A deficient
VDR	vitamin D receptor
WT1Wilm	ns' Tumour Suppressor gene

## 1.1 OBJECTIVES

The main objectives of this work are *i*) to resolve the fundamental issue of the embryonic origins of the diaphragm, *ii*) to apply that knowledge to ascertain which aspect of diaphragm embryogenesis malforms in an animal model of congenital diaphragmatic hernia (CDH) and why this defect occurs and *iii*) to investigate the hypothesis that a defect in the retinoid system is the underlying etiology of CDH in the animal model.

Chapter 1 is a general introduction to provide the necessary background for an understanding of the research detailed in future chapters of the thesis. Included in the general introduction is information on the processes of diaphragmatic muscle development and the markers for certain stages of myogenesis that were utilized in the project upon which Chapter 3 is based. Also, a discussion of congenital diaphragmatic hernia in terms of the experimental and clinical aspects is provided for a basis on all the projects that make up this thesis work and has particular significance to Chapters 4, 5 and 6. The retinoid (Vitamin A and derivatives) system is a focus of the introduction and will give a framework to understand some material found in Chapter 5.

Chapter 2 is a methods section describing common techniques used in the individual projects, such as immunohistochemistry, tissue dissection and processing, and administration of chemicals to pregnant animals.

1

Chapter 3 addresses Objective *i* and describes work that indicates the muscle precursors that migrate to the primordial tissue structure from which the diaphragm forms, the pleuroperitoneal fold (PPF), are the only source of the diaphragm musculature, rather than multiple sources postulated in embryological texts. Also, the number of precursors populating this tissue primordium appears qualitatively to be no different in the nitrofen model of CDH than in control animals, so this aspect of diaphragm development does not appear to be the source of the pathogenesis in CDH. This work provides insight into the interrelationship between the phrenic nerve axons and the myoblasts and myotubes during diaphragm embryogenesis.

Chapter 4 addresses the question of the pathogenesis of congenital diaphragmatic hernia, namely Objective *ii*. In the field of CDH research, there are numerous theories about the origin of the defect. The main theories are that the defect arises from a problem with muscle formation, or it is the consequence of a primary lung defect. Studies described in this thesis have shown that the defect observed in the animal model occurs in the amuscular component of the diaphragm and independently of lung formation, discounting these prevalent theories. This supports the belief that the defect originates at an early stage of embryogenesis of the mesenchymal substratum of the PPF.

The third objective of the research was to investigate the etiology of CDH in an animal model, specifically by investigating the possibility that the defect was the result of a problem with the retinoid system of the embryo. The Vitamin A/retinoid system plays a critical role in embryonic development with retinoic acid functioning in regulation of the transcription of myriad genes. Chapter 5 discusses studies in which four compounds that produce diaphragmatic hernias in rodents were characterized and it was shown that all four share the common ability to inhibit retinoic acid synthesis. This supports the hypothesis that the retinoid system was involved.

Other diaphragm defects from genetically mutated mice were examined as a collaborative effort as detailed in Appendix 1. Two groups, one at Harvard University and the other at Washington University in St. Louis had generated mutant mice with diaphragmatic defects and contacted the Greer laboratory for its expertise in examining diaphragmatic tissue. Fetuses from these two lines were supplied, the defective diaphragms were isolated and immunohistochemical labeling with nerveand muscle-specific antibodies was performed to gain an understanding of the pathogenesis of the defects. It was shown that a type of CDH occurs in *Slit3* null mutants that could be correlated to the septum transversum type of hernia seen in humans. From what is known about *Slit3*, this pathology in the nulls is unexpected and may provide insight into the genetic mechanisms regulating diaphragm formation. The Fog2 mutant mice display a defect in which the muscle formation in the diaphragm and the innervation pattern is severely disturbed. This defect resembles the diaphragm eventration developmental defect in humans. The molecular mechanism controlling diaphragm development is not understood. Gene-knockout mouse models will start to provide insight in this regard.

## 1.2 DIAPHRAGM EMBRYOGENESIS

Embryological and medical textbooks commonly present the diaphragm as formed by contributions from 4 distinct structures in the developing embryo (Carlson, 1994; Skandalakis, 1994; Larsen, 1997; Sadler, 2000). These are the septum transversum, the pleuroperitoneal folds, the dorsal esophageal mesentery and the lateral body wall mesoderm. According to these textbooks, the septum transversum, composed of mesodermal tissue, grows dorsally from the body wall caudal to the developing heart, separating the thoracic and abdominal cavities incompletely by the fourth week of human gestation. The septum transversum expands, fusing with the pleuroperitoneal folds and the dorsal mesentery of the esophagus. The dorsal mesentery forms the median portion of the diaphragm, and eventually the crural muscle develops from myoblasts that grow into this dorsal mesentery. The remaining muscular portion of the diaphragm (costal muscle) forms from muscular ingrowth from the body wall. Much of this is based upon interpretation of gross dissection of fetal tissue (Mall, 1910; Wells, 1954) and no rigorous systematic investigation of the origin of the muscle of the diaphragm appears to have been performed.

## 1.3 MYOGENESIS

The muscle of the diaphragm is derived from migratory precursors that originated at the level of the 3<sup>rd</sup>, 4<sup>th</sup> and 5<sup>th</sup> cervical somites (Brookes and Zietman, 1998). The somites are bilateral condensations of the paraxial mesoderm in the developing vertebrate embryo, and constitute the first visual signs of body segmentation (Keynes and Stern, 1988). The majority of skeletal muscle of the body is derived from the somites (Chevallier et al., 1977; reviewed by Hauschka, 1994). Somitogenesis begins on E8 in the mouse and proceeds rostro-caudally (Cossu et al., 1996). Cells in the ventral portion of the somite undergo an epithelial to mesenchymal transformation, forming the sclerotome (Denetclaw and Ordahl, 2000). Cells of the sclerotome will differentiate to form the connective tissue and cartilage of the vertebrae and ribs, and other structures in the body segment. The dorsal portion of the somite is composed of cells that remain epithelial. These dorsal cells form the dermomyotome (Borycki and Emerson, 2000) that will give rise to the axial and appendicular muscles of the body, as well as precursor cells for other tissues (Cossu et al., 1996). The medial part of the dermomyotome contains cells that migrate from the dorsomedial edge of the dermomyotome to form the subjacent myotome and differentiate to form the axial muscles (Denetclaw and Ordahl, 2000). Cells in the lateral portion of the dermomyotome migrate from the ventrolateral edge and migrate to populate the limb bud and form limb muscles (Christ et al., 1977) and other muscles in the embryo (Ordahl and Le Douarin, 1992). The number of precursor cells that migrate to form the limb and diaphragm is not exactly known, but each somite gives rise to only about 30 to 100 migratory muscle precursors (Megeney and Rudnicki, 1995).

These limb and diaphragm muscle precursors migrate to the level of the presumptive limb. Here a population of precursor cells continues migrating and invades the PPF, while the remainder enter and populate the developing limb bud. *Pax-3* is expressed in myogenic precursors that migrate to the limb buds from the dermomyotome (Goulding et al., 1991). This identification of Pax-3 as a factor that would mark muscle precursors was confirmed by results from mutant mice (Splotch mice) having a Pax-3 mutation and lacked limb muscles but had normal body wall and back muscles (Franz, 1993; Bober et al., 1994). Pax-3 expression can be used to follow the muscle precursors during migration to the PPF. However, other factors are also required for this process. HGF/SF, a chemoattractant, and its receptor c-met are necessary for proper muscle precursor migration behaviour (Sonnenberg et al., 1993). The ligand and its receptor regulate growth, motility and morphogenesis (Sonnenberg et al., 1993). HGF/SF is expressed at high levels in the mesoderm of the limb bud, suggesting that it does in fact act as an attractant for the migratory cells. Cells in the lateral tip of the dermomyotome express *c-met* (Yang et al., 1996), coincidental with Pax-3 expression. Pax-3 modulates *c-met* expression in the lateral dermomyotome (Epstein et al., 1996). In splotch mutants, *c-met* expression is reduced in this region. In *c-met* nulls (-/-), the limb muscles and the diaphragms do not form (Bladt et al., 1995), whereas the axial muscles form normally which supplies evidence that c-met is also needed for migration of muscle precursors.

Only a small fraction of the migratory myogenic cells that exit the somites proceed from the entry point of the limb bud to the PPF. For these hypothesized progenitors to form the diaphragm there must be substantial proliferation to generate sufficient cells to form the entire diaphragmatic muscle. Muscle precursors express

6

*MyoD*, the first member of the *MyoD* helix-loop-helix family of transcription factors that was identified (Davis et al., 1987). *MyoD* is important in the development of appendicular muscles (Smith et al., 1994). Proliferation is marked by an increase in the number of *MyoD*-positive cells.

Differentiation begins as *Pax-3* expression becomes downregulated and replication ceases while members of the *MyoD* family, myoD, and later, *myogenin* (Wright et al., 1989), is concomitantly upregulated (Olson, 1992). This switch in expression of myogenic regulatory factors signals the muscle precursors to withdraw from the cell cycle and differentiate into myoblasts (Smith, 1994).

The muscle precursors populate the primordial diaphragm, the PPF that provides a foundation on which muscle can form. The exact make-up of this amuscular, early component of the diaphragm is not clear, but its hypothesized origin is the somatopleure. The somatopleure is composed of mesoderm and ectoderm and forms the body wall structures (i.e. somatic muscles, skeleton, and kidneys) and outer lining of the intraembryonic coelom, as well as the skin. The primary source of mesodermal cells that form the limb originates from the somatopleure at the level of the future limb (Christ et al., 1983; Geduspan and Solursh, 1992). Since the somatopleure contributes to the developing limb and constitutes the outer lining of the coelom/body wall (Christ et al., 1979, 1983), the PPF may also originate from this tissue, although evidence for this is not conclusive. Certainly, it is a likely source.

## 1.4 <u>Congenital Diaphragmatic Hernia – experimental and clinical</u> <u>ASPECTS</u>

#### 1.4.1 Pathophysiology of CDH

Congenital diaphragmatic hernia (CDH) has been a known condition for approximately 400 years, first described by Riverius (Bonetus, 1679) in a young man upon examination after death.

Holt (1701) gave the first account of a child born with a congenital diaphragmatic defect. Bochdalek (1848), an anatomist from Prague, described the posterolateral defect that most clinicians are familiar with and this condition still bears his name. This type of hernia is the most common type observed in infants. There are a variety of other diaphragmatic defects that occasionally occur congenitally, including the Morgagni hernia, named after an Italian anatomist, eventration of the diaphragm and the central or septum transversum hernia.

The Bochdalek or posterolateral diaphragmatic hernia is characterized by a hole or missing portion of the muscle in the posterolateral aspect (corner) of the diaphragm muscle. This is the most common congenital diaphragmatic hernia in humans and the defect is more commonly located in the left dorsal quadrant of the diaphragm (85-90%; Butler and Claireaux, 1962; Skandalakis, 1994) but does occur on the right and in rare instances, bilaterally. The defect can range from very small (1-2 inches) to comprising a considerable portion of a side of the diaphragm. The Morgagni hernia is a type of CDH consisting of a parasternal defect that occurs with a frequency of 1-2% in infants born with a diaphragmatic hernia (Carter, 1962; Stokes, 1991). Two other types of CDH are the central tendon (or septum transversum) hernia in which a hole exists in the nonmuscular tendinous medial region of the diaphragm

8

and eventration of the diaphragm in which one leaf of the diaphragm is elevated abnormally by the pressure of the abdominal viscera. This occurs because the muscle sheet of the hemidiaphragm is thinner than normal or may have scattered muscle fibers or no muscle at all. There is an amuscular membrane where the normal leaf of the diaphragm should be (Skandalakis, 1994). The central tendon hernia is considered the least common and least understood CDH (Skandalakis et al., 1994). This defect is associated with a large opening (defect) in the central tendon, presumed to occur as a secondary rupture of the septum during development (Wesselhoeft and De Luca, 1984).

Congenital diaphragmatic hernia occurs in 1:3000 live births in humans (Langham et al., 1996), or with an estimated higher frequency in total conceptions because, due to associated defects, some affected fetuses do not reach term. The abnormalities are sufficiently large that, in 50% of cases, CDH can be detected during pregnancy by ultrasound or radiographic techniques between weeks 16 and 24; the usual finding with a Bochdalek hernia is that the stomach has entered the left side of the chest where the mediastinum has undergone a shift to the contralateral side (Bohn, 2002). Left-sided diaphragmatic defects are more easily diagnosed because hernias on the right side may not be detected if the stomach has not entered the thorax at the time of the examination (Bohn, 2002). The liver may seal or plug a hole in the right side, and since there is no actual herniation of the liver or other viscera into the thoracic cavity, defects on the right side may go undetected until the postnatal period. When the liver has entered the chest through a right-sided defect, indicating that the diaphragm defect is large, the prognosis is very poor (Metkus et al., 1996).

In some cases, CDH exists as an isolated defect. However, CDH can occur in

multiple congenital anomaly (MCA) syndromes (Enns et al., 1998) possibly as the result of chromosomal abnormalities such as trisomies or specific chromosomal aberrations (~5%, Torfs et al., 1992; Steinhorn et al., 1994; ~18%, Bollmann et al., 1995). The diaphragmatic defect is merely one of many anomalies present in these cases.

Diaphragm formation is essentially complete by week 8 of gestation in humans (Skandalakis et al., 1994), when the diaphragm has completely formed a partition between the abdomen and pericardial cavity. In CDH, the diaphragm fails to form completely, leaving a hole that can vary widely in size between the thorax and abdomen. There is high mortality (40-50%; Harrison et al., 1994), although when patients with just an isolated CDH are considered, the survival rate is around 84% (Nobuhara et al., 1996). The severity of the associated pulmonary hypoplasia and pulmonary vascular maldevelopment is an important determinant of the outcome for the infants.

Among survivors, the morbidity can be severe, with feeding, growth and development problems seen in many infants. Other problems that afflict survivors of CDH can be numerous and varied in nature with some nonpulmonary problems often observed after the repair of the defect. For example, gastroesophageal reflux (GER) and oral aversion is seen in many survivors following surgical repair (Vanamo et al., 1996; Muratore et al., 2001). GER is most often associated with esophageal dilatation, which is most common in CDH infants that required extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO), a cardiopulmonary bypass technique that is used in some cases of severe pulmonary hypertension, or any mechanical ventilation. Any prolonged intubation may also retard development of the swallowing reflex, leading to oral aversion (Muratore and Wilson, 2000). Another nonpulmonary deficit that can affect CDH survivors is sensorineural hearing loss (SNHL). This is thought to arise from the use of pancurium bromide as a muscle relaxant for infants with CDH in conjunction with mechanical ventilation and which has been associated with hearing loss in CDH patients (Cheung et al., 1999). This drug and other muscle relaxants are believed to have ototoxic effects, with preterm infants being highly susceptible to these effects (R. Lemke, personal communication). The exact mechanism by which the damage to the auditory system results is not known. Another potential reason for the association of hearing deficits with CDH is that cochlear function is dependent on sufficient oxygenation and perfusion (Haupt et al., 1993) and infants with CDH can experience severe hypoxia due to pulmonary hypoplasia increasing the risk of damage to the auditory system. One study reported the rate of SNHL at nearly 60% of survivors of CDH (with and without ECMO therapy; Robertson et al., 1998). The study was a regional study, so the incidence will vary among different treatment centres, as SNHL is dependent on the treatment protocol that CDH patients undergo, in terms of drugs used and ventilation techniques applied.

Associated pulmonary problems are the most frequent and severe problems associated with CDH. These arise because the abdominal contents (intestine, stomach, liver) can enter the thoracic cavity through the opening in the diaphragm early in gestation, reducing the volume available for the lungs to develop and expand at birth. This restriction results in severe lung hypoplasia and immaturity. Surfactant deficiency results from the developmental delay of lung epithelium (Leinwand et al., 2002). Infants with CDH have lungs containing fewer pulmonary vascular branches as a result of delayed development. The pulmonary circulation develops in concert with the lung. In CDH, the severity of the lung hypoplasia correlates with a reduction in the cross-sectional area of the pulmonary vascular bed (Levin, 1978). Also, the thickness of the vascular walls is increased in CDH due to increased muscularity of the vessels (Levin, 1978; Geggel and Reid, 1984). The vessels necessarily are more muscular to conduct blood through the hypoplastic lungs, in part due to the paucity of the vascular bed. Medical problems stemming from these effects, such as persistent pulmonary hypertension of the newborn (PPHN) and surfactant deficiency, contribute most to the morbidity associated with CDH.

## 1.4.2 Treatment of CDH

Treatment of CDH is not as straightforward as simply repair or closure of the hole in the diaphragm. Often, the defect in the diaphragm can be repaired using a flap of muscle from the body wall or other source, or with a synthetic patch but the problems associated with maldevelopment of the lungs and the displaced organs in the thorax remain and require treatment.

Many strategies have been attempted to alleviate associated pulmonary problems, mainly designed to accelerate the maturation of the lungs and improve their function because respiratory problems are the most significant problems faced by survivors of CDH. These include mechanical ventilation such as extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (Wilson et al., 1991) or high frequency oscillatory ventilation (HFOV), and pharmacological treatments such as inhaled nitric oxide (NO), which is a method mainly for treatment of the pulmonary hypertension seen in infants with CDH. NO is a nonselective vasodilator of the pulmonary circulation and does not affect systemic vascular resistance (Pepke-Zaba et al., 1991; Finer and Barrington, 1997; NINOS, 1997), so it is used clinically to relieve the hypertension without causing systemic hypotension in the infants.

Much has been anticipated from *in utero* interventions in the treatment of CDH, such as *in utero* repair of the defect or tracheal occlusion to assist in lung development and expansion. Repair of the hole in the diaphragm requires reduction of the abdominal contents back into the abdomen. The use of a plastic abdominal silo may be necessary to overcome the reduced capacity of the abdomen as well as increased intra-abdominal pressure. In cases where the fetal liver has entered the thoracic cavity through the defect, return of the liver can cause kinking of the umbilical vein, which can result in fetal demise (Harrison et al. 1993). Unfortunately, *in utero* repair can lead to premature labour, and when the fetus is already severely compromised, survival of such infants is very low.

Tracheal occlusion has produced some promising results in animal models. In this technique, surgery is done *in utero* and the trachea of the fetus is ligated using an internal plug or an external clip to prevent fluid from exiting the lungs (Harrison et al., 1996). The fetal lungs produce a fluid similar in composition to physiological saline via a chloride-dependent mechanism. In a normal fetus, the fluid produced in the lungs flows outward through the upper airway into the amniotic fluid, due to a positive pressure difference in the lungs relative to the surrounding amniotic fluid, and the elastic recoil of the fetal lungs (Hooper and Harding, 2001). This egress of the fetal lung fluid is counterbalanced to an extent by the action of fetal breathing movements (FBMs). Such FBMs are due to the contraction of the diaphragmatic, thoracic, laryngeal, oropharyngeal, and nasal muscle groups (Harding et al., 1993). Liquid volume in the lungs has been shown to be dependent on contractions of the diaphragm (Miller et al., 1993). With the trachea closed, the fluid produced by the lungs accumulates, and as a result the lungs expand to accommodate the increased volume. The growth of the lung can also push the invading abdominal contents back through the hole into the abdomen. Even though lung morphology was essentially normal in animals treated with tracheal occlusion and release, the levels and composition of surfactant were abnormal. This technique has not been encouragingly successful in humans (Harrison et al., 1996) but has shown promise in animal models like the sheep. Consequently, the procedure is continually evolving as improvements in methodology occur, such as the video-fetoscopic (Fetendo) technique of tracheal occlusion (Harrison et al., 1998).

The rationale for performing an *in utero* intervention for treatment of CDH has historically been based upon the findings that suggested early diagnosis of CDH (between 18 and 25 weeks), liver herniation into the thorax, and a low lung-to-head ratio were strong predictors of a poor outcome (Harrison et al., 1998). The decision to perform *in utero* surgical techniques has to be weighed against the reported high survival rate (80%; Bohn, 2002) when postnatal therapies such as ECMO (Kim and Stolar, 2000) and other ventilation methods (i.e. HFOV) are used.

An alternative to tracheal occlusion is maternal administration of glucocorticoids such as betamethasone during gestation to induce lung maturation that has shown benefits in the rat model (Oue et al., 2000). Antenatal steroids are given to help the lungs in the fetus become mature. Drugs like dexamethasone improve maturation of the lungs but are not mitogenic and do not improve lung growth. The procedure of maternal administration of glucocorticoids is a standard procedure for

mothers at risk for preterm delivery, but it is not commonly used in cases of CDH (B. Thébaud, R. Lemke, personal communications). However, there are several complications associated with dexamethasone including suppression of the maternal and fetal immune systems increasing susceptibility to infections (fungal or bacterial; Pera et al., 2002). It must also be realized that glucorticoids have been associated with neurological morbidity such as decreased brain weight and neurological deficits when administered postnatally or for extended or multiple courses of administration (Doyle et al., 2000).

#### 1.4.3 Animal models of CDH

Very little is known about the pathogenesis or etiology of CDH in humans. However, it is thought that a deficiency of Vitamin A may be a part of the etiology. In rats, Vitamin A deficiency (VAD) in pregnant females causes CDH in 25% of the fetuses (Anderson, 1941; Warkany et al., 1948). One study in humans also shows a possible correlation between Vitamin A status and CDH (Major et al., 1998).

There are several models for CDH including teratogen-induced diaphragmatic hernia in rodents and surgically-induced lamb and rabbit models. In the lamb model, a diaphragmatic defect is surgically produced on day 90 of gestation in the fetuses (term = 145 days), with resulting lung hypoplasia and immaturity (deLorimier et al., 1967; Kent et al., 1972). An attempt to simulate the lung compression resulting from visceral invasion of the thorax in a lamb model involved inflation of a balloon in the left chest during gestation (Haller et al., 1976). This model has disadvantages in that the animals are costly, the number of offspring per pregnancy is low and the gestation period is lengthy. A surgical model of CDH in the rabbit fetus was developed (Fauza et al., 1994) where a hernia was surgically induced on E24 (term = 31 days), and resulted in features such as pulmonary hypoplasia as seen in other models and the human condition. In the rabbit, there are large litters and a short gestation time, both of which provide advantages over the lamb model, but the small size of the rabbits and fetuses make creation and utilization of the model technically more demanding (Wilcox et al., 1996).

In rodents, there is a well-established chemically-induced model of CDH that is commonly used (Kluth et al., 1990; Wickman et al., 1993; Alles et al., 1995; Alfanso et al., 1996; Allan and Greer, 1997). This nitrofen (a herbicide) model arose over 30 years ago during toxicological tests (Ambrose et al., 1971). Nitrofen was relatively non-toxic to adult animals, but caused developmental abnormalities in the lungs, heart, skeletal and diaphragm tissue in fetuses when they were exposed prenatally (Costlow and Manson, 1981). When nitrofen was administered as a single dose to the dam between the eighth and twelfth day of rat gestation, malformation (herniation) of the diaphragm was the predominant effect observed. The resulting defects were similar to those seen clinically in human infants in terms of the range in size and the location of the defects (Ambrose et al., 1971; Costlow and Manson, 1981; Kluth et al., 1990; Kluth et al., 1996). The degree to which the abdominal viscera invade the thoracic cavity is a function of the size of the muscle defect as is seen in the human condition. The resulting diaphragm defects closely resemble the Bochdalek hernias observed in human infants. The incidence of hernias is about 25% in CD1 mice (Gray et al., 1983) given nitrofen on E8 and 45% (Costlow and Manson, 1981; Kluth et al., 1990; Allan and Greer, 1997; Francis et al., 1999) in rats if nitrofen is given on E8-10 of gestation. The defects occur on the left side of the diaphragm in the majority of instances, but some right-sided or bilateral defects are found with nitrofen administration on E8. Lung hypoplasia is also observed in all fetuses from a treated animal. Interestingly, if nitrofen is given on E12, the defects are seen exclusively on the right side of the diaphragm. This may be related to left-right asymmetry (axis patterning) in the embryo, a process that may be regulated in part by retinoic acid (Levin, 1998). A system of genes involved in patterning regulates the sidedness of the organs of the embryo. In quails raised on retinoic acid or retinoid deficient diets, the embryos display asymmetry defects including *situs inversus*. This is hypothesized to be due to the ability of RA to activate genes such as *sonic hedgehog* and *nodal* that are asymmetrically expressed during embryogenesis and that can regulate each other in the chick (Zile et al., 2000). Perhaps the preferential incidence of the defect to a specific side may be related to transient retinoic acid deficiency resulting from teratogen exposure at a specific developmental age.

The majority of research in the field of CDH where the nitrofen model is utilized focuses on problems in lung development. Nitrofen is thought to act directly on the lungs, interfering with their development as well as on diaphragm formation (Irish et al., 1998; Keijzer et al., 2000; Guilbert et al., 2000). Lung hypoplasia occurs in the nitrofen model even in the absence of a diaphragmatic defect, producing an efficient way of modelling lung maldevelopment. The hypoplasia and immaturity of the lungs in the nitrofen model are very similar to those seen in human infants with CDH (Tovar et al., 1997). Both the surgically induced and nitrofen-induced hernia models are being used to address a number of aspects of CDH-related problems, including lung maturation, hypoplasia and pulmonary hypertension. These studies are not easily performed in humans due to ethical considerations, and the animal models are much more tractable to research, experimentation and therapeutic trials.

Both in the surgical lamb model and in the rodent nitrofen model, the resultant lung maldevelopment has been used to study processes and factors involved in lung maturation (Hill et al., 1994; DiFiore et al., 1994; Benachi et al., 2002; Leinwand et al., 2002; Guarino et al., 2002). It is well established that lung development depends heavily upon physical processes such as lung expansion and/or fetal breathing movements (Harding and Hooper, 1996; Kitterman, 1996). In the models of CDH, lung volume is reduced and the lungs upon examination are structurally and biochemically immature. Distention of the lungs by fluid and fetal breathing movements induce cell proliferation and gene expression in the developing lung (Hooper et al, 1993; Harding et al., 1993). Lung stretching is also important in cell differentiation. As the lungs develop, alveolar epithelial cells are undifferentiated but, in response to stretch, differentiate into type II alveolar cells that are important in surfactant production. Some of these cells form type I alveolar cells that are important for gas exchange. Cell type can be determined from expression of specific markers for type II cells such as surfactant protein C (SP-C). SP-C mRNA expression was decreased in models of lung hypoplasia (Piedboeuf et al., 1999). Other surfactants such as SP-A and phospatidylcholine are reduced in these models due to decreased numbers of type II cells.

Data from animal models have also demonstrated that lung stretching and maturation affect gene expression of certain growth factors. Platelet-derived growth factor B (PDGF-B) expression and protein synthesis in the fetal lung are enhanced when the lungs are stretched (Liu et al., 1995). It was also found that insulin-like
growth factor II (IGF-II) production is increased with lung expansion (Hooper et al., 1993). FGF-10 levels decreased 10-fold in the rodent model of lung hypoplasia, and addition of exogenous FGF-10 substantially improved lung growth (Acosta et al., 2001)

As important as the investigation of the mechanisms underlying lung immaturity is the utilization of the models in assessing therapeutic interventions for improving lung development. As discussed earlier, a technique such as tracheal occlusion can be used to prevent egress of lung fluid from the fetus, permitting expansion of the tissues with increased fluid volume. This mimics the effects of mechanical forces on the lungs during development. With the animal models, it is possible to measure the effects of this treatment on cell number and type, as well as gene expression, allowing an assessment of the potential benefits of this modality if transferred to the clinical setting. In the lamb model that tracheal occlusion does improve lung growth and alveolar expansion, but if the occlusion is not released prior to birth, it decreases the number of type II alveolar cells that are necessary for surfactant production in the lungs. If the occlusion was removed prior to delivery, the number of type II cells was increased (Bratu et al., 2001b). Tracheal occlusion has been tested in conjunction with maternal administration of steroids with the rationale that the occlusion will accelerate lung growth and the steroid therapy will enhance differentiation and maturation of the lung cells (Bratu et al., 2001a; Bratu et al., 2001b). Another study performed in a rabbit model with prenatal administration of surfactant (intraamniotic) showed that such treatment improved lung growth and distensibility (Tannuri et al., 1998). The improvement in lung growth was comparable to that seen with tracheal occlusion, but occlusion does not increase the lungs'

distensibility because of decreased surfactant production with tracheal occlusion.

In addition to steroid, surfactant and glucocorticoid therapy, Vitamin A therapy has been studied in the rat model. Thébaud et al. (1999) studied the effects of treatment of nitrofen-exposed rats with Vitamin A to determine if this may could the lung hypoplasia associated with the nitrofen/CDH model. Thébaud et al. (1999) demonstrated that high doses of Vitamin A given maternally improved the growth of the lungs of nitrofen-exposed fetal rats during gestation and resulted in a modest decrease in the incidence of CDH.

Pulmonary hypertension seen in CDH has also been studied using the animal models. The walls of the pulmonary vasculature are often thickened and more muscularized in human infants with CDH than in those that are normal (Geggel and Reid, 1984). Proliferation of smooth muscle cells in small pulmonary arteries has been observed upon post-mortem examination of infants (Levin, 1978). Clinically, this hypertension has been refractory to some common vasodilators, and the models have permitted investigation of the mechanisms involved. Nitric oxide is a potent vasodilator of the pulmonary circulatory system. One hypothesis that has been considered is that in CDH there is a defect in endogenous NO production in the vascular bed, causing a high level of vasoconstriction. However, it was shown that, at least in the main branches of the pulmonary arteries, nitric oxide synthase was expressed at normal levels (Karamanoukian et al., 1995). Endothelins have also been implicated in the pathophysiology of CDH in humans and the rat and lamb models (Kobayashi and Puri, 1994; Kavanagh et al., 2000; Thébaud et al., 2000). The role of endothelin (ET-1) that has both vasoconstrictor and vasodilatory actions, depending upon which receptor is activated, has also been examined in the lamb model of CDH

(Thébaud et al., 2000; Kavanagh et al., 2001). The pulmonary vasodilatory response to nitric oxide was intact in the CDH model, but that the endothelin response was abnormal. Enhanced vasodilatation was observed when the  $ET_A$  receptor was activated (Thébaud et al., 2000) which provides a rationale for the treatment of infants with CDH with  $ET_A$  receptor agonists.

The possibility is intriguing that a common mechanism exists which results in lung hypoplasia and diaphragm herniation. If there is a common mechanism, it supports the hypothesis that the retinoid system is important in the causation of CDH, as lung development is very dependent on retinoic acid (Chytil, 1985; Stahlman et al., 1988), and retinoic acid is synthesized by the lungs of the rat (Napoli and Race, 1987). In the teratogen model, if the retinoid system was disturbed, as predicted, it could be anticipated that multiple systems would be affected. This is one significant limitation to the concordance between the model and the human situation. In the animal model the lung hypoplasia may not be a secondary consequence of CDH, but may be one of a number of primary targets of the teratogens, while in humans there appears to be a direct correlation between the severity of the hernia defect and the degree of lung maldevelopment with the diaphragm defect being the primary cause of the secondary lung abnormality.

The nitrofen model is a useful tool to study the muscle defect, however, due to its resemblance to the human condition. The sheep model is likely of greater utility in studying the lung hypoplasia associated with CDH, but the defect in the diaphragm is surgically induced rather than developmentally induced. The teratogen-induced CDH model is currently the only suitable model for studying the pathogenesis of the muscle defect in CDH. The muscle pathology is similar to the human case but again this

defect is, in a sense, artificial itself. There is no evidence linking an herbicide such as nitrofen to CDH in human infants, based on epidemiological studies (Torfs et al., 1992).

# 1.5 <u>RETINOID SIGNALLING</u>

#### 1.5.1 Retinoid uptake, transport, storage and conversion

Vitamin A and its derivatives are critical dietary components throughout life, particularly during embryonic development. The importance of retinol in normal development has been known for over fifty years, when studies of the offspring of Vitamin A-deficient pregnant rats revealed the occurrence of a vast spectrum of congenital defects (Anderson, 1941; Warkany et al., 1948; Wilson et al., 1953). These early studies also suggested that some of these deleterious effects could be offset with supplementation of the absent nutrient. The time point in gestation when the Vitamin A was administered was critical in determining which congenital malformations were prevented. Excess Vitamin A can also cause a variety of birth defects (Lammer et al., 1985), while retinoic acid (RA) is more potent in causing these effects, suggesting that it is a more important biological retinoid.

However, the importance of retinoic acid, the active metabolite of retinol, in development has only been realized in the last twenty-five years. The teratogenic potential of RA (Lammer et al., 1985; Goulding and Pratt, 1986; Rosa, 1987) and the identification of the nuclear receptors for RA and their regulatory actions (Giguère et al., 1987; Petkovich et al, 1987) solidified the critical roles played by RA.

Retinoids in the diet are found either as provitamin A carotenoids (from plant sources) or preformed retinoids (retinyl esters in animal tissues). These compounds undergo conversions in the lumen of the intestine to Vitamin A, by oxidative cleavage to form retinal, which is then reduced to retinol by retinal reductase (Olson, 1989). Retinal and retinol are absorbed by enterocytes in the intestinal mucosa. Inside the mucosal cells, these retinoids are bound to cellular retinol binding protein II (CRBP-II). Retinal is readily converted to retinol by retinal reductase when bound to CRBP-II. The retinol absorbed or produced inside the cells is then converted to retinyl esters by enzymes such as lecithin:retinol acyl-transferase (LRAT) and packaged into chylomicrons for secretion into the lymphatic system (Ong et al., 1987). In the lymphatic circulation, the chylomicrons are broken down enzymatically into chylomicron remnants, which are delivered into the systemic circulation and are removed from the circulation primarily by the liver. Parenchymal cells in the liver take up the remnants. The retinyl esters are hydrolysed, forming retinol, which is then bound to retinol binding protein (RBP). The parenchymal cells are the major sites of synthesis of RBP in the liver (Yamada et al., 1987). The retinol complexes with RBP and is transferred to the stellate cells for storage where retinol is esterified again and stored until required (Ong et al., 1988). Under normal physiological conditions, about 75% of the retinoids in the liver are stored as retinyl ester in these stellate cells. When the organism requires retinol, retinyl ester is hydrolysed to retinol. This retinol binds to RBP from the circulation and the complex is then secreted into the plasma for delivery to extrahepatic tissues. Vitamin A-dependent tissues absorb the retinol-RBP. A receptor for RBP on the cell surface has been hypothesized (Heller, 1975). Retinol and RBP dissociate quickly in the plasma and the retinol can rapidly cross the hydrophobic cell membranes (Noy and Xu, 1990). Some of this retinol is stored in extrahepatic sites such as the lung, kidney, adipose tissue, and bone marrow (Blaner and Olson, 1994).

Once the retinol has entered the target tissue, it is once again bound to CRBP. This bound retinol is converted to retinal via oxidation by the action of retinol dehydrogenase in the cytoplasm. The enzymes of the ADH (alcohol dehydrogenase) family control this process (Molotkov et al., 2002). Retinal is released from CRBP and is used as a substrate for retinaldehyde dehydrogenase to form retinoic acid (Niederreither et al., 1999). There are three isoforms of this enzyme in mammals: RALDH1, 2, and 3. During embryogenesis, retinoic acid production is not global; rather it takes place in specific cells at particular developmental stages in the embryo. RALDH2 is an essential enzyme for retinoic acid production during development, as its absence results in no detection of RA anywhere but the eye and embryonic lethality occurs by E8.75 in null mice.

The RA produced by RALDH2 is bound to cellular retinoic acid binding proteins (CRABPs) and delivered directly to the nuclei of the cells or further metabolised into other retinoic acid derivatives, such as 9-cis-retinoic acid or retinoid glucuronides by the cytochrome P-450 system. These are the active metabolites of retinol and retinoic acid outside the visual system, where retinal is the most important retinoid.

#### 1.5.2 Retinoid receptors

The retinoids are essential for many life processes such as vision. reproduction, differentiation, metabolism and pattern formation during development. Retinol is converted to all trans-retinoic acid (atRA or RA). Retinal functions as a chromophore in the visual system, while retinoic acid exerts pleiotropic effects via regulation of gene transcription. Like steroid hormones, retinoids are targeted by receptors in their target tissues (Yamamoto, 1985). A superfamily of ligand-dependent transcription factors has been identified, including steroid/hormone receptors, thyroid hormones, Vitamin D, and retinoic acid receptors (RARs). These initially were termed orphan receptors meaning that the ligand was not known, but it was found that one of these was activated by retinoic acid (Petkovich et al., 1987; Giguère et al., 1987). There are three different RAR genes ( $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ , and  $\gamma$ ) each having several splicing forms derived from alternate splicing or promoter usage (Kastner et al. 1990), indicating another level of complexity to the retinoid-signalling pathway. The different isoforms of RAR are activated by retinoic acid. In addition to the retinoic acid receptors, a family of receptors termed RXRs (Retinoid X Receptors) with high homology to the RARs has been identified (Mangelsdorf et al., 1995). RXRs exist in three forms:  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ , and  $\gamma$ . RA at pharmacological levels can activate these receptors, but the specific ligand is hypothesized to be 9-cis-RA, although this is somewhat in question (Werner and DeLuca, 2001). The RXRs are also necessary for transcriptional activation by RARs, TRs, VDRs and other members of the steroid/hormone receptor family. RAR binds to RXR, forming a heterodimer that binds to DNA to activate transcription. RXRs can homodimerize or heterodimerize with other members of the receptor superfamily to regulate gene expression.

The RAR genes are differentially expressed during embryogenesis (Dollé et al., 1989) with the different isoforms exhibiting a tissue-specific distribution during development. RAR- $\alpha$  is ubiquitously expressed in the embryo, with the transcript for the receptor being found by *in situ* hybridization in all tissues (Kato et al., 1992). The  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$  transcripts have a mainly non-overlapping distribution, with  $\beta$  found in the liver, lung, heart and kidney, while  $\gamma$  shows highest expression in the testis, skin and lung (Dollé et al., 1990). Retinoic acid levels in the embryo regulate RAR- $\beta$ ; RAR- $\beta$  is down-regulated in VAD and is up-regulated by the addition of retinoic acid to a VAD-animal (Haq et al., 1991). The RXRs are differentially expressed in embryonic tissue as well. RXR- $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  are more widely expressed whereas  $\gamma$  is found in a more restricted distribution (Rowe, 1997).

Considerable redundancy has been found in attempts to elucidate the functions of the RAR receptor types. Knockout mice with one RAR subtype deleted displayed no overt phenotype (Lufkin et al., 1993), suggesting that compensation by another receptor subtype must occur. However, when all of the isoforms of a particular receptor are disrupted, a distinct phenotype is displayed (Lohnes et al., 1995) which may mean that for normal development, at least, one isoform of a receptor must be present in the tissues where the defects are observed. The lack of a phenotype in the single knockouts may mean that the mutants may be very subtly compromised. These single mutants did not show any fetal VAD-like malformations. Experiments with two RAR receptors mutated recapitulated all the congenital malformations characteristic of fetal Vitamin A deficiency (Lohnes et al., 1995), strongly indicating that retinoic acid and its receptors are important regulators of development. Several malformations not attributed to VAD in the early nutritional studies (Wilson et al., 1953) were found when mutant fetuses were examined, which may mean that Vitamin A deficiency leads to inactivation of all RARs causing embryonic death. Of interest to this work, only compound mutants lacking RAR  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  showed diaphragmatic hernia among the resulting defects.

#### 1.5.3 Regulation of gene function by retinoids

RAR and RXR are members of a receptor family which can regulate gene expression by binding as dimers to DNA sequences known as hormone response elements (HRE) in the promoter regions of target genes (those which are sensitive to a hormone or hormone-like molecule; see Figure 1.1). These specific sequences occur as tandem repeats that are separated by 1 to 5 nucleotides. Analyses based on sequence homologies to known HREs made possible the identification of the response elements that were activated by the RARs and RXRs. These sequences are termed retinoic acid response elements (RAREs) and retinoid X response elements (RXREs). RAREs are present in genes that are sensitive to retinoic acid, while RXREs respond to RXR homodimers. Since RXRs can heterodimerize with many different hormone and vitamin receptors, it is sometimes referred to as "the master regulator of hormonal signalling" (Mangelsdorf et al., 1994). These heterodimers bind to the partner receptor's specific response element (i.e. RARE, TRE, VDRE, etc). It is important to note that binding of the response elements does not exclusively activate gene transcription, but can also repress activation (Kliewer et al., 1992). This negative regulation is also possible with RXR:RAR heterodimers. These dimers in most instances activate transcription. The mechanism through which this repression occurs seems to involve RAR interference with positive acting transcription factors. Many of the RA-responsive genes encode proteins that are involved in transducing the retinoid signal from one step to another. This indicates that the signalling pathway is subject to autoregulation, meaning that positive or negative feedback mechanisms exist for regulation. The promoters for all three retinoic acid receptor genes contain RAREs, as do the genes encoding CRBP-1 and ADH3 (alcohol dehydrogenase 3).

The strong dependence of normal development on retinoid production and gene regulation suggests that the abnormal development of the diaphragm in the nitrofen model and potentially in human CDH could result from a "malfunction" of the retinoid system during gestation. This idea will be discussed later in the thesis with respect to some data presented and possible future work experiments that will investigate the role of retinoids in CDH.



# Figure 1.1 Simplified schematic of the retinoid-signalling pathway.

Retinol bound to retinol binding protein (RBP) is transferred from the liver via blood to target cells. Retinol-RBP complex binds to cell surface receptors and is internalized. Within the cytoplasm retinol is bound to cellular retinol binding proteins (CRBP). Retinol is converted to retinal by retinol dehydrogenase followed by a further dehydrogenation to retinoic acid by retinal dehydrogenase. Retinoic acid (alltrans RA and 9-cis-RA) binds to receptors (RAR and RXR families) that dimerize and regulate gene expression by binding to short DNA sequences in the vicinity of target genes. (Figure from J.J. Greer)

## 1.6 <u>REFERENCES</u>

Acosta, J.M., Thébaud, B., Castillo, C., Mailleux, A., Tefft, D., Wuenschell, C., Anderson, K.D., Bourbon, J., Thiery, J.P., Bellusci, S. and Warburton, D. (2001) Novel mechanisms in murine nitrofen-induced pulmonary hypoplasia: FGF-10 rescue in culture. Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol. 28:L250-257.

Alfanso, L.F., Arnaiz, A., Alvarez, F.J., Qi, B., Diez-Pardo, J.A., Vallis-i-Soler, A. and Tovar J.A. (1996) Lung hypoplasia and surfactant system immaturity induced in the fetal rat by prenatal exposure to nitrofen. Biol. Neonate 69:94-100.

Allan, D.W. and Greer, J.J. (1997) Pathogenesis of nitrofen-induced congenital diaphragmatic hernia in fetal rats. J. Appl. Physiol. 83:338-347.

Alles, A.J., Losty, P.D., Donahoe, P.K., Manganaro, T.F. and Schnitzer, J.J. (1995) Embryonic cell death patterns associated with nitrofen-induced congenital diaphragmatic hernia. J. Pediatr. Surg. 30:353-360.

Ambrose, A.M., Larson, P.S., Borzelleca, J.F., Smith, R.B. Jr., and Hennigar, G.R. Jr. (1971) Toxicologic studies on 2,4-dichlorophenyl-p-nitrophenyl ether. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 19:263-275.

Anderson, D.H. (1941) Incidence of congenital diaphragmatic hernia in the young of rats bred on a diet deficient in vitamin A. Am. J. Dis. Child. 62:888-889.

Benachi, A., Chailley-Heu, B., Barlier-Mur, A.M., Dumez, Y. and Bourbon, J. (2002) Expression of surfactant proteins and thyroid transcription factor 1 in an ovine model of congenital diaphragmatic hernia. J. Pediatr. Surg. 37:1393-1398.

Bladt, F., Riethmacher, D., Isenmann, S., Aguzzi. A., and Birchmeier, C. (1995) Essential role for the c-met receptor in the migration of myogenic precursor cells into the limb bud. Nature 376:768-771.

Blaner, W.S. and Olson, J.A. (1994) The retinoids. Edited by Michael B. Sporn, Anita B. Roberts and Dewitt S.Goodman. Orlando; Academic Press, Inc., pp. 229-255.

Bober, E., Franz, T., Arnold, H.H., Gruss, P. and Tremblay, P. (1994) Pax-3 is required for the development of limb muscles: a possible role for the migration of dermomyotomal muscle progenitor cells. Development 120:603-12.

Bochdalek, V. (1848) Einige Betrachtungen ueber die Einstellung des angeborenen Zwerchfellbruches als Beitrag zut pathologischen Anatomie des Herniun. Viertelijahrs Prakt Helik 19:89.

Bohn, D. (2002) Congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 166:911-915.

Bollmann, R., Kalache, K., Mau, H., Chaoui, R. and Tennstedt, C. (1995) Associated malformations and chromosomal defects in congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Fetal Diagn. Ther. 10: 22-59.

Bonetus, T. (1679) Sepulchrum sive antomia proctei et cadarerius morbo denatus. Geneva. Cited in Embryology for Surgeons (1972) ed. J.E. Skandalakis. Philadelphia, PA: Saunders, pp. 359-374.

Borycki, A.G. and Emerson, C.P. Jr. (2000) Study of skeletal myogenesis in cultures of unsegmented paraxial mesoderm. Methods Mol. Biol. 137:351-357.

Bratu, I., Flageole, H., Laberge, J.M., Possmayer, F., Harbottle, R., Kay S., Khalife, S. and Piedboeuf, B. (2001a) Surfactant levels after reversible tracheal occlusion and prenatal steroids in experimental diaphragmatic hernia. J. Pediatr. Surg. 36:122-127.

Bratu, I., Flageole, H., Laberge, J.M., Chen, M.F. and Piedboeuf, B. (2001b) Pulmonary structural maturation and pulmonary artery remodeling after reversible fetal ovine tracheal occlusion in diaphragmatic hernia. J. Pediatr. Surg. 36:739-744.

Brookes, M. and Zietman, A. (1998) Clinical embryology: a color atlas and text. Boca Raton: CRC Press LLC, pp. 88-91.

Butler, N. and Claireaux, A.E. (1962) Congenital diaphragmatic hernia as a cause of perinatal mortality. Lancet 1:659-663.

Carlson, B.M. (1994) Human Embryology and Developmental Biology. Ed. Bruce M. Carlson. St. Louis, MO: Mosby-Year Book, Inc., Chapter 16, pp. 332-334.

Carter, R.E.B., Waterston, D.J. and Aberdeen, E. (1962) Hernia and eventration of the diaphragm in childhood. Lancet 1:656-659.

Cheung, P.Y., Tyebkhan, J.M., Peliowski, A., Ainsworth, W. and Robertson, C.M. (1999) Prolonged use of pancuronium bromide and sensorineural hearing loss in childhood survivors of congenital diaphragmatic hernia. J. Pediatr.135:233-239.

Chevallier, A., Kieny, M., Mauger, A., and Sengel, P. (1977) Developmental fate of the somitic mesoderm in the chick embryo. In Vertebrate Limb and Somite Morphogeneis: the third symposium of the British Society for Developmental Biology. Eds. D. A. Ede, J. R. Hinchliffe and M. Balls. Cambridge, Eng.: Cambridge University Press.

Christ, B., Jacob, H.J. and Jacob, M. (1977) Experimental analysis of the origin of the wing musculature in avian embryos. Anat. Embryol. 150:171-186.

Christ, B., Jacob, H.J. and Jacob, M. (1979) Differentiating abilities of avian somatopleural mesoderm. Experientia 15:1376-1378.

Christ, B., Jacob, M. and Jacob, H.J. (1983) On the origin and development of the ventrolateral abdominal muscles in the avian embryo. An experimental and ultrastructural study. Anat. Embryol. 166:87-101.

Chytil F. (1985) Function of vitamin A in the respiratory tract. Acta. Vitaminol. Enzymol., 7:27-31.

Cossu, S., Tajbakhsh, S., and Buckingham, M. (1996) How is myogenesis initiated in the embryo? Trends Genet. 12: 218-223.

Costlow, R.D. and Manson, J.M. (1981) The heart and diaphragm: target organs in the neonatal death induced by nitrofen (2,4-dichlorophenyl-p-nitrophenyl ether). Toxicology 20:209-227.

Davis, R.L., Weintraub, H. and Lassar, A.B. (1987) Expression of a Single Transfected cDNA Converts Fibroblasts to Myoblasts. Cell 51:987-1000.

deLorimer, A.A., Tierney, D.F. and Parker, H.R. (1967) Hypoplastic lungs in fetal lambs with surgically produced congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Surgery 62:12-17.

Denetclaw, W.F. Jr., and Ordahl, C.P. (2000) The growth of the dermomyotome and formation of the thoracolumbar somites of chicken embryos. Development 127:893-905.

DiFiore, J.W., Fauza, D.O., Slavin, R., Peters, C.A., Fackler, J.C., Wilson, J.M. (1994) Experimental fetal tracheal ligation reverses the structural and physiological effects of pulmonary hypoplasia in congenital diaphragmatic hernia. J. Pediatr. Surg. 29:248-57.

Dollé, P, Ruberte, E., Kastner, P., Petkovich, M., Stoner, C.M., Gudas, L.J. and Chambon, P. (1989) Differential expression of genes encoding alpha, beta and gamma retinoic acid receptors and CRABP in the developing limbs of the mouse. Nature 342:702-705.

Dollé, P., Ruberte, E., Leroy, P., Morriss-Kay, G. and Chambon, P. (1990) Retinoic acid receptors and cellular retinoid binding proteins. I. A systematic study of their differential pattern of transcription during mouse organogenesis. Development 110:1133-1151.

Doyle, L. and Davis, P. (2000) Postnatal corticosteroids in preterm infants: systematic review of effects on mortality and motor function. Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health 36:101–107.

Epstein, J.A., Shapiro, D.N., Cheng, J., Lam, P.Y. and Maas, R.L. (1996) Pax3 modulates expression of the c-Met receptor during limb muscle development. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 93:4213-2188.

Fauza, D.O., Tannuri, U., Ayoub, A.A., Capelozzi, V.L., Saldiva, P.H. and Maksoud, J.G. (1994) Surgically produced congenital diaphragmatic hernia in fetal rabbits. J. Pediatr. Surg. 29:882-886.

Finer, N.N. and Barrington, K.J. (1997) Nitric oxide in respiratory failure in the newborn infant. Semin. Perinatol 21:826-840.

Francis, B.M., Metcalf, R.L., Lewis, P.A., and Chernoff, N. (1999) Maternal and developmental toxicity of halogenated 4'-nitrodiphenyl ethers in mice. Teratology 59: 69-80.

Geduspan, J.S. and Solursh, M. (1992) Cellular contribution of the different regions of the somatopleure to the developing limb. Dev. Dyn.195:177-187.

Geggel, R.L.and Reid, L.M. (1984) The structural basis of PPHN. Clin. Perinatol. 11:525-529.

Giguère, V., Ong, E.S., Segui, P., and Evans, R.M. (1987) Identification of a receptor for the morphogen retinoic acid. Nature 330:624-629.

Goulding, E.H. and Pratt, R.M. (1986) Isotretinoin teratogenicity in mouse whole embryo culture. J. Craniofac. Genet. Dev. Biol. 6:99-112.

Goulding, M.D., Chalepakis, G., Deutsch, U., Erselius, J.R. and Gruss, P. (1991) Pax-3, a novel murine DNA binding protein expressed during early neurogenesis. EMBO J. 10:1135-1147.

Gray, L.E. Jr., Kavlock, R.J., Chernoff, N., Ostby, J. and Ferrell, J. (1983) Postnatal developmental alterations following prenatal exposure to the herbicide 2,4-dichlorophenyl-p-nitrophenyl ether: a dose response evaluation in the mouse. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 67:1-14.

Guarino, N., Teramoto, H., Shima, H., Oue, T. and Puri, P. (2002) Effect of mechanical ventilation on the pulmonary expression and production of elastin in nitrofen-induced diaphragmatic hernia in rats. J. Pediatr. Surg. 37:1253-1257.

Guilbert, T.W., Gebb, S.A. and Shannon, J.M. (2000) Lung hypoplasia in the nitrofen model of congenital diaphragmatic hernia occurs early in development. Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol. 279:1159-L1171.

Haq, R., Pfahl, M. and Chytil, F. (1991) Retinoic acid affects the expression of nuclear retinoic acid receptors in tissues of retinol-deficient rats. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 88:8272-6.

Haller, J.A. Jr., Signer, R.D., Golladay, E.S., Inon, A.E., Harrington, D.P. and Shermeta, D.W. (1976) Pulmonary and ductal hemodynamics in studies of simulated diaphragmatic hernia of fetal and newborn lambs. J. Pediatr. Surg. 11:675-680.

Harding, R., Hooper, S.B., and Han, V.K.M. (1993) Abolition of fetal breathing movements by spinal cord transection leads to reductions in fetal lung liquid volume, lung growth, and IGF-II gene expression. Pediatr. Res. 34:148–153.

Harding, R. and Hooper, S.B. (1996) Regulation of lung expansion and lung growth before birth. J. Appl. Physiol. 81:209–224.

Harrison, M.R., Adzick, N.S., Flake, A.W., Jennings, R.W., Estes, J.M., MacGillivray, T.E., Chueh, J.T., Goldberg, J.D., Filly, R.A., Goldstein, R.B., et al. (1993) Correction of congenital diaphragmatic hernia in utero: VI. Hard-earned lessons. J. Pediatr. Surg. 28:1411-1417.

Harrison, M.R., Adzick, N.S., Estes, J.M. and Howell, L.J. (1994) A prospective study of the outcome for fetuses with diaphragmatic hernia. JAMA 271:382-384.

Harrison, M.R., Adzick, N.S., Flake, A.W., VanderWall, K.J., Bealer, J.F., Howell, L.J., Farrell, J.A., Filly, R.A., Rosen, M.A., Sola, A., Goldberg, J.D. (1996) Correction of congenital diaphragmatic hernia in utero VIII: Response of the hypoplastic lung to tracheal occlusion. J. Pediatr. Surg. 31:1339-1348.

Harrison, M.R., Mychaliska, G.B., Albanese, C.T., Jennings, R.W., Farrell, J.A., Hawgood, S., Sandberg, P., Levine, A.H., Lobo, E. and Filly, R.A.. (1998) Correction of congenital diaphragmatic hernia in utero IX: fetuses with poor prognosis (liver herniation and low lung-to-head ratio) can be saved by fetoscopic temporary tracheal occlusion. J. Pediatr. Surg. 33:1017-1023.

Hauschka, S.D. (1994) The embryonic origin of muscle. In Myology 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition, Eds. A.G. Engel and C. Franzini-Armstrong. New York, NY: McGraw Hill, pp3-73.

Heller J. (1975) Characterization of bovine plasma retinol-binding protein and evidence for lack of binding between it and other bovine plasma proteins. J Biol. Chem. 250:6549-6554.

Hill, A.C., Adzick, N.S., Stevens, M.B., Mori, H, Husseini, W., and Heymann, M.A. (1994) Fetal lamb pulmonary hypoplasia: pulmonary vascular and myocardial abnormalities. Ann. Thorac. Surg. 57: 946-951.

Holt, C. (1701) Child that lived two months with congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Phil. Trans. 22:992.

Hooper, S.B., Han, V.K., and Harding, R. (1993) Changes in lung expansionalter pulmonary DNA synthesis and IGF-II gene expression in fetal sheep. Am. J. Physiol. Lung. Cell. Mol. Physiol. 265:L403–L409.

Hooper, S.B. and Harding, R. (2001) Fetal growth and development. Eds. Richard Harding and Alan D. Bocking. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, Ch. 6, pp. 114-136.

Irish, M.S., Glick, P.L., Russell, J., Kapur, P., Bambini, D.A., Holm, B.A. and Steinhorn, R.H. (1998) Contractile properties of intralobar pulmonary arteries and veins in the fetal lamb model of congenital diaphragmatic hernia. J. Pediatr. Surg. 33:921-928.

Karamanoukian, H.L., Glick, P.L., Wilcox, D.T., Rossman, J.E. and Azizkhan, R.G. J. (1995) Pathophysiology of congenital diaphragmatic hernia. X: Localization of nitric oxide synthase in the intima of pulmonary artery trunks of lambs with surgically created congenital diaphragmatic hernia. J. Pediatr. Surg. 30:5-9.

Kastner, P., Krust, A., Mendelsohn, C., Garnier, J.M., Zelent, A., Leroy, P., Staub, A. and Chambon, P. (1990) Murine isoforms of retinoic acid receptor gamma with specific patterns of expression. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 87:2700-2704.

Kato, S., Mano, H., Kumazawa, T., Yoshizawa, Y., Kojima, R. and Masushige, S. (1992) Effect of retinoid status on alpha, beta and gamma retinoic acid receptor mRNA levels in various rat tissues. Biochem. J. 286:755-760.

Kavanagh, M., Battistini, B., Kluth, D., Jean, S., Fournier, L., Jeng, A.Y., Major, D. and Cloutier, R. (2000) Effect of CGS 26303, an endothelin-converting enzymeneutral endopeptidase inhibitor, on nitrofen-induced congenital diaphragmatic hernia in the rat. J. Pediatr. Surg. 35:780-4.

Kavanagh, M., Battistini, B., Jean, S., Crochetiere, J., Fournier, L., Wessale, J., Opgenorth, T.J., Cloutier, R. and Major, D. (2001) Effect of ABT-627 (A-147627), a potent selective ET(A) receptor antagonist, on the cardiopulmonary profile of newborn lambs with surgically-induced diaphragmatic hernia. Br. J. Pharmacol. 134:1679-1688.

Keijzer, R., Liu, J., Deimling, J., Tibboel, D. and Post, M. (2000) Dual-hit hypothesis explains pulmonary hypoplasia in the nitrofen model of congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Am. J. Pathol. 4: 1299-1306.

Kent, G.M., Olley, P.M., Creighton, R.E., Dobbinson, T., Bryan, M.H., Symchych, P., Zingg, W., and Cummings J.N. (1972) Hemodynamic and pulmonary changes following surgical creation of a diaphragmatic hernia in fetal lambs. Surgery 72:427-433.

Keynes, R.J. and Stern, C.D. (1988) Mechanisms of vertebrate segmentation. Development 103:413-29.

Kim, E.S. and Stolar, C.J. (2000) ECMO in the newborn. Am. J. Perinatol. 17:345-356.

Kitterman, J.A. (1996) The effects of mechanical forces on fetal lung growth. Clin. Perinatol. 23:727–740.

Kliewer, S.A., Umesono, K., Heyman, R.A., Mangelsdorf, D.J., Dyck, J.A. and Evans, R.M. (1992) Retinoid X receptor-COUP-TF interactions modulate retinoic acid signalling. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 89:1448-1452.

Kluth, D., Kangah, R., Reich, P., Tenbrinck, R., Tibboel, D. and Lambrecht, W. (1990) Nitrofen-induced diaphragmatic hernias in rats: an animal model. J. Pediatr. Surg. 25:850-854.

Kluth, D., Losty, P.D., Schnitzer, J.J., Lambrecht, W., and Donahoe, P.K. (1996) Toward understanding the developmental anatomy of congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Clin. Perinatol. 23: 655-669.

Kobayashi, H. and Puri, P. Plasma endothelin levels in congenital diaphragmatic hernia. J. Pediatr. Surg. 29:1258-1261.

Lammer, E.J., Chen, D.T., Hoar, R.M., Agnish, N.D., Benke, P.J., Braun, J.T., Curry, C.J., Fernhoff, P.M., Grix A.W. Jr., Lott I.T., et al. (1985) Retinoic acid embryopathy. N. Engl. J. Med. 313:837-41.

Langham, M.R. Jr., Kays, D.W., Ledbetter, D.J., Frentzen, B., Sanford, L.L. and Richards, D.S. (1996) Congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Epidemiology and outcome. Clin Perinatol. 23:671-688.

Larsen, W. (1997) Human embryology. 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition. Ed. William J. Larsen, New York: Churchill Livingstone.

Leinwand, M.J., Tefft, J.D., Zhao, J., Coleman, C., Anderson, K.D., and Warburton, D. (2002) Nitrofen inhibition of pulmonary growth and development occurs in the early embryonic mouse. J. Pediatr. Surg. 37:1263-1268.

Levin, D.L. (1978) Morphologic analysis of the pulmonary vascular bed in congenital left-sided diaphragmatic hernia. J. Pediatr. 92:805-809.

Levin, M. (1998) Left-right asymmetry and the chick embryo. Sem. Cell Dev. Biol. 9, 67-76.

Liu, M., Liu, J., Buch, S., Tanswell, A.K., and Post, M. (1995) Antisense oligonucleotides for PDGF-B and its receptor inhibit mechanical strain-induced fetal lung cell growth. Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol. 269:L178–L184.

Lohnes, D., Mark, M., Mendelsohn, C., Dolle, P., Decimo, D., LeMeur, M., Dierich, A., Gorry, P. and Chambon, P. (1995) Developmental roles of the retinoic acid receptors. J. Steroid. Biochem. Mol. Biol. 53:475-486.

Lufkin, T., Lohnes, D., Mark, M., Dierich, A., Gorry, P., Gaub, M.P., LeMeur, M. and Chambon, P. (1993) High postnatal lethality and testis degeneration in retinoic acid receptor alpha mutant mice. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 90:7225-7229.

Major, D., Cadenas, M., Fournier, L., Leclerc, S., Lefebvre, M. and Cloutier, R. (1998) Retinol status of newborn infants with congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Pediatr. Surg. Int. 13:547-549.

Mangelsdorf, D.J., Umesono, K., and Evans, R.M. (1994) The retinoids. Edited by Michael B. Sporn, Anita B. Roberts and Dewitt S.Goodman. Orlando; Academic Press, Inc., pp. 319-349.

Mangelsdorf, D.J. and Evans, R.M. (1995) The RXR heterodimers and orphan receptors. Cell 83:841-850.

Mall, F.P. (1910) Coelom and diaphragm. In Manual of Human Embryology. Volume I Edited by Kiebel and Mall. Philadelphia: pp. 523-548.

Metkus, A.P., Filly, R.A., Stringer, M.D., Harrison, M.R., Adzick, N.S. (1996) Sonographic predictors of survival in fetal diaphragmatic hernia. J. Pediatr. Surg. 31:148-151; discussion 151-152.

Megeney, L.M. and Rudnicki, M.A. (1995) Determination versus differentiation and the MyoD family of transcription factors. Biochem Cell Biol. 73:723-32.

Miller, A.A., Hooper S.B. and Harding, R. (1993) Role of fetal breathing movements in control of fetal lung distension. J. Appl. Physiol. 75:2711-2717.

Molotkov, A., Fan, X., Deltour, L., Foglio, M.H., Martras, S., Farrés, J., Paréz, X. and Duester, G. (2002) Stimulation of retinoic acid production and growth by

ubiquitously-expressed alcohol dehydrogenase Adh3. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 99:5337-5342.

Muratore, C.S. and Wilson, J.M. (2000) Congenital diaphragmatic hernia: where are we and where do we go from here? Semin. Perinatol. 24:418-428.

Muratore, C.S., Utter, S., Jaksic, T., Lund, D.P. and Wilson, J.M. (2001) Nutritional morbidity in survivors of congenital diaphragmatic hernia. J. Pediatr. Surg. 36:1171-1176.

Napoli, J.L. and Race, K.R. (1987) The biosynthesis of retinoic acid from retinol by rat tissues in vitro. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 255:95-105.

Niederreither, K., Subbarayan, V., Dollé, P. and Chambon, P. (1999) Embryonic retinoic acid synthesis is essential for early mouse post-implantation development. Nature Genet. 21, 444-448.

NINOS: The Neonatal Inhaled Nitric Oxide Study Group. (1997) Inhaled nitric oxide and hypoxic respiratory failure in infants with congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Pediatrics 99:838-845.

Nobuhara, K.K., Lund, D.P., Mitchell, J., Kharasch, V., and Wilson, J.M. (1996) Long-term outlook for survivors of congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Clin. Perinatol. 23:873-887.

Noy, N. and Xu, Z.J. (1990) Thermodynamic parameters of the binding of retinol to binding proteins and to membranes. Biochemistry 29:3888-3892.

Olson, E.N. (1992)Regulation of muscle transcription by the MyoD family. The heart of the matter. Circ Res.72:1-6.

Olson, J.A. (1989) Provitamin A function of carotenoids: the conversion of betacarotene into vitamin A. J. Nutr. 119:105-108.

Ong, D.E., Kakkad, B. and MacDonald, P.N. (1987) Acyl-CoA-independent esterification of retinol bound to cellular retinol-binding protein (type II) by microsomes from rat small intestine. J. Biol. Chem. 262:2729-2736.

Ong, D.E., MacDonald, P.N. and Gubitosi, A.M.(1988) Esterification of retinol in rat liver. Possible participation by cellular retinol-binding protein and cellular retinol-binding protein II. J. Biol. Chem. 263:5789-5796.

Ordahl, C.P. and Le Douarin, N.M. (1992) Two myogenic lineages within the developing somite. Development 114:339-353.

Oue, T., Shima, H., Guarino, N. and Puri, P. (2000) Antenatal dexamethasone administration increases fetal lung DNA synthesis and RNA and protein content in nitrofen-induced congenital diaphragmatic hernia in rats. Pediatr. Res. 48:789-793.

Pepke-Zaba, J., Higenbottam T.W., Dinh-Xuan, A.T., Stone, D. and Wallwork, J. (1991) Inhaled nitric oxide as a cause of selective pulmonary vasodilatation in pulmonary hypertension. Lancet 338:1173-1174.

Pera, A., Byun, A., Gribar, S., Schwartz, R., Kumar, D. and Parimi, P. (2002) Dexamethasone therapy and Candida sepsis in neonates less than 1250 grams. J. Perinatol. 22:204-208.

Petkovich, M., Brand, N.J., Krust, A. and Chambon, P. (1987) A human retinoic acid receptor which belongs to the family of nuclear receptors. Nature 330:444-450.

Piedboeuf, B., Laberge, J.M., Ghitulescu, G., Gamache, M., Petrov, P., Belanger, S., Chen, M.F., Hashim, E., and Possmayer, F. (1997) Deleterious effect of tracheal obstruction on type II pneumocytes in fetal sheep. Pediatr. Res. 41:473–479.

Robertson, C.M.T., Cheung, P-Y., Haluschak, M.M., Elliot, C.A., Leonard, N.J., and the Western Canadian ECMO Follow-up Group. (1998) High prevalence of sensorineural hearing loss among survivors of neonatal congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Am. J. Otol. 19:730-736.

Rosa, F. (1987) Teratogen update: vitamin A congeners. Teratology 33:355-64.

Rowe, A. (1997) Retinoid X receptors. Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 29:275-278.

Sadler, T.W. (2000) Langman's medical embryology, 8<sup>th</sup> edition. Ed. T.W. Sadler. Baltimore: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, pp.201-203.

Skandalakis, J. E., S. W. Gray, and R. R. Ricketts. The diaphragm. In: Embryology for Surgeons, edited by J. E. Skandalakis and S. W. Gray. Baltimore, MD: Williams & Wilkins, chapt.15, p. 491–539, 1994.

Smith, C.K. II, Janney, M.J. and Allen, R.E. (1994) Temporal expression of myogenic regulatory genes during activation, proliferation and differentiation of rat skeletal muscle satellite cells. J. Cell Physiol. 259:379-385.

Smith, T.H., Katchinsky, A.M. and Miller, J.B. (1994) Somite subdomains, muscle origins and the four muscle regulatory factor proteins. J. Cell Biol. 127: 95-105.

Sonnenberg, E., Meyer, D., Weidner, K.M., and Birchmeier, C. (1993) Scatter factor/hepatocyte growth factor and its receptor, the c-met tyrosine kinase, can mediate a signal exchange between mesenchyme and epithelia during mouse development. J. Cell Biol.123:223-235.

Stahlman, M.T., Gray, M.E., Chytil, F. and Sundell, H. (1988) Effect of retinol on fetal lamb tracheal epithelium, with and without epidermal growth factor. A model for the effect of retinol on the healing lung of human premature infants. Lab Invest. 59:25-35.

Steinhorn, R.H., Kriesmer, P.J., Green, T.P., McKay, C.J., and Payne, N.R. (1994) Congenital diaphragmatic hernia in Minnesota. Impact of antenatal diagnosis on survival. Arch. Pediatr. Adolesc. Med.148:626-631.

Stokes, K.B. (1991) Unusual Varieties of Diaphragmatic Herniae. Prog. Pediatr. Surg. 27:127-139.

Tannuri, U., Maksoud-Filho, J.G., Santos, M.M., Tannuri, A.C., Rodrigues, C.J. and Rodrigues, A.J. Jr. (1998) The effects of prenatal intraamniotic surfactant or dexamethasone administration on lung development are comparable to changes induced by tracheal ligation in an animal model of congenital diaphragmatic hernia. J. Pediatr. Surg. 33:1198-1205.

Thébaud, B, de Lagausie, P., Forgues, D., Aigrain, Y., Mercier, J.C. and Dinh-Xuan, A.T. (2000) ET(A)-receptor blockade and ET(B)-receptor stimulation in experimental congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol. 278:L923-932.

Thébaud, B., Tibboel, D., Rambaud, C., Mercier, J.C., Bourbon, J.R., Dinh-Xuan, A.T. and Archer, S.L. (1999) Vitamin A decreases the incidence and severity of nitrofen-induced congenital diaphragmatic hernia in rats. Am. J. Physiol. 277:L423-429.

Torfs, C.P., Curry, C.J., Bateson, T.F. and Honore, L.H. (1992) A population-based study of congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Teratology 46:555-65.

Tovar, J.A., Qi, B., Diez-Pardo, J.A., Alfonso, L.F., Arnaiz, A, Alvarez F.J., Valls-i-Soler, A. and Morreale de Escobar, G. (1997) Thyroid hormones in the pathogenesis of lung hypoplasia and immaturity induced in fetal rats by prenatal exposure to nitrofen. J. Pediatr. Surg. 32:1295-1297.

Vanamo, K., Rintala, R.J., Lindahl, H. and Louhimo, I. (1996) Long-term gastrointestinal morbidity in patients with congenital diaphragmatic defects. J. Pediatr. Surg. 31:551-554.

Vermillio, S.T., Soper, D.E. and Newman, R.B. (2000) Neonatal sepsis and death after multiple courses of antenatal betamethasone therapy. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 183:810–814.

Warkany, J., Roth, C.B. and Wilson, J.G. (1948) Multiple congenital malformations: a consideration of etiologic factors. Pediatrics 1:462-471.

Wells, L.J. (1954) Development of the human diaphragm and pleural sacs. Cont. Embryol. 35:107-134.

Werner, E.A. and De Luca, H.F. (2001) Metabolism of a physiological amount of all-trans-retinol in the vitamin A-deficient rat. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 393:262-270.

Wesselhoeft, C.W. and De Luca, F.G. (1984) Neonatal septum transversum diaphragmatic defects. Am. J. Surg. 147:481-485.

Wickman, D.S., Siebert, J.R. and Benjamin, D.R. (1993) Nitrofen-induced congenital diaphragmatic defects in CD1 mice. Teratol. 47:119-125.

Wilcox, D.T., Irish, M.S., Holm, B.A., and Glick, P.L. (1996) Animal models in congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Clin. Perinatol. 23: 813-822.

Wilson, J.G., Roth, B. and Warkany, J. (1953) An analysis of the syndrome of malformations induced by maternal Vitamin A deficiency. Effects of restoration of vitamin A at various times during gestation. Am. J. Anat. 92:189-217.

Wilson, J.M., Lund, D.P., Lillehei, C.W. and Vacanti, J.P. (1991) Congenital diaphragmatic hernia: predictors of severity in the ECMO era. J. Pediatr. Surg. 26:1028-34.

Wright, W.E., Sassoon, D.A., and. Lin, V.K. (1989) Myogenin, a factor regulating myogenesis, has a domain homologous to MyoD. Cell 56:607-617.

Yamada, M., Blaner, W.S., Soprano, D.R., Dixon, J.L., Kjeldbye, H.M. and Goodman, D.S. (1987) Biochemical characteristics of isolated rat liver stellate cells. Hepatology 7:1224-1229.

Yamamoto, K.R. (1985) Steroid receptor regulated transcription of specific genes and gene networks. Ann. Rev. Genet. 19:209-52

Yang, X.M., Vogan, K., Gros, P., and Park, M. (1996) Expression of the met receptor tyrosine kinase in muscle progenitor cells in somites and limbs is absent in Splotch mice. Development 122:2163-2171.

Zile, M. H., Kostetskii, I., Yuan, S., Kostetskaia, E., St. Amand, T. R., Chen, Y. P. and Jiang, W. (2000). Retinoid signalling is required to complete the vertebrate cardiac left/right aymmetry pathway. Dev. Biol. 223:323-338.

# **<u>CHAPTER 2.</u>** MATERIALS AND METHODS

### 2.1.1 Caesarean section (Rats and Mice)

Staff of the Health Sciences Laboratory Animal Services (HSLAS) of the University of Alberta carried out all rodent breeding. Detection of sperm plugs in the breeding cages in the morning (designated E0) was used to determine the timing of the pregnancies. Timed-pregnant rat or mouse dams were anaesthetized with halothane (1-1.5%) using carbogen (95%  $O_2/5\%$  CO<sub>2</sub>) as the carrier gas, and maintained at  $37^\circ$  via radiant heat. Anaesthetized dams underwent Caesarean section and the fetal tissue was removed. Age was verified by comparison of the crown-rump length measurements with those published by Angulo y González (1932). Fetal rats were placed in 4% Paraformaldehyde and dissected to expose the diaphragm or interior of the body cavity (depending on the fetal age). To facilitate genotyping of mutant mouse tissue, fetal mice were initially put into 0.1 M phosphate-buffered saline (PBS), tail tissue was removed and frozen immediately, upon which the torsos were dissected and put into 4% paraformaldehyde.

#### 2.1.2 Paraffin sectioning

Fixed tissue was dehydrated through an ascending series of graded ethanolwater mixtures. Samples were incubated in xylene (x 2) before being transferred to plastic moulds containing liquid paraffin that were then incubated in an oven set to  $55^{\circ}$  C. After up to 3 days of incubation in liquid paraffin, the cups were removed from the oven and the tissue was immediately oriented as the wax cooled. Upon orientation of the tissue, the cups were cooled on ice to harden the wax. Embedded tissue was stored until sectioning. The paraffin blocks were removed from the moulds and trimmed down to facilitate mounting on the chucks of a 45 Rotary microtome (Upshaw Manufacturing Co., Detroit, MI) with a standard knife holder and forward moving sample holder. Sectioning the blocks at 7  $\mu$ m in thickness produced ribbons of sections that were floated in a water bath (40°C) to flatten and extend them. Ribbons of approximately 8 sections were mounted on Superfrost Plus slides (Fisher Scientific, Whitby, ON) and dried overnight in a slide dryer. Slides were stored in slide boxes for further processing.

### 2.1.3 Diaphragm isolation (E15-21 Rats; E14-E18 Mice)

Fetuses were removed from the dam and fixed in 4% Paraformaldehyde. The torso above the level of the forelimb was cut away. Similarly, tissue including the hind limb and tail was removed to allow exposure of the diaphragm to the fixative. The tissue was fixed for 2 (room temperature) – 24 hours ( $4^{\circ}$ C) prior to diaphragm isolation from the remainder of the torso. Diaphragms were washed thoroughly in PBS prior to immunohistochemical staining. Immunostaining was performed on free-floating diaphragms. The tissue was mounted on Superfrost Plus slides and photographed.

#### 2.1.4 Immunohistochemical labeling

Antibodies: Primary and secondary antibodies were diluted in PBS containing the appropriate normal serum (goat or rabbit) to a concentration of 1%. Dilutions, secondary antibodies and blocking serum used are described in the methods sections for the individual studies.

Labeling Protocols: Details of the immunolabeling protocol used for paraffin sections are found in the appropriate methods sections in the pertinent chapters. Free-floating diaphragms were labeled using the same solutions and washing regimens that were described for paraffin tissue sections. However, a routine antigen-unmasking step was performed for paraffin-embedded tissue. Dewaxed slides were immersed in 0.1 M citrate buffer and heated in a microwave for 5 minutes, cooled, and immunostaining was performed. Diaphragms were not subjected to this procedure. The immunohistochemical staining reactions were strong enough without treatment, and the procedure was damaging to the diaphragms. Omission of primary antibodies was used as a control for each immunolabeling experiment.

#### 2.1.5 Microscopy

Labeled tissue sections were photographed using a Leitz Diaplan microscope mounted with a CCD camera or a Nikon 990 Coolpix 3.37 megapixel digital camera. Images were captured by the CCD camera onto a computer with ImagePro software and subsequently transferred via Zip disk or network connection to a computer with Adobe Photoshop or CorelDraw software for processing while digital camera images were downloaded directly to a computer for image processing. Processed files were imported into CorelDraw for processing (contrast, brightness adjustment, cropping and labeling).

Mounted diaphragms were photgraphed as described for paraffin sections. Free-floating diaphragms were photographed while floating in the wells of 24-well culture plates or placed in 5cm culture dishes having a layer of 1% agar (in PBS). Pictures were taken with a camera mounted on a Leica Wild dissecting microscope (Leica, Germany). Processing of the images was carried out as described above. Confocal microscope images of fluorescent-labeled tissue sections were taken on a Zeiss Axioplan microscope using a LSM 510 NLO laser interfaced with a computer running LSM 510 software.

#### 2.1.6 Drug delivery

Chemicals (teratogens, retinoids) were delivered to pregnant dams (rat or mouse) on Day 8 of gestation or on other multiple days as describe in the methods sections in the individual chapters. The appropriate masses of the chemicals were mixed with olive oil as a vehicle (1 ml for rats,  $600\mu$ M for mice), vortexed and placed in a sonicating water bath for ~ 0.5 hours. Dams were anaesthetized briefly using Halothane as described earlier. The chemical solution was drawn up into a 3ml syringe to which a #5 French feeding tube was attached. The tube was passed through the animal's mouth, down its esophagus and past the cardiac sphincter into the stomach. The appropriate length of the feeding tube needed to reach the stomach was determined prior to gavaging by measuring the distance externally from the mouth of the stomach by application of steady pressure to the plunger. Then the tube was removed and the animal was returned to the original cage and housed in the laboratory to await caesarean section.

#### 2.1.7 C-met genotyping of adult and fetal mice

Ear notches were collected by HSLAS from breeding age mice for genotyping to identify heterozygous animals for hetero-hetero crosses. Ear notch samples were digested in a buffer containing 5% Proteinase K to release the genomic DNA. Fetal tail samples were digested in the same fashion and genotyping on the samples was performed as described in the methods of Chapter 4.

# 2.2 <u>REFERENCES</u>

Angulo y González, A.W. (1932) The prenatal growth of the albino rat. Anat. Embryol. 52:117-138.

# <u>CHAPTER 3.</u> EMBRYOLOGICAL ORIGINS AND DEVELOPMENT OF THE RAT DIAPHRAGM

Adapted from the Original Publication:

Randal P. Babiuk, Wei Zhang, Robin Clugston,

Douglas W. Allan and John J. Greer

J. Comp. Neurol. In press 2002

R.P.B. contributed to the development of the hypotheses and experimental design, treated gavaged animals, did the embryo isolation, developed the immunohistochemical methods used, did much of the immunolabeling at early embryonic ages, diaphragm isolation at the earlier ages and performed the initial diaphragm labeling experiments.

W.Z. performed much of the embryo sectioning and immunofluorescence.

R.C. contributed to a large extent to the diaphragm isolation, immunohistochemical labeling and microscopy of the diaphragms.

D.W.A. provided input into the early design of the study and his work laid the basis for some of these experiments.

## 3.1 <u>INTRODUCTION</u>

Studies re-examining the embryological origins of the phrenic nerve and diaphragm have generated data to suggest that the classical view stated in most textbooks requires some fundamental revisions (Allan & Greer, 1997a, 1998). Specifically, the data do not support the model stating that the diaphragm musculature arises from multiple sources including the septum transversum, the esophageal mesentery and the musculature of the thoracic body wall. Rather, evidence indicates that the pleuroperitoneal fold (PPF) is the major, if not sole, contributor to diaphragm musculature. In this study, this hypothesis is tested more directly by examining the spatiotemporal distribution of muscle precursors and phrenic axons in the PPF and developing diaphragm of rats during the mid to late gestational periods. The nonmuscular component of the diaphragm is examined and the conclusion is that it may be a separate anatomical entity in itself.

An understanding of diaphragm development has clinical implications with regard to elucidating the pathogenesis and etiology of congenital diaphragmatic hernia (CDH), a developmental anomaly in which a portion of the diaphragm musculature fails to form. Rodent models of CDH were previously used to show that the initial defect could be traced back to a malformation of the PPF (reviewed in Greer et al., 2000b). Those studies are extended by examining the distribution of muscle precursors in tissue isolated from rats with diaphragmatic defects at various stages of development.

Central to meeting the objectives of this study was the ability to monitor the distribution of muscle precursors and axonal outgrowth at various stages of

development. This was accomplished by immunolabeling for developmentally regulated molecules that are expressed in myogenic cells (Pax3, MyoD and myogenin; Bober et al., 1995; Muscat et al., 1995). The relationship between phrenic axon outgrowth and muscle precursor distribution was visualized via immunolabeling for neurofilament together with myogenic markers. To examine clearly the nonmuscular component of the diaphragm in the absence of the myogenic cells, mice mutant for c-met receptors, which bind HGF/SF, a chemoattractant necessary for guiding muscle precursors and axons to peripheral muscle (Bladt et al., 1995; Yang et al., 1996) were utilised.

## 3.2 <u>MATERIALS AND METHODS</u>

#### 3.2.1 Tissue preparation

Fetal rats were removed via caesarean section from timed-pregnant rats anaesthetized with halothane (1.5% delivered in 95%0<sub>2</sub> and 5%CO<sub>2</sub>) and maintained at ~37°C by radiant heat, as approved by the Animal Welfare Committee at the University of Alberta. The timing of pregnancies of dams was determined from the appearance of sperm plugs in the breeding cages; designated embryonic day (E)0. The ages of fetuses were confirmed by comparison of their crown-rump length measurements with those published by Angulo y González (1932). Embryos were decapitated and the thoracic and abdominal cavities exposed while immersed in 4% paraformaldehyde in a 0.2 M sodium phosphate buffer (pH 7.4). The tissue was then postfixed at 4°C for between 4-20 hours. Whole embryo sections: After fixation, some fetuses were washed in phosphate buffered saline (PBS, pH=7.4) and placed in a 7.5% gelatin solution maintained at  $30^{\circ}$ C for 1 hour. They were then embedded in a 20% gelatin/glycerol solution that was hardened by cooling. A small block of the gelatin containing the fetus was excised and fixed overnight in 4% paraformaldehyde in a 0.2 M sodium phosphate buffer (pH 7.4). The block was appropriately oriented for transverse sectioning and vibratome sectioned at 50-70 µm intervals. Other embryos were embedded in paraffin and sectioned at 7 µm intervals using a microtome.

Diaphragm whole-mounts: Fetuses were fixed for 16-24 hours and diaphragms were isolated from the torso, washed in PBS, immunostained while free floating and mounted on Superfrost Plus<sup>®</sup> (Fisher Scientific, Can.). All photomicrographs of tissue were taken with a Nikon 990 digital camera and images were processed using Adobe Photoshop and CorelDraw.

#### 3.2.2 Immunolabeling

Antibodies: All primary antibodies used were diluted in PBS with 1% goat serum (Sigma, St. Louis, Mo.) and 0.4% Triton X-100. MyoD labeling was performed using a mouse anti-MyoD IgG MAb (clone 5.8A; 1:50-100 dilutions) obtained from DAKO Diagnostics Canada (Mississauga, Ontario, Canada). Myogenin was detected using a mouse anti-myogenin IgG MAb (DAKO and DSHB, University of Iowa, Iowa City, IA; clone F5D) at a dilution of 1:50-100. Pax3 was detected by using a polyclonal anti-goat Pax3/7 antibody (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA) at a dilution of 1:50. Myosin was detected using the MF20 IgG MAb developed by Dr. D.A. Fischman (Developmental Studies Hybridoma Bank, Iowa City) at a 1:5 dilution.

Neurofilament (165 kDa isoform) was detected using a mouse anti-neurofilament IgG MAb developed by Drs. T.M. Jessell and J. Dodd (Developmental Studies Hybridoma Bank) at a dilution of 1:100. Secondary antibodies, except rabbit anti-goat IgG, were diluted to 1:200 in PBS containing 1% goat serum. The secondary antibody used for MyoD, myogenin, and neurofilament was biotinylated goat anti-mouse IgG (Sigma: whole molecule). Biotinylated rabbit anti-goat IgG (Sigma) used for Pax3/7 was diluted 1:200 in PBS/0.4% Triton X-100 containing 1% rabbit serum (Sigma).

Immunohistochemistry: Tissues for all immunolabeling except Pax3/7 were immersed in PBS containing 0.4% Triton X-100 and 0.3% hydrogen peroxide for 20-45 minutes, followed by incubation in 1:20 goat serum (Sigma) in PBS for 1 hour. For anti-Pax3/7 immunolabeling the tissues were immersed in PBS containing 0.4% Triton X-100 and 0.3% hydrogen peroxide for 20-45 minutes, followed by 1:20 rabbit serum in PBS with 0.4% Triton X-100 for one hour. After 3 x 10 minute PBS washes, all tissues were incubated in diluted primary antibody over night at 4°C. After 3 x 30 minute PBS washes, tissues were incubated in the appropriate secondary antibody for 1-2 hours at room temperature, washed in PBS, then incubated in an avidin biotinylated-peroxidase solution (Vectastain ABC kit, PK-4000, Vector Lab.) for a further 1-2 hours. After PBS washes, antigen labeling was revealed by a DAB (3,3diaminobenzidine tetrahydrochloride) product intensified with nickel ions [0.1M Tris buffered solution (pH 8) containing 0.04% DAB with 0.04% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and 0.6% nickel ammonium sulphate] for 5-15 minutes at room temperature. This produced an intense purple-black precipitate. After thorough washing, tissues were mounted and examined as above. Controls were provided by primary antibody omission or by use of an inappropriate secondary antibody.

Double fluorescent labeling: Paraffin sections were dewaxed in xylene for 4 min x 3, rehydrated in a series of ethanol solutions and washed in distilled water. Sections were then microwaved in 0.01 M sodium citrate buffer (pH 6) at 600W for 5 min and pre-treated with 1% hydrogen peroxide in 100% methanol for 30 min. Sections were treated with 0.1% bovine serum albumin in 0.4% Triton X-100/PBS for 30 min prior to incubation with mouse anti-MyoD monoclonal antibody (1:50, DAKO #M3512) and goat anti-Pax3/7 polyclonal antibody (1:50, Santa Cruz #sc-7748) overnight at room temperature. After incubation with primary antibodies and washing in PBS, the sections were incubated for 1.5 hour at room temperature with biotinylated rabbit anti-goat IgG (Chemicon) at a dilution of 1: 200. After washing in PBS, the sections were stained for 2 hours with a mixing solution that contained streptavidin Alexa Fluor488 (1:200, Molecular Probes #s-11223) and Alexa Fluor546 goat anti-mouse IgG (1:200, Molecular Probes #a-11030) to detect immunoreactivity of MyoD and Pax3/7, respectively. The stained sections were washed and cover slipped with Cytoseal.

Confocal laser scanning microscopy: Immunostained sections were scanned with a Zeiss Axioplan microscope (20X or 40X/1.3oil) using a LSM 510 NLO laser configured to a PC computer running LSM 510 software. For FITC fluorescence, excitation (Argon 25 mV) was at 488 nm and emissions were collected with a 505 nm long-pass emission filter. For rhodamine fluorescence, excitation (HeNe 1mV) was at 543 nm and emissions were collected using a 560 nm long-pass filter. Images were colour adjusted by using Adobe Photoshop 5.0 software.

## 3.2.3 Nitrofen model of CDH

Nitrofen (100 mg), obtained from either the US Environmental Protection Agency or China National Chemical Jiangsu Company (Nanjing, China), was dissolved in olive oil (1 ml) and delivered via gavage feeding to pregnant dams temporarily (~10 min) anaesthetized with halothane (1.25%) on the evening of E8.

#### 3.2.4 Amuscular diaphragm model

C-met breeders were generously provided by Drs. Mark Tessier-Lavigne (UCSF) and C. Birchmeier (Berlin). For genotyping, embryos were removed from the yolk sac and embryonic membranes and tails removed and frozen for later DNA extraction. The torsos of the embryos were placed in 4% paraformaldehyde and stored at 4°C for anatomical and microscopic examination. Genomic DNA was prepared using a modified protocol using Proteinase K digestion, salt extraction and ethanol precipitation. Oligonucleotide primers (sequences and initial PCR protocol provided by Dr. Mark Tessier-Lavigne) WMet **8**S (5'CTTTTTCAATAGGGCATTTTGGCTGTG3') and WMet 10 (5'GTACACTGG-CTTGTACAATGTACAGTTG 3') were used to amplify a 650bp fragment specific to the c-met wild-type allele. A 300bp fragment of the mutant c-met allele was generated using primers Neo1L (5'CCTGCGTGCAATCCATCTTGTTCAATG3') and WMet 5 (5'CACTGACCCAGAAGAGTGG3'). For the wild-type and mutant bands, the DNA underwent 43 cycles of amplification consisting of denaturing (94 °C, 40 seconds), annealing (65 °C, 30 seconds) and extension (72 °C, 15 seconds + 1 second/cycle).  $10\mu$  of the sample was run on a 1.2% agarose gel to analyze the results of the PCR reactions.
### 3.3 <u>RESULTS</u>

### 3.3.1 Muscle precursors and phrenic axons congregate within the PPF.

Figure 3.1A illustrates the anatomical location and shape of the PPF at E13.5. This is the stage at which the PPF has fully formed and is immediately prior to the start of myotube formation. The PPF is a wedge-shaped tissue that tapers medially from the lateral cervical wall to the esophageal mesentery and fuses ventrally with the septum transversum. Figure 3.1B demonstrates that the left and right PPF are the sites at which proliferating muscle precursors congregate, as demonstrated by immunolabeling for MyoD. Figure 3.1C shows a left PPF that has been immunolabeled for Pax3/7, which demarcates both neurons and muscle precursors (Mansouri & Gruss, 1988; Bober et al., 1994; Ziman et al., 2001). The point of nerve contact is consistently toward the medial aspect of the PPFs (also evident in Figure 3.1B).

Further illustrations of the spatial distribution of Pax3-expressing and MyoDexpressing muscle precursors are shown in Figure 3.2. At E13.5, both populations exist throughout the PPF with some cells expressing both transcription factors, presumably during the transition between proliferating to differentiating stages.

The PPF is shown at an earlier stage (E12.5) in Figure 3.3. Immunolabeling for Pax3/7 provides a visualization of muscle precursors in the region leading into the PPF. Pax3-labeled muscle precursors are also observed ventral to the PPF in the region of the brachial plexus. Note that no evidence was seen for muscle precursors populating the PPF from the septum transversum or esophageal mesentery as previously proposed.



Figure 3.1 The pleuroperitoneal fold (PPF) is the target tissue for phrenic axons and muscle precursors.

A) Transverse section from an embryonic rat (E13.5) cut at the level of the midcervical spinal cord and stained with H&E. The area within the box contains the developing lung tissue and the bilateral pleuroperitoneal folds (\*). B) Photomicrograph from an E13.5 rat embryo immunolabeled with an antibody to MyoD to delineate muscle precursors concentrated within the PPFs. Note that the area in the left PPF devoid of muscle precursors (arrow) is the site at which the phrenic nerve contacts. C) Left PPF immunolabeled for Pax3/7 that labels the nerve (arrow) and muscle precursors that have reached the PPF. Abbreviations: SC - spinal cord; Lu - lung; H – heart. Scale bars: = 100  $\mu$ m



## Figure 3.2 Pax3/7 and MyoD immunolabeling demonstrating muscle precursors within the PPF at E13.25.

Confocal images show that Pax3 (green) and MyoD (red) labeled cells are present in the developing lateral wall musculature and bilateral PPFs. A significant number of muscle precursors express both Pax3 and MyoD (yellow) at this age. The arrows point to examples of cells that are expressing both proteins. Scale bars: = 100  $\mu$ m; bottom panel = 25  $\mu$ m



## Figure 3.3 Pax3/7 immunolabeling to demonstrate muscle precursors at E12.5 (arrows).

A) Transverse section (7  $\mu$ m) cut at the mid-cervical level of an E12.5 embryo. Pax3 labeled cells in the region leading into the right PPF (\*). B) Pax3 labeled muscle precursors adjacent to, and within, a left PPF (\*) at E12.5. Scale bars: A,B = 100  $\mu$ m

### 3.3.2 Spatiotemporal pattern of muscle precursor migration/proliferation and intramuscular nerve branching

From E14.5 through to E17, muscle precursors extend from the PPF into the dorsolateral costal, sternal costal and crural regions of the developing diaphragm. Figure 3.4A illustrates the spatial relationship between intramuscular phrenic nerve branches expressing neurofilament and muscle precursors expressing MyoD at E16. A higher magnified view in Figure 3.4B from another diaphragm illustrates that the muscle precursors are positioned ~150-200 µm ahead of the growing axons. In all diaphragms studied, the same relationship between the migrations of muscle precursors and axons were observed. Figure 3.4C shows the spatial relationship between muscle precursors and newly formed primary myotubes. In a subset of embryos, the thoracic musculature was left attached and immunolabeled the tissue for MF20 and MyoD (Figures 3.4C, D). This provided a clear view of muscle fibre and muscle precursors contributing to developing myogenesis was seen, as previously proposed. Immunolabeling did not show any of the muscle precursors in the body wall flowing into the PPF.

Figure 3.5 shows the relationship between MyoD-expressing muscle precursors and phrenic intramuscular branches at E17. This is the stage at which the diaphragm is recruited for the generation of fetal breathing movements (Greer et al., 1992; Kobayashi et al., 2001). The phrenic intramuscular branches in each hemidiaphragm have progressed ventrally to a point where the tips have crossed sternally. This is not observed at later developmental ages, indicating that a retraction of nerve branches or differential growth of muscle to separate nerve endings occurs. Muscle precursors can be seen at high density around the axon endings (Figure 3.5B). The muscle precursors, visualized by staining for MyoD, populate the entire region of future muscle fibre formation (Figure 3.5C).

Myogenin was also labeled. This is a transcription factor that is upregulated when muscle precursors have differentiated (Muscat et al., 1995). Figs 3.6A and B illustrate that myogenin-expressing cells are distributed adjacent to growing intramuscular nerve branches at E16. The extent to which myogenin-expressing cells are distributed around the axons is not as wide as observed for MyoD labeling (compare Figs. 3.6B and 3.4B). Myogenin-expressing cells are presumed to be those that have differentiated first and will fuse to form primary myotubes, with the as yet to be MyoD-expressing cells that were yet to be differentiated, positioned laterally. By E17, myogenin-expressing muscle precursors occupy the full extent of the muscularized diaphragm (Figure 3.6C). At E17, the myogenin labeling is particularly strong at the midpoint of the developing muscle where secondary myogenesis commences (Allan & Greer, 1998).



# Figure 3.4 Spatial relationship between phrenic intramuscular axonal outgrowth, location of muscle precursors and primary myotube formation.

Whole-diaphragm isolated from an E16.5 embryo immunolabeled for MyoD and neurofilament to show the positioning of muscle precursors and phrenic axon terminals, respectively. Muscle precursors and phrenic axons radiate (arrows) from the location of the PPF (\*). B) Higher magnified view showing muscle precursors localized in advance of, and around, extending phrenic axons. C) Left side of an E16 diaphragm showing the relative position of muscle precursors (MyoD-expressing individual cells) and myotubes (MF20-expressing striations). Note that the lateral body wall has been left attached with intercostal musculature (arrow). D) Right side of an E16 diaphragm with a portion of the body wall musculature attached labeled for MyoD. There is a well-defined separation between the muscle precursors in the developing diaphragm and body wall (intercostal muscles) without any clear evidence for muscle precursors streaming from the developing body wall muscle mass and contributing to the formation of the diaphragm musculature. Scale bars: A = 500  $\mu$ m; B,C,D = 100  $\mu$ m



## Figure 3.5 Muscle precursors cover the full extent of the muscularized diaphragm by E17.

A) Whole-diaphragm isolated from an E17 embryo immunolabeled for MyoD and neurofilament illustrating the respective position of muscle precursors and phrenic axon terminals. B) Close up of the most ventral aspect of the diaphragm showing the concentration of muscle precursors around the phrenic axon endings that have recently migrated to the regions. Note, that the right and left phrenic intramuscular branches are crossed over each other. This is not observed at later stages, suggesting that there may be some withdrawal of axonal endings. C) Left diaphragm immunolabeled for MyoD showing the full extent of muscle precursor distribution. Scale bars: A,C = 500  $\mu$ m; B = 1100  $\mu$ m. CT = central tendon



## Figure 3.6 Distribution of differentiated muscle precursors expressing myogenin.

A) Whole-diaphragm isolated from an E16.5 embryo immunolabeled for myogenin and neurofilament demonstrating the position of muscle precursors and phrenic axon terminals, respectively. B) Close up of the right side of another E16.5 diaphragm showing the concentration of myogenin-labeled cells around the phrenic axon endings. C) Whole-diaphragm isolated from an E17.5 embryo immunolabeled for myogenin showing the concentration of myogenin-labeled cells in the region where secondary myogenesis commences. D) Photomicrograph via a higher objective lens of an E17.5 diaphragm showing the dense myogenin labeling indicating the onset of secondary myogenesis. Scale bars: A,C = 500  $\mu$ m; B,D = 100  $\mu$ m. CT = central tendon

### 3.3.3 PPF and diaphragm formation in CDH

In addition to the labeling of the PPF and developing diaphragms in control animals, corresponding experiments were performed on tissue isolated from the nitrofen model of CDH. In nitrofen-induced CDH, as reported previously (Allan & Greer, 1997b), there is a defect in the pleuroperitoneal fold (Figure 3.7A) with the liver protruding into the defective area (arrow; Figure 3.7B). MyoD labeling demonstrated that muscle precursors congregate within the remaining portion of PPF surrounding the defect. Immunolabeling for MyoD and neurofilament (Figure 3.7C) and myogenin (Figure 3.7D) of herniated diaphragms illustrates that the spatial distributions of intramuscular nerve branches and proliferating/differentiating muscle precursors is normal outside of the defective region. The area of the diaphragm that would normally arise from the defective dorsolateral PPF simply does not form.



## Figure 3.7 Montage of diaphragmatic tissue at various stages of development from an animal model of congenital diaphragmatic hernia (CDH).

Transverse section of an E13.5 rat exposed to nitrofen immunolabeled for Pax3/7. The dorsolateral region of the left PPF is missing and the underlying liver is protruding through (arrow). Muscle precursors occupy the remaining portion of the PPF. B) Higher magnified view of the left PPF shown in A. C) Diaphragm isolated from an E17.5 rat with a herniated diaphragm immunolabeled for MyoD and neurofilament. D) Herniated diaphragm isolated from an E17.5 rat and immunolabeled for myogenin. The distribution of muscle precursors and intramuscular nerve branches are normal outside of the defective region. Scale bars:  $A,B = 100 \mu m$ ;  $C,D = 500 \mu m$ 

## **NOTE TO USERS**

Page(s) missing in number only; text follows. Page(s) were scanned as received.

66

This reproduction is the best copy available.



Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



Figure 3.8 The amuscular component of the diaphragm forms independently from the myogenic component.

A) Amuscular diaphragm isolated from a *c-met* null mutant mouse. Note that the connective tissue forms a continuous sheet that separates the thoracic and abdominal cavities. Openings for the vena cava, esophagus and aorta all form properly. B) Close-up of the region demarcated by the box in panel A illustrating the fibrous connective tissue sheet devoid of myotubes. Scale bars:  $A = 500 \mu m$ ;  $B = 100 \mu m$ 

### 3.4 <u>DISCUSSION</u>

Textbooks of embryology (Carlson, 1994; Larsen, 1997; Sadler, 2000) provide a standard set of drawings and text reflecting the traditional interpretation of phrenic nerve and diaphragm development based on anatomical dissections of embryonic tissue by Wells (1954). The advent of immunohistochemical markers for developmentally regulated molecules expressed by muscle precursors, growing axons and myotubes in conjunction with genetically engineered mutant mice has allowed for a more systematic examination of diaphragm embryogenesis. As discussed below, while some fundamental issues pertaining to diaphragm development remain unresolved, there are sufficient data to support a significant revision of narratives describing normal and pathological development of the diaphragm.

### 3.4.1 Sources of the diaphragmatic musculature

Muscle precursors migrate to the brachial plexus region from cervical somites (Sze et al., 1995). It has not yet been demonstrated, but a subpopulation destined to form the diaphragm musculature may then migrate to the PPF. By approximately E12.5, muscle precursors have begun to reach the PPF where they begin to proliferate and differentiate. Post E13.5, there is a radiation of muscle precursors from the PPF toward the dorsolateral costal, sternal costal and crural regions of the developing diaphragm. The muscle precursors initially migrate to the central regions of these axes before spreading in mediolateral and dorsoventral directions in the costal and crural regions, respectively. By E17, muscle precursors have spread to all regions of the diaphragm that will be muscularized, leaving the area of the central tendon and a short tendinous zone separating the costal and crural regions amuscular. No evidence was

found for contributions to the diaphragm musculature from the lateral body wall, septum transversum, or esophageal mesenchyme, as standard dogma would state.

Muscle precursors congregate and proliferate within the PPF prior to extending along the three major axes of muscle growth within the developing diaphragm. The identity of the guidance cues directing diaphragmatic muscle precursor migration and proliferation are unknown. Presumably, the cues are present on, and/or are released from, the underlying mesenchyme on which the diaphragm forms. HGF/SF is one potential candidate responsible for the guidance of muscle precursors to the PPF as null mutant mice the HGF/SF receptor (c-met; Bladt et al., 1995), fail to form muscularized PPFs and thus diaphragm musculature.

It has been postulated that the crural diaphragm is an axial muscle with separate embryological origins to the costal diaphragm (Langman, 1977; DeTroyer et al., 1981). This notion is based primarily on the fact that the crural region can be independently recruited during certain motor tasks (e.g. swallowing). The impression from the data is that muscle precursors located in the caudomedial aspect of the PPF contribute to the crural diaphragm musculature and there is no separation of embryological origins. Rather, as with many complex muscles, there is a functional compartmentalization of motor unit recruitment during specific motor tasks (reviewed in English et al., 1993). The data from the *c-met* null-mutants are particularly relevant to the question of the crural muscle being of a separate origin derived from axial precursors. In the null-mutants, muscles of axial origin form normally while those depending on muscle precursor migration do not (Bladt et al., 1995; Yang et al., 1996). There are no portions of the diaphragm that become muscularized in the null-

mutants and thus the hypothesis that the crural region is of axial origins in not supported.

# 3.4.2 Relationship between the spatiotemporal distribution of muscle precursors, phrenic axons and primary myotubes

Phrenic axons separate from brachial axons at the brachial plexus and migrate toward the PPF (Allan & Greer, 1997a, 1998). Diaphragmatic muscle precursors reach the PPF in advance of the growth cones of pioneer phrenic axons. Once phrenic axons reach the PPF, they consistently make contact with a specific locale within the medial region of the primordial diaphragmatic tissue. The molecular cues responsible for this stereotypical target recognition are currently unknown. Approximately 24 hours after contacting the PPF, the primary intramuscular branches of the phrenic nerve extend in the same three axes as the muscle precursors. The growth cones of the phrenic axons lag behind the advancing wave of muscle precursors and developing primary myotubes by  $\sim 200 \ \mu m$ . The muscle precursors may be providing guidance cues to the phrenic axons. Data from Harris (1981) and Lin et al. (2001) demonstrate that there are concentrated clusters of acetylcholine receptors located in the central region of developing myotubes in the absence of neural innervation. Thus, the postsynaptic specialization may be providing a target for the advancing intramuscular axons. Alternatively, there are molecular cues derived from the underlying mesenchymal substratum of the developing diaphragm that regulate both the migration and proliferation of muscle precursors and axonal outgrowth.

Past work has demonstrated that there is an elongation of primary myotubes bilaterally from the centre, where the nerve contacts, toward the periphery (Allan &

Greer, 1997a, 1998). Data from this study demonstrate that this can be accounted for by the spatiotemporal distribution of muscle precursors that proliferate and migrate along the three axes. In each of the axes, muscle precursors proliferate on either side of the centre and express MyoD. The precursors located most centrally differentiate first as shown by from myogenin expression. The differentiated muscle precursors fuse to form developing myotubes. By E17, when primary myotubes have formed throughout the full extent of the diaphragm, muscle precursors continue to proliferate/differentiate and are positioned adjacent to primary myotubes where they will contribute to the formation of secondary myotubes.

### 3.4.3 Amuscular component of the diaphragm

Muscle precursors migrate to and proliferate/differentiate upon a mesenchymal substratum. This aspect of myogenesis in general is not understood. There is some evidence to suggest that the mesenchymal substratum is derived from the somatopleure (Tosney, 1988). It was somewhat unexpected to find that the mesenchymal substratum of the diaphragm formed a continuous sheet that completely separates the thoracic and abdominal cavity. Previous accounts of diaphragm embryology imply that the connective tissue portion forms the central tendon and fuses with the muscularized component to complete the diaphragm surface area. However, it appears that the musculature forms along and on top of the lateral edges of the substratum leaving the central portion amuscular (central tendon). The embryological origins of the nonmuscular component and how the septum transversum is incorporated are not understood and require further investigation.

Interestingly, a non-muscularized membrane separating the abdominal and thoracic cavities, referred to as the post pulmonary septum, are present in birds, crocodiles, turtles and some lizards (Kent, 1978). The purely speculative teleological argument that the nonmuscular component of the diaphragm and the septum of avians/reptiles share a common origin, but the mammalian diaphragm has adapted by the addition of a neuromuscular component, is proposed. Consider the following; muscle precursors destined for the mammalian diaphragm may migrate from cervical somites with muscle precursors destined for the forelimb. The two populations then diverge at the brachial plexus, presumably in response to distinct molecular cues. Similarly, phrenic and brachial axons take divergent paths at the brachial plexus. One could envision a muscularized and innervated diaphragm evolving from the divergence of muscle precursors and axons from the brachial population toward the mesenchyme of the PPF.

# 3.4.4 Distribution of diaphragm muscle precursors in an animal model of CDH.

The nitrofen model has been utilized since the 1970's for studies of CDH (reviewed in Wilcox et al., 1996). The diaphragmatic defects in rodents exposed to nitrofen are similar to those observed in infants born with CDH. The pathogenesis of nitrofen-induced CDH can be traced back to the malformation of the PPF (Allan & Greer, 1997b; Greer et al., 2000a), rather than a failure of pleuroperitoneal canal closure, as often cited. The underlying mechanism by which nitrofen is acting is not completely understood, but there is evidence that it is interfering with the production of retinoic acid (Greer, et al., 2001, 2002), a key transcriptional regulator of

embryonic development (reviewed in Ross et al., 2000). Data from this study track the distribution of muscle precursors in the PPF and developing diaphragm of normal and nitrofen-exposed embryos. Muscle precursors appear to congregate, proliferate and differentiate normally in animals with diaphragmatic defects. The striking difference between control and CDH tissue is the lack of regions of an underlying mesenchymal substratum in the PPF that subsequently contributes to the defective herniated region. Thus, these data are consistent with the hypothesis that the underlying amuscular component specific to the diaphragmatic anlagen is defective in CDH rather than a malregulation of myogenesis *per se*. If correct, then this explains why the diaphragm muscle is affected whereas other skeletal muscle is normal.

### 3.5 <u>REFERENCES</u>

Angulo y González, A.W. (1932) The prenatal growth of the albino rat. Anat. Embryol. 52:117-138.

Allan, D.W. and Greer, J.J. (1997) Pathogenesis of nitrofen-induced congenital diaphragmatic hernia in fetal rats. J. Appl. Physiol. 83:338-347.

Allan, D.W. and Greer, J.J. (1997) Embryogenesis of the phrenic nerve and diaphragm in the fetal rat. J. Comp. Neurol. 382:459-468.

Allan, D.W. and Greer, J.J. (1998) Polysialylated NCAM expression during motor axon outgrowth and myogenesis in the fetal rat. J. Comp. Neurol. 391:275-292.

Bennett, M.R. and Pettigrew, A.G. (1974) The formation of synapses in striated muscle during development. J. Physiol. 241:515-545.

Bladt, F., Riethmacher, D., Isenmann, S., Aguzzi, A. and Birchmeier, C. (1995) Essential role for the c-met receptor in the migration of myogenic precursor cells into the limb bud. Nature 376:768-771.

Bober, E., Franz, T., Arnold, H.H., Gruss, P. and Tremblay, P. (1994) Pax-3 is required for the development of limb muscles: a possible role for the migration of dermomyotomal muscle progenitor cells. Development 120:603-612.

Carlson, B.M. (1994) Human Embryology and Developmental Biology. Bruce M. Carlson. St. Louis, MO: Mosby-Year Book, Inc., Chapter 16, pp. 332-334.

Chen, A., MacGowan, A., Ward, S., Båvik, C. and Greer, J.J. (2002) Activation of the retinoid response element is inhibited in an animal model of congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Biol. Neonate. In press.

DeTroyer, A., Sampson, M., Sigrist, S. and Macklem, P.T. (1981) The diaphragm: two muscles. Science 213:237-238.

English, A.W., Wolf, S.L. and Segal, R.L. (1993) Compartmentalization of muscles and their motor nuclei: the partitioning hypothesis. Phys. Ther. 73:857-867.

Greer J.J., Smith, J.C. and Feldman, J.L. (1992) Respiratory and locomotor patterns generated in the fetal rat brain stem-spinal cord in vitro. J. Neurophysiol. 67:996-999.

Greer, J.J., Allan, D.W., Babiuk, R.P.and Lemke, R.P. (2000) Recent advances in understanding the pathogenesis of nitrofen-induced congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Pediatr. Pulmonol. 29:394-399.

Greer, J.J., Cote, D., Allan, D.W., Zhang, W., Babiuk, R.P., Ly, L., Lemke, R.P. and Bagnall, K. (2000) Structure of the primordial diaphragm and defects associated with nitrofen-induced CDH. J. Appl. Physiol. 89:2123-2129.

Greer, J.J., Mey, J., Babiuk, R.P. and Clugston, R. (2002) Retinal dehydrogenase is inhibited by compounds that induce congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Pediatric Academic Societies' Meeting.

Harris, A.J. (1981) Embryonic growth and innervation of rat skeletal muscles. III. Neural regulation of junctional and extra-junctional acetylcholine receptor clusters. Philos. Trans. R Soc. Lond. B. Biol. Sci. 293:287-314.

Kent, G.C. (1978) Comparative anatomy of the vertebrates, 4th edition. St. Louis: Mosby.

Koybayashi, K., Lemke, R.P. and Greer, J.J. (2001) Ultrasound measurements of fetal breathing movements in the rat. J. Appl. Physiol. 92:316-320.

Langman, J. (1977) Medical embryology, 3rd edition. Baltimore: Williams & Wilkins

Larsen, W. (1997) Human embryology. 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition. Ed. William J. Larsen, New York: Churchill Livingstone.

Lin, W., Burgess, R.W., Dominguez, B., Pfaff, S.L., Sanes, J.R. and Lee, K.F. (2001) Distinct roles of nerve and muscle in postsynaptic differentiation of the neuromuscular synapse. Nature 410:1057-1064.

Mansouri, A. and Gruss, P. (1998) Pax3 and Pax7 are expressed in commissural neurons and restrict ventral neuronal identity in the spinal cord. Mech. Dev. 78:171-178.

Muscat, G.E., Downes, M. and Dowhan, D.H. (1995) Regulation of vertebrate muscle differentiation by thyroid hormone: the role of the myoD gene family. Bioessays 17:211-218.

Ross, S.A., McCaffery, P.J., Dräger, U.C. and De Luca, L.M. (2000) Retinoids in embryonal development. Physiol. Rev. 80:1021-1054..

Sadler, T.W. (2000) Langman's medical embryology, 8<sup>th</sup> edition. Ed. T.W. Sadler. Baltimore: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, pp.201-203.

Sze, L.Y., Lee, K.K., Webb, S.E., Li, Z. and Paulin, D. (1995) Migration of myogenic cells from the somites to the fore-limb buds of developing mouse embryos. Dev. Dyn. 203:324-336.

Tosney, K.W. (1988) Proximal tissues and patterned neurite outgrowth at the lumbosacral level of the chick embryo: partial and complete deletion of the somite. Dev. Biol. 127:266-286.

Wells, L.J. (1954) Development of the human diaphragm and pleural sacs. Cont. Embryol. 35:107-134.

Wilcox, D.T., Irish, M.S., Holm, B.A. and Glick, P.L. (1996) Animal models in congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Clin. Perinatol. 23:813-822.

Yang, X.M., Vogan, K., Gros, P. and Park, M. (1996) Expression of the met receptor tyrosine kinase in muscle progenitor cells in somites and limbs is absent in Splotch mice. Development 122:2163-2171.

Ziman, M.R., Thomas, M., Jacobsen, P. and Beazley, L. (2001) A key role for Pax7 transcripts in determination of muscle and nerve cells. Exp. Cell. Res. 268:220-229.

# CHAPTER 4.DIAPHRAGM DEFECTS OCCUR IN ACONGENITAL DIAPHRAGMATIC HERNIA MODELINDEPENDENTLY OF MYOGENESIS AND LUNG FORMATION

Adapted from the Original Publication:

Randal P. Babiuk and John J. Greer

Am. J. Physiol.-Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol. 283: L1310-L1314

R.P.B. developed the hypotheses and experimental design, treated all mice, isolated the diaphragm tissue, and genotyped the *c-met* mouse tissue.

### 4.1 <u>INTRODUCTION</u>

Congenital diaphragmatic hernia (CDH) is a serious developmental anomaly characterized by large regions of the diaphragm failing to form. Consequently the developing viscera invade the thoracic cavity and impair lung growth and development. As a result, newborns with CDH suffer from a combination of pulmonary hypoplasia, pulmonary hypertension, and surfactant deficiency (Harrison et al., 1994; Karamanoukian et al., 1995). CDH is associated with a 30-60% mortality rate and significant morbidity amongst survivors (Harrison et al., 1994; Nobuhura et al., 1996). Moreover, it is estimated that 1:2000 conceptions fail to reach term due to complications associated with CDH (Thorburn and Harding, 1994). Textbook explanations of the origins of CDH typically state that it is a defect in the fusion of the diaphragm muscle with the abdominal wall (i.e. the closure of the pleuroperitoneal canals) that results in the hernia. The pathogenesis of CDH is re-examined using a well-established animal model in which diaphragm defects characteristic of those found in infants with CDH are induced by administering specific teratogens midway through gestation (Costlow and Manson, 1983; Francis et al., 1999; Solomon et al., 2000; Sutherland et al., 1989; Tasaka et al., 1992; Wilcox et al., 1996). Data from those studies refute the hypothesis of a primary defect in the closure of the pleuroperitoneal canal (Allan and Greer, 1997). Rather, defects can be traced back to much earlier stages of development during the formation of the primordial diaphragm, the pleuroperitoneal fold (PPF). The PPF is a wedge-shaped tissue that tapers medially from the lateral cervical wall to the esophageal mesentery and fuses ventrally with the septum transversum. Myogenic cells and axons destined to form the neuromuscular component of the diaphragm migrate to the PPF and it is the expansion of these components that lead to the formation of the diaphragm (Babiuk et al., 2002). Three-dimensional reconstructions of the PPF have demonstrated that the malformed areas in the animal model of CDH are consistently located in the dorsolateral region (Greer et al., 2000a, Greer et al., 2000b). Correspondingly, the dorsolateral region of the diaphragm musculature is precisely the area affected in CDH. Thus, the embryogenesis of the PPF has become a focus for elucidating the pathogenesis of CDH.

Examinations of the muscle precursor migration to the PPF and subsequent proliferation and differentiation in the animal model of CDH did not reveal any obvious abnormalities (Babiuk et al., 2002). However, the underlying substratum of the PPF appeared abnormal. This has led to the current hypothesis stating that the amuscular mesenchymal component of the PPF, likely derived from the somatopleure (Tosney, 1988), is defective and does not provide a full foundation for the formation of diaphragmatic musculature. In this study, this hypothesis was tested using mice in which muscle precursors fail to migrate to peripheral muscle, including the diaphragm, due to homozygous mutation (-/-) of the c-met gene. The c-met protein, a receptor tyrosine kinase that is present on myogenic precursors, binds its ligand hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor (HGF/SF), signalling migration of these cells (Bladt et al., 1995). While the diaphragmatic musculature fails to form in the nullmutants, the underlying connective tissue that comprises the amuscular substratum forms fully, thus, offering the opportunity to clearly visualize the formation of the amuscular component of the diaphragm in normal and teratogen-exposed animals. A further hypothesis was tested that states that the lung hypoplasia associated with CDH is the primary defect that in turn causes the secondary defect in the developing diaphragm due to the loss of critical signals emanating from lung tissue (Cilley et al., 1997; Iritani, 1984). Central to that hypothesis is the notion that primordial diaphragm embryogenesis is regulated or influenced directly by the development of the adjacent lung tissue. Fgf10<sup>-/-</sup> null-mutant mice that do not develop lung tissue (Sekine et al., 1999) were used to address this issue. Specifically, whether or not lung tissue was necessary for 1) normal diaphragm formation and 2) the induction of diaphragmatic defects in an animal model of CDH was tested.

### 4.2 <u>MATERIALS AND METHODS</u>

#### 4.2.1 Mutant Mice

Drs. M. Tessier-Lavigne (UCSF) and C. Birchmeier (Berlin) provided heterozygous breeding pairs of c-met mice. For genotyping, genomic DNA was isolated from ear-notch biopsies or fetal tail tissue according to standard protocols. Oligonucleotide primers WMet8s (5'CTTTTTCAATAGGGCATTTTGGCTGTG3') and WMet10 (5'GTACACTGGCTTGTACAATGTACAGTTG 3') were used to amplify a 650bp fragment specific to the c-met wild-type allele. A 300bp fragment of the mutant c-met allele was generated using primers Neo1L (5'CCTGCGTGCAATCCATCTTGTTCAATG3') and WMet5 (5'CACTGACCCAGAAGAGTGG3'). For the wild type and mutant bands, the DNA underwent 43 cycles of amplification consisting of denaturing (94 °C, 40 seconds), annealing (65  $^{\circ}$ C, 30 seconds) and extension (72  $^{\circ}$ C, 15 seconds + 1 second/cycle). 10

 $\mu l$  of the sample was run on a 1.2% agarose gel to analyze the results of the PCR reactions.

Dr. D. Ornitz (Washington University in St. Louis) provided breeding pairs of Fgf10<sup>+/-</sup>mice. Genotyping was performed by PCR using published primer sequences (26). A 383-bp fragment was generated from the wild-type Fgf10 locus by PCR using primers P1 (5'-CTTCCAGTATGTTCCTTCTGATGAGAC-3') and P2 (5'-GTACGGACAGTCTTCTTCTTGGTCCC-3'). The mutant Fgf10 locus was amplified using primers P3 (5'-ACGACGGGCGTTCCTTGCGCAGCTGTG-3') and P4 (5'-TCAGAAGAACCGTCAAGAAGGCGATA-3') to produce a 582-bp fragment. DNA was extracted following established methods from ear-notch biopsies and fetal tail samples and amplified for 30 cycles (15 seconds at 94 °C, 60 seconds at 60 °C and 90 seconds at 75 °C).

### 4.2.2 Drug Delivery

Timed-pregnant animals were treated on E8 (embryonic day 8 of gestation) via gavage feed with CDH-inducing compounds dissolved in 600 µl of olive oil. Pregnant mice were briefly anaesthetized with Halothane. In the initial experiments, 25 mg/kg of nitrofen (2,4-dichloro-phenyl-p-nitrophenyl ether; China National Chemical Construction Jiangsu Company, Nanjing, China) was administered to dams on E8 based on past literature reporting a 25-30% occurrence of CHD in CD-1 mouse embryos (Cilley et al., 1997; Wickman et al., 1993). However, a very low incidence of hernias in embryos from c-met dams bred on a 12901A/C57BL6 background treated with 25mg/kg nitrofen (Table 4.1) was observed. The yield was too low to

assay efficiently for hernias in the 25% of embryos homozygous for the c-met deletion. Thus, the protocol was modified, based on the fact that three other teratogens have been identified that induce defects similar to nitrofen (Greer et al., 2002). While a systematic study was not performed to study which of these compounds, or combination of, were most effective at inducing hernias, administration regimes that sufficed for testing the hypotheses in question were determined. The administration of a mixture of 14.5 mg of nitrofen and 14.5 mg of bisdiamine (Acros Organics, NJ) to induce hernias in c-met<sup>+/-</sup>animals was used. A mixture of 14.5 mg nitrofen, 14.5 mg bisdiamine and 4.5 mg of SB-210661 (provided by Dr. H.M. Solomon, Glaxo SmithKline, King of Prussia, PA) was effective for inducing hernias in Fgf10<sup>+/-</sup> mice bred on a C57BL6/6X CBA background. Treated animals were returned to the original cage and housed in the laboratory.

### 4.2.3 Caesarean Section and Tissue Isolation

On E14, mice were anaesthetized with Halothane and maintained at 37°C with radiant heat. The fetuses were delivered by caesarean section. Upon delivery of each fetus, a sample of tail tissue was collected and frozen for genotyping. Each fetus was photographed using a Nikon 990 digital camera mounted on a Leica research microscope. Fetuses were then decapitated and the thoracic and abdominal cavities opened to determine the presence of diaphragmatic hernia.

### 4.3 <u>RESULTS</u>

Untreated *c-met<sup>-/-</sup>* mutant embryos appeared normal except for underdeveloped limb musculature due to impaired muscle precursor migration to

peripheral muscles. (Figure 4.1A). The mutants also had amuscular "diaphragms" that were thin and lacked any visible striations indicative of muscle fibers (Figure 4.1B). Table 4.1 summarizes the incidence of hernias induced by the different treatment regimes used with the c-met mouse model. A combination of nitrofen and bisdiamine administered midway through gestation induced diaphragmatic hernias in ~40% of cmet mice, with the majority being left-sided. Similar to what has been reported in the nitrofen-mouse model (Cilley et al., 1997), treatment with teratogens produced a spectrum of other visible defects, including large facial clefts, exencephaly, polydactyly, and "loose skin" in some embryos. Eighteen fetuses were c-met<sup>-/-</sup> as determined by genotyping. Of these, 4 had clear defects in the amuscular diaphragmatic membrane. Figure 4.1C shows a photomicrograph of a defective diaphragm with the liver herniating into the thoracic cavity. The defective region was always located in the left dorsolateral region (Figure 4.1D). In size, the hernias covered from 40 to 70% of one side of the diaphragm. These defects were identical with respect to location, extent and visceral intrusion to those seen in nitrofen-treated rats and infants with CDH.

In Fgf10<sup>-/-</sup> mice, the trachea forms but the lungs do not develop (Sekine et al., 1999). Further, limb bud formation is initiated but outgrowth and muscularization of the limbs do not occur (Figure 4.2A). However, fully formed, well-muscularized diaphragms developed in all Fgf10<sup>-/-</sup> mice despite lung agenesis (Figure 4.2 B, C). Further, posterolateral diaphragmatic defects characteristic of CDH (Figs. 4.2 D, E) were present in animals treated with a combination of nitrofen, bisdiamine and SB-210661 (Table 4.1).

## Table 4.1Incidence of hernias found in the mouse models with different drug<br/>regimens.

Mutant	Nitrofen # hernias	Nitrofen/ Bisdiamine # hernias	Nitrofen/Bisdiamine/ SB- 210661 # hernias
c-met	2/50embryos(from 8 dams)2 left	<ul><li>75/170 embryos</li><li>(from 20 dams)</li><li>59 left; 10 right; 6 bilateral</li></ul>	N/A
Fgf10	0/14 embryos (from 3 dams)	0/12 embryos (from 3 dams)	6/26 embryos (from 4 dams); 6 left



### Figure 4.1 Diaphragmatic hernias can be induced in amuscular diaphragms of *c-met*<sup>-/-</sup> mice

A) Photo of an E18 *c-met*<sup>-/-</sup> mouse. The null-mutants have characteristic underdeveloped limb musculature due to abnormal muscle precursor migration to peripheral muscles. (B) Amuscular diaphragm with body wall attached from a *c-met*<sup>-/-</sup> mouse. The mesenchymal sheet is attached to the body wall laterally and the esophageal mesentery medially. (C) Photomicrograph of a diaphragm with a leftsided defect. The liver is protruding through the defect (arrow). Note that the remainder of the liver can be seen through transparent amuscular diaphragm. (D) Amuscular diaphragm with body wall attached from a *c-met*<sup>-/-</sup> mouse exposed to bisdiamine/nitrofen. There is a defect (\*) in the left dorsolateral area of the diaphragm characteristic of CDH. (E) Genotyping of fetuses from heterozygous matings of *c*-met mice was performed as described in Materials and Methods. The three possible genotypes can be distinguished. +/+ , wild type; +/-, heterozygous; -/-, homozygous (null)



Figure 4.2 In the absence of lung tissue,  $Fgf10^{-/2}$  mice can develop diaphragmatic hernias.

(A) Wild-type and  $Fgf10^{-/-}$ mice. The  $Fgf10^{-/-}$ mice have characteristic abnormal limb development. (B-C) Rostral and caudal views, respectively, of a diaphragm muscle isolated from an  $Fgf10^{-/-}$  mouse. The diaphragm is well-developed without any noticeable abnormalities. (D) Diaphragm muscle with body wall attached from an  $Fgf10^{-/-}$  mouse exposed to nitrofen, bisdiamine and SB-210661. There is a clear defect (\*) in the left posterolateral area that is characteristic of CDH. (E) Close-up of the defective region. E = esophagus; CT = central tendon

### 4.4 <u>DISCUSSION</u>

The combination of the drug-induced models of CDH and mutant mice allowed us to test two fundamental hypotheses regarding the pathogenesis of this serious developmental anomaly.

### 4.4.1 Consideration of the animal model

The nitrofen-rodent model has been used widely to examine lung and muscle malformations associated with CDH. The use of this model arose from routine toxicological studies demonstrating that, while nitrofen was relatively non-toxic to adult animals, administration in utero resulted in ~50% of the fetuses developing diaphragm malformations that were remarkably similar to those seen in infants with CDH (Ambrose et al., 1971; Costlow and Manson, 1981; Kluth et al., 1990; Kluth et al., 1996). The similarities hold true with regard to the specific location and extent of diaphragmatic defects as well as the periodic occurrence of associated anomalies affecting cardiac, pulmonary and skeletal tissues. More recently, three additional compounds that cause diaphragmatic defects in rats have been characterized (Mey et al., personal communication). Biphenyl carboxylic acid (BPCA), bisdiamine [N,N'octamethylenebis (dichloroacetamide)] and SB-210661, all induce diaphragmatic defects in the fetuses isolated from treated pregnant rats. BPCA is a breakdown product of a thromboxane-A<sub>2</sub> receptor antagonist, bisdiamine is a spermatogenesis inhibitor and SB-210661 is a benzofuranyl urea derivative developed for inhibiting 5lipoxygenase. The timing of administration of all of the CDH-inducing teratogens is critical. Rodents are most susceptible between E8-11, a developmental window

corresponding to gestational weeks 4-6 in humans. It was found that a combination of teratogens to be more effective in inducing hernias in the mouse strains used in this study. The precise mechanism of action of the CDH-inducing teratogens has not been elucidated, but recent data demonstrates that they all interfere with the retinoid signalling pathway by inhibiting retinaldehyde dehydrogenase (Greer et al., 2002).

### 4.4.2 Interpretation of data from experiments using c-met<sup>-/-</sup> mice

The data derived from c-met<sup>-/-</sup> mice demonstrate that diaphragmatic defects can be produced independent of myogenic processes. This supports the hypothesis that the origin of the defect lies in the amuscular mesenchymal component of the primordial diaphragm, the PPF. These data provide a perspective on the mechanisms underlying CDH pathogenesis that is entirely novel from past theories. The focus now shifts from the muscularization of the diaphragm and closure of pleuroperitoneal canals to understanding the mesenchymal amuscular component of the diaphragm and how it is malformed in CDH. Further, the PPF mesenchymal substratum forms during the first 4 weeks of gestation and thus a reconsideration of the developmental stage at which the anomaly occurs is warranted.

### 4.4.3 Interpretation of data from experiments using $Fgf10^{-1}$ mice

Two primary conclusions arise from data derived from  $Fgf10^{-/-}$  mice. First, the diaphragm can form normally in the absence of lung tissue and any putative associated growth related signals. Second, defects in the diaphragm in an animal model of CDH occur in the absence of lung tissue. The diaphragmatic defects

associated with CDH are a primary defect and not a secondary result of lung malformation. The concept that the lung hypoplasia is in fact secondary to the diaphragmatic defect is supported by data from the surgically-induced sheep model of CDH that clearly demonstrate that a hole in the posterolateral diaphragm results in marked lung underdevelopment due to the invasion of abdominal contents and abnormal fetal breathing movements (Hill et al. 1994; Irish et al., 1994; Lipsett et al., 2000; O'Toole et al., 1997). However, there is convincing evidence demonstrating that the teratogens used in the rodent CDH model can directly interfere with lung development (Alfonso et al., 1996; Gilbert et al., 2000; Keijzer et al., 2000). Whether or not this is simply a reflection of the specific pathogenesis of teratogen-induced CDH remains unresolved. The possibility of there being a common mechanism underlying the pathogenesis of CDH that targets primordial diaphragm and lung development in parallel requires further investigation (Keijzer et al., 2000). Regardless, the pathogenesis of the lung associated with CDH, whether primary or secondary, must remain a focus of investigation if advances are to be made in the treatment of the disorder. These data demonstrate that an understanding of the pathogenesis of the diaphragm defect requires a focus elsewhere from the lung.

### 4.5 <u>REFERENCES</u>

Alfanso, L.F., Arnaiz, A., Alvarez, F.J., Qi, B., Diez-Pardo, J.A., Vallis-i-Soler, A. and Tovar J.A. (1996) Lung hypoplasia and surfactant system immaturity induced in the fetal rat by prenatal exposure to nitrofen. Biol. Neonate 69:94-100.

Allan, D.W. and Greer, J.J. (1997) Pathogenesis of nitrofen-induced congenital diaphragmatic hernia in fetal rats. J. Appl. Physiol. 83:338-347.

Ambrose, A.M., Larson, P.W., Borzelleca, J.F., Blackwell-Smith, R. and Hennigar GR. (1971) Toxicologic studies on 2,4-dichlorophenyl-p-nitrophenyl ether. Toxicol. Appl. Pharm. 19:263-275.

Babiuk, R.P., Zhang, W., Clugston, R., Allan, D.W. and Greer, J.J. (2002) Embryological origins and development of the rat diaphragm. J. Comp. Neurol. (in press).

Bladt, F., Riethmacher, D., Isenmann, C., Aguzzi, A., and Birchmeier, C. (1995) Essential role for the c-met receptor in the migration of myogenic precursor cells into the limb. Nature 376:768-771.

Cilley R.E., Zgleszewski, S.E., Krummel, T.M. and Chinoy, M.R. (1997) Nitrofen dose dependent gestational day-specific murine lung hypoplasia and left-sided diaphragmatic hernia. Am. J. Physiol. 272(2 Pt 1):L362-371.

Costlow, R.D. and Manson, J.M. (1981) The heart and diaphragm: target organs in the neonatal death induced by nitrofen (2,4-dichlorophenyl-p-nitrophenyl ether). Toxicol. 20:209-227.

Costlow, R.D. and Manson, J.M. (1983) Distribution and metabolism of the teratogen nitrofen (2,4-dichloro-4'-nitro diphenyl ether) in pregnant rats. Toxicol. 26:11-23.

Francis, B.M., Metcalf, R.L., Lewis, P.A., and Chernoff, N. (1999) Maternal and developmental toxicity of halogenated 4'-nitrodiphenyl ethers in mice. Teratology 59: 69-80.

Franz, T. (1993) The Splotch (Sp<sup>1H</sup>) and Splotch-delayed (Sp<sup>d</sup>) alleles: differential phenotypic effects on neural crest and limb musculature. Anat. Embryol. 187:371-377.

Greer, J.J., Allan, D.W., Babiuk, R.P., and Lemke, R.P. (2000a) State of the Art Review: Recent advances towards and understanding of the pathogenesis of nitrofeninduced congenital hernia. Pediatr. Pulmonol. 29:394-399.

Greer, J.J., Cote, D., Allan, D.W., Zhang, W., Babiuk, R.P., Ly, L., Lemke, R.P. and Bagnall, K. (2000b) Structure of the primordial diaphragm and effects associated with nitrofen-induced congenital diaphragmatic hernia. J. Appl. Physiol. 89:2123-2129.

Greer, J.J., Mey, J., Babiuk, R.P., and Clugston, R. (2002) Retinal dehydrogenase is inhibited by compounds that induce congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Pediatrics Academic Societies' Meeting 1939.

Guilbert, T.W., Gebb, S.A., and Shannon, J.M. (2000) Lung hypoplasia in the nitrofen model of congenital diaphragmatic hernia occurs early in development. Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol. 279:L1159-117.

Harrison, M.R., Adzick, N.S., Estes, J.M. and Howell, L.J. (1994) A prospective study of the outcome for fetuses with diaphragmatic hernia. JAMA 271:382-384.

Hill, A.C., Adzick, N.S., Stevens, M.B., Mori, H, Husseini, W., and Heymann, M.A. (1994) Fetal lamb pulmonary hypoplasia: pulmonary vascular and myocardial abnormalities. Ann. Thorac. Surg. 57:946-951.

Irish, M.S., Glick, P.L., Russell, J., Kapur, P., Bambini, D.A., Holm, B.A. and Steinhorn, R.H. (1998) Contractile properties of intralobar pulmonary arteries and veins in the fetal lamb model of congenital diaphragmatic hernia. J. Pediatr. Surg. 33: 921-928.

Iritani, I. (1984) Experimental study on embryogenesis of congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Anat. Embryol. 169:133-139.

Karamanoukian, H.L., Glick, P.L., Wilcox, D.T., Rossman, J.E., Holm, B.A. and Morin, F.C. Pathophysiology of congenital diaphragmatic hernia VIII: Inhaled nitric oxide requires exogenous surfactant therapy in the lamb model of congenital diaphragmatic hernia. J. Pediat. Surg. 30:1-4.

Keijzer, R., Liu, J., Deimling, J., Tibboel, D. and Post, M. (2000) Dual-hit hypothesis explains pulmonary hypoplasia in the nitrofen model of congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Am. J. Pathol. 4:1299-1306.

Kluth D, Kangah R, Reich P, Tenbrinck R, Tibboel, D., and Lambrecht, W.N. (1990) Nitrofen-induced diaphragmatic hernias in rats: an animal model. J. Ped. Surg. 25: 850-854.

Kluth, D., Losty, P.D., Schnitzer, J.J., Lambrecht, W., and Donahoe, P.K. (1996) Toward understanding the developmental anatomy of congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Clin. Perinatol. 23:655-669.

Lipsett, J., Cool, J.C., Runciman, S.C., Ford, W.D., Parsons, D.W., Kennedy, J.D. and Martin, A.J. (2000) Effect of immediate versus slow intrauterine reduction of congenital diaphragmatic hernia on lung development in the sheep: a morphometric analysis of term pulmonary structure and maturity. Pediatr. Pulmonol. 30: 228-240.

Nobuhura, K., Lurid, D.P., Mitchell, J., Kharasch, V., and Wilson, J.M. (1996) Longterm outlook for survivors of congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Clin. Perinatal. 23: 873-887.

O'Toole, S.J., Karamanoukian, H.L., Irish, M.S., Sharma, A., Holm, B.A., and Glick, P.L. (1997) Tracheal ligation: the dark side of in utero congenital diaphragmatic hernia treatment. J. Pediatr. Surg. 32:407-410.
Sekine, K., Ohuchi, H., Fujiwara, M., Yamasaki, M., Yoshizawa, T., Sato, T., Yagishita, N., Matsui, D., Koga, Y., Itoh, N. and Kato, S. (1999) Fgf10 is essential for limb and lung formation. Nat. Genet. 21:138-141.

Solomon, H.M., Wier, P.J., Johnson, C.M., Posobiec, L.M., Rendemonti, J.E. and Rumberger, DF. (2000) Benzofuranyl ureas with potent cardiovascular teratogenicity in rats. Teratology 61:211-221.

Sutherland, M.F., Parkinson, M.M., and Hallett, P. (1989) Teratogenicity of three substituted 4-biphenyls in the rat as a result of the chemical breakdown and possible metabolism of a thromboxane A2-receptor blocker. Teratology 39:537-545.

Tasaka, H., Takenaka, H., Okamoto, N., Koga, Y. and Hamada, M. (1992) Diaphragmatic hernia induced in rat fetuses by administration of bisdiamine. Congenital Anomalies 32:347-355.

Thorburn GD and Harding R. (1994) Development of the respiratory system. Textbook of Fetal Physiology New York, Oxford pp. 140-167.

Tosney, K.W. (1988) Somites and axon guidance. Scanning Microsc. 2:427-442.

Wickman, D.S., Siebert, J.R. and Benjamin, D.R. (1993) Nitrofen-induced congenital diaphragmatic defects in CD1 mice. Teratol. 47:119-125.

Wilcox, D.T., Irish, M.S., Holm, B.A., and Glick, P.L. (1996) Animal models in congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Clin. Perinatol. 23:813-822.

### <u>CHAPTER 5.</u> RETINAL DEHYDROGENASE-2 IS INHIBITED BY COMPOUNDS THAT INDUCE CONGENITAL DIAPHRAGMATIC HERNIAS IN RODENTS

Adapted from the Original Publication:

Jörg Mey<sup>\*</sup>, Randal P. Babiuk<sup>\*†</sup>, Robin Clugston, Wei Zhang and John J. Greer

Accepted by Am. J. Pathol. 2003

\* Co-first authors that contributed equally to the study.

<sup>†</sup> Contribution to this work: development of the hypotheses and experimental design, characterization of the 4 teratogens (days of administration, dose levels)

J.M. carried out the RALDH2 inhibition assays.

R.C assisted in teratogen administration and animal surgery.

W.Z performed the RALDH2 immunohistochemistry.

### 5.1 <u>INTRODUCTION</u>

Congenital diaphragmatic hernia (CDH) is a serious developmental disorder occurring in approximately 1 in 3000 live births in which the diaphragm muscle fails to form completely, resulting in a hole in the diaphragm and incomplete separation of the thoracic and abdominal cavities. Lung hypoplasia and pulmonary hypertension are major pathological consequences that account for much of the morbidity and mortality (~50%) of this problem (Harrison et al., 1994; Karamanoukian et al., 1995).

An animal model of CDH was developed, resulting from toxicological studies which showed that nitrofen, a herbicide, while relatively harmless to adult rodents, caused developmental anomalies in the lungs, hearts, diaphragms and skeletal tissues of fetuses in pregnant rats (Ambrose et al., 1997; Costlow and Manson, 1981). Diaphragmatic defects resulting from a single 100 mg dose of nitrofen administered to pregnant rats on E8 of gestation are very similar to those documented in human CDH, with respect to the size and location of the defect and the accompanying intrusion of the abdominal viscera into the thoracic cavity. Further, the associated developmental defects observed with nitrofen-induced CDH such as skeletal and cardiac malformations are similar to those seen in a subpopulation of infants with CDH (Migliazza et al., 1999a; Migliazza et al., 1999b; Migliazza et al., 1999c).

Data derived from studies of the nitrofen model suggest that the pathogenesis of CDH is linked to a malformation of the primordial diaphragm, the pleuroperitoneal fold (reviewed in Greer et al., 2000). However, the etiology of CDH is largely unknown. Further, despite the fact that the nitrofen model of CDH has been used since the 1970's, a clear understanding of the mechanisms underlying the herbicide's teratogenicity is lacking. Given the striking similarities between the pathologies observed in CDH in the nitrofen-induced rat model and in infants with CDH, the possibility of there being a common underlying etiology certainly has to be considered. Therefore, the biochemical mechanisms underlying the actions of nitrofen were sought.

There are several pieces of data that provide a rationale for examining the role of the retinoic acid system in the etiology of CDH. Past studies examining the effects of Vitamin A deficient diets in rodents during pregnancy demonstrated that some of the offspring had diaphragmatic hernias (Wilson et al., 1953; Anderson, 1941). In 1994, Mendelsohn et al. published data showing that in a subset of double retinoic acid receptor subtype knockouts, fetuses had diaphragmatic hernias (Mendelsohn et al. 1994). Major et al. provided preliminary evidence supporting a role of Vitamin A as a factor in human CDH. In a small study of human mothers and infants born with or without CDH, it was reported that the retinol levels in the maternal and infant plasma were abnormal when CDH was present (Major et al., 1998). More recently, a direct interaction of nitrofen and the retinoid system arose from studies using transgenic mice with a LacZ reporter linked to a retinoid response element (RARE). The expression of the transgene was markedly reduced in response to nitrofen exposure (Greer et al., 2001).

In this study, the next step is taken by determining the specific stage in the retinoid cascade affected by nitrofen. Specifically, the hypothesis that nitrofen acts to inhibit retinal dehydrogenase-2 (RALDH2) and thus the formation of retinoic acid from retinaldehyde is tested. Further, three other compounds that induce

94

diaphragmatic defects are characterized. Past reports have indicated that 4-biphenyl carboxylic acid (BPCA; Sutherland et al., 1989), bisdiamine [N, N'-octamethylenebis (dichloroacetamide); Taleporos et al., 1978; Tasaka et al., 1992] and SB-210661, (Solomon et al., 2000) induce diaphragmatic defects. BPCA is a breakdown product of a thromboxane-A<sub>2</sub> receptor antagonist, bisdiamine is spermatogenesis inhibitor and SB-210661 is a benzofuranyl urea derivative developed for inhibiting 5-lipoxygenase. These compounds induce diaphragmatic defects characteristic of CDH. Importantly, they all share, along with nitrofen, the same common mechanism of inhibiting RALDH2 in a dose-dependent manner.

### 5.2 <u>MATERIALS AND METHODS</u>

### 5.2.1 Animals

Timed-pregnant Sprague-Dawley rats were used following procedures approved by the Animal Welfare Committee at the University of Alberta. The morning on which a sperm plug was observed in the breeding cage was designated as embryonic day (E) 0.

#### 5.2.2 Chemicals

SB-210661 was generously provided by Dr. H.M. Solomon (SmithKline Beecham Pharmaceuticals, Pennsylvania, USA). Bisdiamine [N,N'-octamethylenebis (dichloroacetamide)] was purchased from ACROS Organics (Fisher Scientific, Pennsylvania, PA) and 4-biphenyl carboxylic acid from Sigma (St. Louis, MO). Nitrofen was obtained from the US Environmental Protection Agency (Bethesda, MD) and China National Chemical Construction Jiangsu Company (Nanjing, China). The dosage and timing of administration for each chemical are listed in Table 1. Each compound was dissolved in 1 ml of olive oil using sonication. On the appropriate day(s) of gestation (Table 1), pregnant rats were anaesthetized with Halothane temporarily (10 minutes) and the drug solutions were delivered via gavage feed. Rats were returned to the original cage and housed in the laboratory for further dosing where specified.

### 5.2.3 Caesarean Section and Diaphragm Isolation

On E18, rats were anaesthetized and caesarean sections performed to deliver the fetuses. The fetuses were euthanized, decapitated and placed into 4% paraformaldehyde for 1-2 days of fixation. Using a dissecting microscope, the diaphragms were then exposed and removed for subsequent assessment of defects. In some cases, immunolabeling for neural cell adhesion molecule (NCAM) was performed to delineate the orientation of myotubes and/or phrenic nerve intramuscular branches (Allan and Greer, 1997). Photographs of the diaphragms were taken with a Nikon 990 digital camera mounted on a Leica research microscope.

### 5.2.4 Retinal Dehydrogenase Assay

To measure inhibitory effects on retinoic acid synthesis, the retinaldehyde dehydrogenase RALDH-2 isolated from an oligodendrocyte cell line (Richter-Landsberg et al., 1998; Mey and Hammelmann, 2000) was used in an assay. Trypsinized oligodendrocyte cells were collected on ice, spun down and triturated in an equal volume of 10 mM phosphate buffer pH 7.4 with 30 mM NaCl containing 1 mM PMSF, 1 µM leupeptin, 1 % aprotinin and 1 µM pepstatin as protease inhibitors. The homogenate was centrifuged for 15 min at 13,000 g to obtain a supernatant containing the cytoplasmic proteins. Protein concentrations in these extracts were determined with the BCA protein assay (Sigma). Isoelectric focusing (IEF) of native proteins was performed in an Isobox IEF apparatus (Hoefer Scientific/Pharmacia, Freiburg, Germany) with agarose gels using agarose-coated polyester film (GEL-Fix, Serva, Heidelberg, Germany), silanized glass plates and 1 mm thick plastic spacers. The gel solution contained 0.8 % agarose (Serva, 11402), 2 % sorbitol (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany) and 3 % ampholytes pI 4 - 7 (Serva, 42948). Electrode wicks were soaked in 0.5 M acetic acid and 0.5 M NaOH for anode and cathode, respectively. Samples were loaded with 10 µg protein per lane. Running conditions were: 10 min at 1 W; removal of the sample mask; 5 min, 5 W; 45 min, 15 W; - all at 1200 V maximum. Internal protein standards with pI 3.6, 4.6, 5.1, 6.6, 8.2, 8.6 and 8.8 (Sigma) marked pH positions in the gel. Lanes with pI markers were fixed and stained with Coomassie G250.

Following IEF, parallel lanes of the gel were cut into 16 or 24 consecutive slices 2.25 mm apart. These IEF fractions were distributed into the wells of microtiter plates, where proteins were eluted and assayed for RA synthesis from 50 nM all-*trans* retinaldehyde in the presence of 0.6 mg/ml dithiothreitol and 0.8 mg/ml NAD<sup>+</sup> (McCaffrey and Dräger, 1997). After 4 hrs of incubation at 37 °C in darkness, 50  $\mu$ l/well of reaction products were removed and tested with RA sensitive reporter cells. The reporter cell line (Wagner et al., 1992) consists of F9 teratocarcinoma cells transfected with the  $\beta$ -galactosidase gene under control of the RA responsive element

from the RA receptor  $\beta$ . The cells were grown in CO<sub>2</sub>-buffered DMEM, supplemented with 10% FCS, penicillin/streptomycin (Sigma, P3539), and 0.8 g/l geneticin (Life Technologies).

For the RA assay, reporter cells were plated into polylysine coated 96-well microtiter plates, grown to confluence, and cultured for about 12 hrs with 150 µl cell culture medium plus 50 µl supernatant from the enzyme reaction. The RA-dependent induction of  $\beta$ -galactosidase was then visualized with the X-Gal staining procedure (Mey and Hammelmann, 2000). To measure the efficacy of enzyme inhibitors, IEF fractions were collected in medium that contained 0.1  $\mu$ M, 1  $\mu$ M, 10  $\mu$ M or 100  $\mu$ M of SB-210661, bisdiamine, nitrofen, or 4-biphenyl carboxylic acid (BPCA). After 15 min incubation at room temperature the NAD<sup>+</sup>/RAL solution was added for the aldehyde dehydrogenase reaction as described above. To ascertain that enzyme inhibitors did not interfere with RA detection, the reporter cells were incubated with medium containing inhibitors plus 0.1 nM or 10 pM all-trans RA. Experimental procedures were identical to those when RA-production was determined. Aldehyde dehydrogenase activity was also measured in cytosolic extracts without prior IEF separation. In this procedure cytosolic extracts containing 10 µg protein were dissolved in 50 µl medium with enzyme inhibitors and then processed as described. Concentrations of 1 pM - 1 mM for nitrofen and BPCA, 1 nM to 1 mM for SB-210661 and 0.1 pM - 1 mM for bisdiamine were chosen. Three independent experiments were performed.

### 5.2.5 Immunohistochemistry

Paraffin embedded embryos were sectioned transversely with a microtome at 7 µm intervals and mounted. Slides were dewaxed, rehydrated, then incubated with 0.3 % hydrogen peroxide in methanol for 30 min, and 0.4% Triton X-100/PBS for 1 hour. A blocking step was performed with 5% normal goat serum in 0.4% Triton X-100/PBS, followed by incubation with the primary antibody, rabbit anti-RALDH-2 (1:1500; P. McCaffery Massachusetts, USA) overnight at 4°C. The slides were incubated in a biotinylated goat anti-rabbit IgG (Vector) secondary antibody at a dilution of 1: 200 for 1 hour then washed in PBS. Slides were incubated with 1:100 avidin-biotinylated peroxidase complex (ABC kit PK4000, Vector). The antigen labeling was visualized by a DAB (3,3-diaminobenzidine tetrahydrochloride) product intensified by nickel (0.1 M Tris buffer containing 0.04% DAB with 0.04% hydrogen peroxide and 0.6% nickel ammonium sulphate). The slides were then counterstained with eosin and dehydrated in ethanol prior to being coverslipped. Photomicrographs were taken using a Nikon 990 digital camera mounted on a Zeiss research microscope.

### 5.3 <u>RESULTS</u>

### 5.3.1 Diaphragmatic Defects

Fetuses removed from pregnant rats treated with nitrofen and 4-biphenyl carboxylic acid showed no outward abnormalities at the doses administered. A significant fraction (~50%) of the fetal rats from animals given high doses of SB-210661 (100 mg/kg/day, E7-14) or bisdiamine (100 mg/day on E10-11 or E11-12)

displayed head abnormalities including "blunt" snouts and some skin defects ("loose" skin covering the trunk). Internal malformations were not systematically examined, although lung hypoplasia and retarded overall growth was evident from gross examination in the majority of fetuses exposed to the teratogens regardless of CDH status.

Figure 5.1 shows representative examples of diaphragm defects induced by the four compounds. The number of diaphragmatic defects produced by each of the compounds and data regarding the location of the diaphragmatic defects are contained in Table 5.1. As reported previously (Allan and Greer, 1997), a single dose of nitrofen administered on E8 results in ~50% of the embryos having hernias, with a predominance of left-sided defects. Past studies have also demonstrated that single doses of nitrofen administered beyond E11 induced solely right-sided defects. None of the other compounds induced diaphragmatic defects after a single administration on E8. Repeated doses were required.

Administration of 4-biphenyl carboxylic acid at a dosage of 50 mg/kg/day from E7-E14 induced predominantly right-sided diaphragmatic defects. SB-210661, administered at a dose level of 100 mg/kg/day from E7-E14 caused 100% large bilateral defects; with ~80% of the diaphragm tissue missing in some cases. Doses of 50 and 75 mg/kg/day from E7-E14 induced defects of more moderate size in 74% and 85% of fetuses, respectively. Bisdiamine had a different dose-dependency. A 100 mg/day dose administered on E10 and E11 induced large bilateral defects. The same dosage administered on E11 and E12 induced only right-sided defects. Overall, the

100

rank order of efficacy in producing diaphragmatic defects was bisdiamine > SB-210661 > nitrofen > BPCA.

# Table 5.1:Dosages and days of administration of teratogens and<br/>corresponding incidence and location of diaphragmatic defects.

Compo	ound/Dose	Days of Administration	Hernias/# of Fetuses	Location of Hernia (Left/Right/ Bilateral)
Nitrofen	100 mg	E8	266/507	153L/86R/27B
BPCA	100 mg	E8	0/10	
	50 mg/kg	E8-10	0/8	
	75 mg/kg	E8-10	0/12	
	50 mg/kg	E7-14	22/62	4L/16R/2B
SB-210661 100 mg		E8	0/13	
	50 mg/kg	E7-14	23/30	1L/14R/8B
	75 mg/kg	E7-14	11/13	5L/6R/0B
	100 mg/kg	E7-14	26/26	0L/0R/26B
Bisdiamin	e 100 mg	E8	0/12	
	50 mg/kg	E8-9	2/10	1L/1R/0B
	100 mg/kg	E8-9	1/14	1L/0R/0B
	75 mg/kg	E10-11	7/18	3L/3R/1B
	100 mg/kg	E10-11	6/17	0L/0R/6B
	50 mg/kg	E11-12	16/16	0L/6R/10B
	100 mg/kg	E11-12	2/17	0L/2R/0B

102



# Figure 5.1 Photomicrographs of whole diaphragms labeled for neural cell adhesion molecule to demarcate myotubes.

Representative examples of left-sided diaphragmatic defects (\*) induced by each of the four compounds. The posterolateral portion of the diaphragm was affected in all cases.

### 5.3.2 Measurements of Retinal Dehydrogenase Inhibition

Using the immortalized oligodendrocyte cell line OLN93 as a source of retinal dehydrogenase the inhibitory effect of nitrofen, bisdiamine, BPCA and SB-210661 on this enzyme were investigated. Since RA synthesis was assessed by means of beta-galactosidase expression in a bioassay the enzyme inhibitors were tested for their interference with RA-detection in this system. At a concentration of 0.1  $\mu$ M none of the inhibitors had a significant effect on RA detection (Table 5.2), nor did 100  $\mu$ M bisdiamine and nitrofen. SB-210661 reduced the reporter cell response at 100  $\mu$ M to a small degree. At this concentration BPCA interfered with the zymography assay but not enough to render the RALDH inhibition data invalid (because BPCA inhibited RA synthesis completely and at much lower concentrations).

In zymography assays, IEF fractions were incubated with 0.1, 1, 10, 100  $\mu$ M of nitrofen, BPCA, bisdiamine, SB-210661 or no enzyme inhibitor. All compounds reduced RA synthesis in a dose dependent fashion (Figure 5.2). Complete inhibition of the aldehyde dehydrogenase activity was found with all concentrations of bisdiamine, 10  $\mu$ M nitrofen or higher, and 100  $\mu$ M BPCA. Since only one peak of RA synthesizing activity was detected, cytosol homogenates were then used without prior separation by IEF to determine dose response functions for a broader range of concentrations (Figure 5.3). The ED<sub>50</sub> for suppression of RALDH activity were 10 – 100  $\mu$ M for BPCA and SB-210661, approximately 10  $\mu$ M for nitrofen, and below 1 pM for bisdiamine. In accordance with the zymography assays and the rank order of efficacy in producing diaphragmatic defects, bisdiamine, which suppressed RALDH

104

activity at all tested concentrations, was the most potent inhibitor, followed by nitrofen, BPCA and SB-210661.

Table 5.2	Interference of	enzyme	inhibitor	with	retinal	dehydr	ogenase
	detection assay.	Complete	inhibition	n of H	RA detec	tion =	100, no
	inhibition = 0 (mean $\pm$ SD).						

,

18.12

[Inhibitor]	Bisdiamine	Nitrofen	SB-210661	BPCA
0.1 μM	$0\pm 0$	$0 \pm 0$	$0.3 \pm 0.5$	9.8 ± 24.1
100 μΜ	$7.5 \pm 10.6$	$0\pm 0$	$17.5 \pm 17.7$	$48.0 \pm 7.4$

106

### 5.3.3 RALDH2 Expression

Immunolabeling for RALDH2 was performed to demonstrate its expression in the developing diaphragm, the pleuroperitoneal fold (PPF). As shown in Figure 5.4 there is intense labeling within the PPF at E13, the age when the structure is well defined. As reported previously (Malpel et al., 2000) there is also RALDH2 expression in the developing lung.



## Figure 5.2 IEF fractions of cytosolic extracts from OLN93 cells exhibit RALDH activity.

One peak of enzyme activity was detected in fractions with pI 5.0 – 5.6. Protein fractions were incubated with  $0.1\mu M$  (- $\infty$ -),  $1\mu M$  (- $\square$ -),  $10\mu M$  (- $\blacksquare$ -) or  $100\mu M$  (- $\blacksquare$ -) of each of the 4 compounds or no enzyme inhibitor (- $\square$ -).

108





Relative inhibition on RA synthesis is plotted against concentration for each of the four compounds. Error bars indicate standard deviation of three independent experiments.



## Figure 5.4 Immunolabeling for RALDH2 in the primordial diaphragm, the pleuroperitoneal fold (PPF).

There is intense RALDH2 expression in bilateral PPFs (\*), as shown at different magnifications. Lu - lung; SC - spinal cord; Arrow - phrenic nerve.

### 5.4 <u>DISCUSSION</u>

Nitrofen, bisdiamine, SB-210661 and 4-biphenyl carboxylic acid all induce diaphragmatic defects similar to those observed in infants with CDH. Importantly, all of these compounds inhibit RALDH2, a key enzyme responsible for the generation of retinoic acid from retinal. These data, in conjunction with that from past studies, support the hypothesis that perturbations of the retinoid system could be involved in the etiology of CDH.

Each of the four compounds induced diaphragmatic defects in the posterolateral corners of the diaphragm, similar to what is observed in infants with CDH. The differences in the number of treatments required for each compound is likely due to the length of time that each remains in the body before degradation or elimination. Nitrofen persists at elevated levels for at least three days (Choy et al., 1999), which would explain why a single large dose is all that is needed to induce diaphragmatic hernias. Conversely, biphenyl carboxylic acid may be much more labile (the parent compound, AH23848, has a plasma half-life of 1-1.5h), so that supplemental doses are necessary to produce sufficiently high concentrations to be effective. SB-210661 and biphenyl carboxylic acid may have a comparable half-life within embryonic tissues because the same dosages administered over the identical period of gestation produce similar fetal consequences.

In addition to inducing diaphragmatic defects, all four compounds can produce cardiac defects. These include maldevelopment of the outflow tracts of the heart and septal defects. The cardiac defects may result from problems with neural crest proliferation and differentiation in the fetuses (Sutherland et al., 1989; Taleporos et al. 1978; Solomon et al., 2000; Choy et al., 1999; Yu et al., 2001). There is no strong evidence, however, that diaphragm embryogenesis has any dependence on neural crest development. It may be that these compounds also interfere with the proliferation or differentiation of mesenchymal cells. The hypothesis that a defect in the formation of the mesenchymal substratum of the primordial diaphragm, the PPF, is associated with teratogen-induced CDH is being examined.

Recent studies using mice with a LacZ reporter gene linked to the activation of retinoid response element (RARE) demonstrated that nitrofen was inhibiting some aspect of retinoid function (Greer et al., 2001). The nitrofen-induced suppression of RARE was reversed by the addition of retinoic acid supplementation. Further, binding studies suggested that nitrofen was acting upstream of the binding of retinoic acid to its receptors. The preceding step in the retinoid cascade is the NAD-dependent oxidation of all-trans-retinal to all-trans-retinoic acid by RALDH2 (Niederreither et al., 1999). One of the CDH-inducing teratogens, bisdiamine, is a known inhibitor of alcohol dehydrogenase. Thus, it is hypothesized that the compounds were acting by interfering with that aspect of retinoid function. The results demonstrating that all four CDH-inducing compounds inhibit RALDH2 in a dose-dependent manner strongly support the hypothesis. Further, the most potent inhibitor of RALDH2, bisdiamine, was also the most effective at inducing diaphragmatic defects in embryonic rats. The other CDH-inducing compounds had similar dose-response curves for inhibition of RALDH2 activity. The concentration of nitrofen present in the embryo in response to gavage feed of 100 mg has been estimated to be in the umole range. Similarly, exposure of fetal mouse embryos maintained in culture to  $\sim 15 \mu$ mole nitrofen

produced a pronounced suppression or RARE-LacZ activation (Greer et al., 2001). The data in Figure 3 demonstrates that the  $ED_{50}$  for nitrofen suppression of RALDH2 activity is within a similar range.

Collectively, the data support the hypothesis that the primordial diaphragm tissue, the PPF, is dependent on retinoid mediated signalling for its proper formation. Retinoic acid receptors function as transcriptional activators that modulate the expression of developmentally regulated genes by binding as a ligand/receptor complex to DNA sequences designated as retinoic acid response elements (Giguère, 1994). Consistent with this notion is the fact that the cervical mesenchymal tissues and developing diaphragmatic tissue strongly express proteins associated with the metabolism and binding of retinoids (Giguère, 1994; Båvik et al., 1997; Berggren et al., 1999). Further, retinoic acid has been shown to be involved in regulating extracellular matrix formation, mesenchymal cell migration, and establishment of dorsoventral polarity, all of which could be key components of early diaphragm embryogenesis (Ross et al., 2000; Yan and Sinning, 2001). However, a determination of the specific cells responsible for the embryological origins of the PPF will be necessary prior to ascertaining the role of retinoid signalling and its perturbation by CDH-inducing teratogens.

In ~60-65% of cases in infants with CDH there are no obvious associated anomalies other than the diaphragm defect (Fauza and Wilson, 1994; Losty et al., 1998). The reason that the diaphragm might be particularly susceptible to perturbations of the retinoid system is unclear. Immunolabeling for RALDH2 and HPLC analyses demonstrate that there are gradients of retinoic acid levels within the cervical mesenchyme (Ross et al., 2000; Yan and Sinning, 2001). Further, the levels of retinoic acid and associated activation of RAREs necessary for regulating retinoidmediated transcription varies amongst genes in a dose-dependent manner (Ross et al., 2000). It is conceivable that the 'safety margin' for retinoic acid mediated regulation of primordial diaphragm development is relatively low and thus more susceptible to perturbations compared with other tissues. Heart development is also particularly susceptible, as cardiac anomalies are observed in the rat model of nitrofen-induced CDH (Migliazza et al., 1999a; Migliazza et al., 1999b) and are the most commonly associated defect in infants with CDH (Fauza and Wilson, 1994). RALDH2 is expressed in the developing lung (Giguère, 1994) and its suppression by nitrofen could explain some of the abnormalities of lung development observed in the nitrofen model of CDH (Nakao and Ueki, 1987; Wickman et al., 1993; Guilbert et al., 2000; Acosta et al., 2001).

Several hypotheses regarding retinoid system malfunction and the etiology of CDH in humans could be formulated. Transient deficiencies or imbalances in the levels of retinoid metabolites, binding proteins, nuclear receptors or retinoid metabolizing enzymes within the developing primordial diaphragm at the time of initial malformation of the PPF (approximately 4-5 weeks of gestation) could account for diaphragmatic defects and associated with CDH. These defects, in theory, could be due to acute dietary deficiencies, impaired placental transport, spontaneous malregulation within the retinoid metabolic cascade, teratogenic-mediated insults or chromosomal defects. Evidence for the latter arises from several references to an association of CDH with chromosome 15q defects (Kristoffersson et al., 1987; Smith et al., 2000; Bettelheim et al., 1998; Aviram-Goldring et al., 2000; Schlembach et al.,

2001). A search of available databases found that some of the genes on chromosome 15 in the region of the deletion or translocation (15q24-26) encode for cellular retinoic acid binding protein-1 (CRABP-1). A nearby region (15q21.1) contains the gene encoding RALDH2, which emphasizes the importance of chromosome 15.

### 5.5 <u>REFERENCES</u>

Acosta, J.M., Chai, Y., Meara, J.G., Bringas, P.J., Anderson, K.D. and Warburton, D. (2001) Prenatal exposure to nitrofen induces Fryns phenotype in mice. Ann. Plast. Surg. 46:635-640.

Allan, D.W. and Greer, J.J. (1997) Pathogenesis of nitrofen-induced congenital diaphragmatic hernia in fetal rats. J. Appl. Physiol. 83:338-347.

Ambrose, A.M., Larson, P.S., Borzelleca, J.F., Smith, R.B.J. and Hennigar, G.R.J. (1997) Toxicologic studies on 2,4-dichlorophenyl-p-nitrophenyl ether. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 19: 263-275.

Anderson, D.H. (1941) Incidence of congenital diaphragmatic hernia in the young of rats bred on a diet deficient in vitamin A. Am. J. Dis. Child. 62:888-889.

Aviram-Goldring, A., Daniely, M., Frydman, M., Shneyour, Y., Cohen, H. and Barkai, G. (2000) Congenital diaphragmatic hernia in a family segregating a reciprocal translocation t(5;15)(p15.3;q24). Am. J. Med. Genet. 90:120-122.

Båvik, C.O., Ward, S.J. and Ong, D.E. (1997) Identification of a mechanism to localize generation of retinoic acid in rat embryos. Mech. Develop. 69:155-167.

Bettelheim, D., Hengstschlager, M., Drahonsky, R., Eppel, W. and Bernaschek, G. (1998) Two cases of prenatally diagnosed diaphragmatic hernia accompanied by the same undescribed chromosomal deletion (15q24 de novo). Clin. Genet. 53:319-320.

Berggren, K., McCaffery, P., Dräger, U.C. and Forehand, C.J. (1999) Differential distribution of retinoic acid synthesis in the chicken embryo as determined by immunolocalization of the retinoic acid synthetic enzyme, RALDH-2. Dev. Biol. 210:288-304.

Choy, M., Oltjen, S.J., Moon, A.J., Armstrong, M.T. and Armstrong, P.B. (1999) Bisdiamine inhibits extracellular matrix formation and cell proliferation of atrioventricular mesenchyme from developing chick heart valves. Teratology 59:148-155.

Costlow, R.D. and Manson, J.M. (1981) The heart and diaphragm: target organs in the neonatal death induced by nitrofen (2,4-dichlorophenyl-p-nitrophenyl ether). Toxicology 20: 209-227.

Fauza, D.O. and Wilson, J.M. (1994) Congenital diaphragmatic hernia and associated anomalies: their incidence, identification, and impact on prognosis. J. Pediat. Surg. 29:1113-1117.

Giguère, V. (1994) Retinoic acid receptors and cellular retinoid binding proteins: complex interplay in retinoid signalling. Endocr. Rev. 15:61-79.

Greer, J.J., Allan, D.W., Babiuk R.P. and Lemke R.P. (2000) Recent advances in understanding the pathogenesis of nitrofen-induced congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Pediatr. Pulmonol. 29:394-399.

Greer, J.J., Chen, A., Babiuk, R.P. and Båvik, C. (2001) Decreased activation of retinoid response elements in an animal model of congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Pediatrics Academic Societies' Meeting 286.

Guilbert, T.W., Gebb, S.A. and Shannon, J.M. (2000) Lung hypoplasia in the nitrofen model of congenital diaphragmatic hernia occurs early in development. Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol. 279:1159-L1171.

Harrison, M.R., Adzick, N.S., Estes, J.M. and Howell, L.J. (1994) A prospective study of the outcome for fetuses with diaphragmatic hernia. JAMA 271: 382-384.

Karamanoukian, H.L., Glick, P.L., Wilcox, D.T., O'Toole, S.J., Rossman, J.E. and Azizkhan, R.G. (1995) Pathophysiology of congenital diaphragmatic hernia. XI: Anatomic and biochemical characterization of the heart in the fetal lamb CDH model. J. Pediatr. Surg. 30: 925-928.

Kristoffersson, U., Heim, S., Mandahl, N., Sundkvist, L., Szelest, J. and Hagerstrand, L. (1987) Monosomy and trisomy of 15q24----qter in a family with a translocation t(6;15)(p25;q24). Clin. Genet. 32:169-171.

Losty, P.D., Vanamo, K., Rintala, R.J., Donahoe, P.K., Schnitzer, J.J. and Lloyd, D.A. (1998) Congenital diaphragmatic hernia--does the side of the defect influence the incidence of associated malformations? J. Pediatr. Surg. 33:507-510.

Major, D., Cadenas, M., Fournier, L., Leclerc, S., Lefebvre, M. and Cloutier, R. (1998) Retinol status of newborn infants with congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Pediatr. Surg. Int. 13:547-549.

Malpel, S., Mendelsohn, C. and Cardoso, W.V. (2000) Regulation of retinoic acid signaling during lung morphogenesis. Development 127:3057-3067.

Manson, J.M. (1986) Mechanism of nitrofen teratogenesis. Environ. Health Perspect. 70: 137-147.

McCaffery, P. and Dräger, U.C. (1997) A sensitive bioassay for enzymes that synthesize retinoic acid. Brain Res. Brain Res. Protoc. 1:232-236.

Mendelsohn, C., Lohnes, D., Decimo, D., Lufkin, T., LeMeur, M., Chambon, P. and Mark, M. (1994) Function of the retinoic acid receptors (RARs) during development (II). Multiple abnormalities at various stages of organogenesis in RAR double mutants. Development 120:2749-2771.

Mey, J. and Hammelmann, S. (2000) Retinoic acid synthesis by oligodendrocytes *in vitro*. Cell Tissue Res. 2000, 302:49-58.

Migliazza, L., Xia, H., Diez-Pardo, J.A. and Tovar, J.A. (1999a) Skeletal malformations associated with congenital diaphragmatic hernia: experimental and human studies. J. Pediatr. Surg. 34:1624-1629.

Migliazza, L., Otten, C., Xia, H., Rodriguez, J.I., Diez-Pardo, J.A. and Tovar, J.A. (1999b) Cardiovascular malformations in congenital diaphragmatic hernia: human and experimental studies. J. Pediatr. Surg. 34:1352-1358.

Migliazza, L., Xia, H., Alvarez, J.I., Arnaiz, A., Diez-Pardo, J.A., Alfonso, L.F. and Tovar, J.A. (1999c) Heart hypoplasia in experimental congenital diaphragmatic hernia. J. Pediatr. Surg. 34: 706-710.

Nakao, Y. and Ueki, R. (1987) Congenital diaphragmatic hernia induced by nitrofen in mice and rats: characteristics as animal model and pathogenetic relationship between diaphragmatic hernia and lung hypoplasia. Congenital Anomalies 27:397-417.

Niederreither, K., Subbarayan, V., Dollé, P. and Chambon, P. (1999) Embryonic retinoic acid synthesis is essential for early mouse post-implantation development. Nat. Genet. 21:444-448.

Richter-Landsberg, C. and Heinrich, M. (1998) OLN-93: a new permanent oligodendroglia cell line derived from primary rat brain glial cultures. J. Neurosci. Res. 45:161-173.

Ross, S.A., McCaffery, P.J., Dräger, U.C. and DeLuca, L.M. (2000) Retinoids in embryonal development. Physiol Rev. 80:1022-1054.

Schlembach, D., Zenker, M., Trautmann, U., Ulmer, R. and Beinder, E. (2001) Deletion 15q24-26 in prenatally detected diaphragmatic hernia: increasing evidence of a candidate region for diaphragmatic development. Prenat. Diagn. 21, 289-292.

Smith, S.A., Martin, K.E., Dodd, K.L. and Young, L.D. (2000)Severe microphthalmia, diaphragmatic hernia and Fallot's tetralogy associated with a chromosome 1;15 translocation. Clin. Dysmorphol. 3:287-291.

Solomon, H.M., Wier, P.J., Johnson, C.M., Posobiec, L.M., Rendemonti, J.E. and Rumberger, D.F. (2000) Benzofuranyl ureas with potent cardiovascular teratogenicity in rats. Teratology 61:211-221.

Sutherland, M.F., Parkinson, M.M. and Hallett, P. (1989) Teratogenicity of three substituted 4-biphenyls in the rat as a result of the chemical breakdown and possible metabolism of a thromboxane A2-receptor blocker. Teratology 39:537-545.

Taleporos, P., Salgo, M.P. and Oster, G. (1978) Teratogenic action of bis(dichloroacetyl)diamine on rats: patterns of malformations produced in high incidence at time-limited periods of development. Teratology 18:5-15.

Tasaka, H., Takenaka, H., Okamoto, N., Koga, Y. and Hamada, M. (1992) Diaphragmatic hernia induced in rat fetuses by administration of bisdiamine. Congenital Anomalies 32:347-355.

Wagner, M., Han, B. and Jessell, T.M. (1992) Regional differences in retinoid release from embryonic neuronal tissue detected by an in vitro reporter assay. Development 116: 55-66.

Wickman, D.S., Siebert, J.R. and Benjamin, D.R. (1993) Nitrofen-induced congenital diaphragmatic defects in CD1 mice. Teratology 47:119-25.

118

Wilson, J.G., Roth, B. and Warkany, J. (1953) An analysis of the syndrome of malformations induced by maternal Vitamin A deficiency. Effects of restoration of vitamin A at various times during gestation. Am. J. Anat. 92:189-217.

Yan, M. and Sinning, A.R. (2001) Retinoic acid administration is associated with changes in the extracellular matrix and cardiac mesenchyme within the endocardial cushion. Anat. Rec. 263:53-61.

Yu, J., Gonzalez, S., Rodriguez, J.I., Diez-Pardo, J.A., Tovar, J.A. (2001) Neural crest-derived defects in experimental congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Pediatr. Surg. Int. 17:294-298.

### CHAPTER 6.

### **GENERAL DISCUSSION**

### 6.1 <u>GENERAL DISCUSSION</u>

The diaphragm is the principal inspiratory muscle. Upon inhalation, the diaphragm contracts, extending downward; the external intercostal muscles shorten, pulling the ribcage outward and upward, expanding the volume (vertical dimension) of the thoracic cavity, and resulting in an intrapleural pressure decrease relative to atmospheric pressure. The intra-alveolar pressure of the lung is decreased as well. This causes air to flow into the lungs until a new equilibrium with the external atmosphere is reached (Hooper and Harding, 2001). Although diaphragm function is not required for survival (Alcorn et al., 1980; Yu, 1998), it is crucial for proper development of the lungs (Sillos et al., 1988). However, important aspects of the embryology of the diaphragm have not been systematically studied and much of the current dogma may be incorrect. An understanding of diaphragm development also has significance in terms of better elucidation of the pathogenesis and etiology of congenital diaphragmatic hernia, a relatively common birth defect having an incidence similar to that of cystic fibrosis (1:2500-3000 Caucasian births; Collins, 1992; Hamosh et al. 1998). The majority of research in the CDH field is directed towards the understanding and treatment of the secondary consequences of CDH, such as pulmonary maldevelopment, rather than determining the reason for the primary insult, the hole in the diaphragm. Findings from this work provide information that will be a significant improvement to understanding diaphragm development and its malformations as well as providing the foundation for further research directed towards finding the mechanism underlying the pathogenesis of CDH in the model and possibly developing treatments based on the cause of the diaphragm malformation rather than the effects of the defect. The major findings from the studies described in Chapters 3-5 and Appendix 1 are discussed in this chapter.

### 6.2 <u>EMBRYOLOGICAL ORIGINS OF THE DIAPHRAGM</u>

#### 6.2.1 Source of the muscle cells forming the diaphragm

Literature accounts of the formation of the diaphragm muscle attribute its composition to four separate sources. The use of antibodies for specific molecular markers of migratory muscle cells (Pax3/7, MyoD, myogenin) was used to identify muscle progenitor cells in the primordial diaphragm. The precursors populate the PPF at E12.5 and start to proliferate. The muscle precursors colonize the central axes of the dorsolateral costal, sternal costal and crural axes of the diaphragm, and then spread mediolaterally in the costal part, and dorsoventrally in the crural regions. By E17, these cells populate all areas of the diaphragm that will be muscularized. Results here show no evidence of contributions by the lateral body wall, dorsal mesentery or septum transversum to the diaphragmatic musculature, as suggested by current literature. The major limitation of this study is that it does not unequivocally identify the source of the muscle precursors (i.e. the cervical somites as hypothesized). This point will be addressed in Future Directions.

### 6.2.2 Origin of the crural muscle of the diaphragm

These studies provide evidence that the crural region of the diaphragm has the same embryonic origin as the costal muscle. It has been postulated that the crural muscles are axial muscles and are derived from the same source as the muscles of the body wall (Langman, 1977; DeTroyer et al., 1983). The labeling experiments show no

evidence that the muscle cells of the body wall colonize the diaphragm. Rather, the precursors of the caudomedial region of the PPF appear to form the crural parts. Stronger support for the non-axial origin comes from the finding that the c-met null mutant mice have an amuscular membrane where the diaphragm would form in a normal animal. These mice lack muscle derived from migratory muscle cells, but possess normal axial muscles. If the crural muscles were axial in origin, they theoretically should have formed in these embryos.

# 6.2.3 Relationship between phrenic axons, muscle precursors and myotubes

This work has clarified some issues regarding the interaction between the developing nerve and muscle formation. It has long been a question whether the growing nerve axons precede, follow or develop simultaneously with the muscle precursors. Data obtained here show that during diaphragm development, the growth cones of the phrenic nerve lag behind the migratory muscle precursors by ~200 µm after the nerve contacts each hemidiaphragm at a central point, adjacent to the inferior vena cava on the right side (Allan, 2000). Myotubes appear to form ahead of contact with the phrenic nerve. In the developing diaphragm, the muscle cells show a greater density along the center of the axes of the diaphragm, around the nerve branches. This is in agreement with findings of Allan and Greer (1997) who showed a clear correlation between phrenic nerve intramuscular branching and myotube formation. These primordial muscle cells proliferate and begin to differentiate from the central point outwards. MyoD-expressing cells continue to proliferate and differentiate along the primary myotubes at E17 in preparation for secondary myogenesis.

This does not answer some fundamental questions such as what factor lures the myoblasts to the PPF, why the phrenic nerve always enters the muscle at the same point, and how the branches determine which muscle fibers in what part of the diaphragm to innervate? It has been shown that the phrenic nerve in the rat has an ordered somatotopic innervation pattern wherein the rostrocaudal position of the phrenic motoneuron cell bodies in the cervical spinal cord are faithfully represented in the diaphragm (Laskowski et al., 1991). The phrenic motoneurons derived from C3-C5 innervate the costal muscle of the hemidiaphragms in a rostrocaudal fashion. The ventral-most region is innervated by C3 while C4 and 5 dominate the dorsal portion (Laskowski and Sanes, 1987). After contacting the diaphragm, the phrenic nerve divides into rostral and caudal branches by E15. The caudal branch further divides, forming caudal and crural branches. The motor axons preferentially enter the appropriate branch to innervate their targets. Questions remain about the guidance cues that attract the phrenic nerve to one particular initial point of contact and how the axons enter the proper branch of the phrenic nerve (Laskowski and Sanes, 1987). It is not known whether these actions are due to positional cues in the muscle, some form of local axonal guidance at the bifurcation point of the nerve, axonal ordering, or some other factor. The number of motoneurons is matched to available muscle fibers by apoptosis (Landmesser, 1992).

### 6.2.4 Implications for CDH Studies

There are numerous theories regarding what may go awry during development of the diaphragm, leading to CDH. One possibility that has been suggested is that the hole results from a problem with muscle formation, specifically that fewer muscle progenitors are available to form the diaphragm, resulting in a weak sheet of muscle that is easily ruptured (Skandalakis et al., 1994). From this study, it appears that the muscle precursors migrate, proliferate and differentiate in the animal model of CDH in the same way as observed in control animals. The most striking difference is the tissue defect seen in the PPF of nitrofen treated animals and this has become the focus for the investigation of the pathogenesis of CDH. The molecular composition of this structure needs to be elucidated, but this point will be discussed later.

### 6.2.5 Future Directions

A basis has been established for further investigation into the process of diaphragm development to address some other unanswered questions. It is hypothesized that the diaphragm, like the fore limb muscles, is formed from muscle precursors that originate from the cervical somites. Myogenic precursors migrate from the somites and travel to the presumptive limb. A subpopulation is predicted to continue migration to the PPF. Experiments need to be performed to identify the origin of the muscle precursors that populate the PPF. It is possible to inject individual somites with a fluorescent tracer, DiI, to label the cells. The fate of these cells could then be determined as they migrate by observing serial sections at sequential ages following injection. This has been successfully used to map somitic cells in the rat (Lee and Sze, 1993) and chick (Hayashi and Ozawa, 1991; Liu and Bagnall, 1995). This technique could be utilized in whole-embryo culture. Performing these labeling experiments in rat whole-embryo culture would give more temporal control over the cell labeling. It takes the cells approximately two days to reach the brachial plexus from the somites. However, in the embryo culture, 48 hours of

development in vivo equate to 36 hours in culture. It may be possible to time the injection of DiI so that soon after the dye has been injected, the cells start to migrate from the lateral aspect of the somite. Theoretically it might be possible to detect labeled cells right after the presumed population leaves the level of the limb bud and proceeds to migrate towards the PPF. A potential problem with this is that the dye, which incorporates into the plasma membrane, is transferred to daughter cells with proliferation, and the dye intensity becomes diluted with successive cycles of replication (Bagnall, 1992). If the migratory cells replicate as they migrate, the Dil may not remain detectable long enough for their ultimate destination to be unequivocally determined. It is hypothesized that the cells do not enter the replicative phase until reaching the end point of their journey, so dye labeling may be the simplest method. Alternately, to follow the somitic cells during their migration, an adenovirus expressing the green fluorescent protein (GFP) could be injected into the somites to transfect the cells and then detected in serial sections of fetuses at different gestational ages. The adenovirus vectors have been successfully injected into E10 embryonic mouse hearts and expression of GFP was detected in embryonic heart tissue (Christensen et al., 2000). This technology is available through the Perinatal Research Center in the laboratory of Dr. Jason Dyck. However, with this method, all cells of the somite would be transfected with the virus, potentially complicating detection of the myogenic precursors, and if the titer of virus particles used was too large, other cells outside of the somite of interest could be affected (J. Dyck, personal communication). The amount of virus injected would have to be carefully controlled to avoid this problem. To determine the concentration would probably require a number of trials, since the efficiency of transfection is cell type-specific. The surgical
manipulations necessary for injecting the somites of the embryos would be very delicate and would require a high degree of skill, but Dr. Dyck considers an experiment of this type to be feasible. This difficulty may be avoided by using a muscle or migratory cell-specific promoter such as the *c-met* promoter to drive expression of the GFP. This would also be useful to determine the number of precursors that initially migrate to the PPF. If only 30-100 cells leave the somite (Megeney and Rudnicki, 1995), how many of those migrate into the limb bud or continue onward to the PPF?

Another aspect of diaphragm development that warrants further investigation is the identification of the factors expressed along the migratory route of the muscle precursors in their migration from the somite to the PPF. The molecule HGF/SF has been identified as the ligand for the c-met receptor on migratory cells, as well as acting as a chemoattractant for motorneurons. It is likely that this molecule functions to guide the muscle precursors, but whether this factor is expressed constitutively along the migratory path, only by specific cells, or if it forms a gradient is not known. To achieve this aim, immunohistochemical labeling for HGF/SF could be done. If a suitable antibody for HGF/SF is not available, *in situ* hybridization can be done.

A project related to diaphragm formation is underway utilizing the Fgf10 knockout mice discussed in Chapter 4. The null mutants show lung agenesis, but in addition they completely lack fore- and hind limbs. This begs the following question: what happens to the muscle precursors that migrate to invade the developing limb? Do they undergo cell death without a target, do they lose the migratory phenotype and become axial muscle cells contributing to the body wall musculature, or do they

respond to guidance cues from the PPF and populate the developing diaphragm? The hypothesis that the limb precursors contribute to the diaphragm is supported by a preliminary observation that the diaphragms of FGF-10 nulls appear thicker than those of heterozygous of wild type littermates. Counts of the muscle fibers have to be done to ascertain if there is a greater density. To answer these questions, similar techniques to those discussed previously for determining the origin and destination of the muscle precursors migrating from the somite can be used. Alternately, serial sections of embryos aged E10 to E13 could be labeled for muscle specific factors (MyoD, myogenin) and migration specific factors (Pax3, c-met) to identify the muscle precursors and to localize sites of differentiation. TUNEL, combined with a DAPI nuclear labeling assay, can be performed on these sections as well to see if there is increase programmed cell death at the level of the limb buds. Diaphragms from animals E14 and older would be isolated, labeled or counterstained, then sectioned to determine if the muscle of the diaphragm is significantly thicker or if the muscle fibers have a higher density of distribution.

#### 6.3 INSIGHT INTO THE PATHOGENESIS OF CDH IN THE ANIMAL MODEL

The pathogenesis of CDH remains an unanswered question in the research field. It is hypothesized that the defect in CDH in the rodent model is due to a malformation in the primordial diaphragm, the PPF (Greer et al., 2000). The data discussed in Chapter 3 refute the idea that the muscle defect is due to a problem in muscle precursor migration or proliferation. The current thinking is that the defect occurs because the mesenchymal substratum does not provide a complete foundation for muscle formation. It has been found using c-met null mice that the defect observed in CDH can be induced in the absence of myogenic processes. This supports the hypothesis that the amuscular component of the diaphragm underlies the pathogenesis of CDH in the animal model, shifting the focus of studies of CDH to an earlier developmental stage than previously considered.

Another common hypothesis in the field of CDH is that a primary defect with the developing lung is the basis for the pathogenesis of CDH (Iritani, 1984; Cilley et al., 1997). Fgf10 knockout mice, displaying lung agenesis (Sekine et al., 1999) have been used to investigate this. The defect characteristic of CDH can be induced in these mice. This refutes the idea that the lung problems cause CDH in the model, as no or minimal lung tissue is present in these animals. These findings strengthen the hypothesis that CDH results from a defect in the mesenchymal tissue forming the PPF.

## 6.3.1 Future Directions

If the defect in the CDH model is not the result of a lung defect, muscle formation problems (Babiuk and Greer, 2002), phrenic nerve development or closure of the pleuroperitoneal canals (Allan and Greer, 1997), then the pathogenesis must be founded elsewhere, such as the PPF (Greer et al., 2000). The defect in the PPF is poorly understood. The molecular composition of the normal PPF is not known, nor are the molecules it may express or secrete, let alone that of the missing region. Experiments that are designed to identify the components of the normal PPF and what may be absent or restricted in expression in the defective PPF are underway. A proteomics project to determine the molecular make-up of the amuscular membrane found in the c-met nulls has been initiated. Proteomics is a study of the protein complement of a cell, with the proteome being the full array of proteins expressed in a particular cell or tissue at a specific developmental time or state (i.e. healthy or diseased). Amuscular membranes and central tendons from control diaphragms are being isolated for study. The control tissue is being used to determine the best extraction method and to see how many proteins are expressed in the non-muscular part of the diaphragm. Each sample or a pooled group of tissue will be ground, then homogenized with a buffer to extract proteins from the tissue. These protein extracts will be subjected to 2-dimensional electrophoresis to separate the proteins, where in the first dimension proteins are separated by molecular weight and in the second dimension the migration is dependent on charge or the isoelectric point (pI). The gels will be silver-stained to visualize the protein profile, de- and restained with Coomassie Blue, and spots representing proteins of particular interest will be excised and mass spectrometric identification will be performed by the Institute for Biomolecular Design (IBD) at the University of Alberta. Preliminary results from control diaphragm central tendon samples have been obtained. The number of protein spots is in the range of 100-200 spots according to Dr. G. Sawicki, with approximately 20 in high abundance. Tentative identification of the spots based upon molecular weight will be made and a small number will be analysed further by IBD.

An identification of structural proteins in the amuscular membrane will be used to determine antibodies that can be used to stain the normal and defective PPFs for identification of major proteins composing the PPF. Also, once the components have been identified, it would be possible to determine which proteins are products of RA-responsive genes or are directly influenced by RA-mediated processes. There may be knockout mice available for these genes. Such mutant lines would make it possible to investigate the roles of the specific genes in formation of the PPF. Fetuses at ages during which the PPF is forming would be isolated, sectioned and stained. If the PPFs in this tissue were defective, it could correlate significantly with the target of the teratogens.

The second project is partially complementary to the proteomics. Robin Clugston, a fellow graduate student, will use laser capture microdissection (LCM) to isolate single cells from this tissue structure. mRNA will be isolated from these cells and RT-PCR will be performed to identify genes that are predicted to be expressed in the PPF, including HGF/SF. Probes complementary for the RNA of proteins identified by proteomics methods will be used for RT-PCR to see if expression of those genes is reduced by treatment with nitrofen or the other teratogens.

## 6.4 <u>FINDINGS REGARDING THE ETIOLOGY OF CDH IN THE ANIMAL MODEL</u>

CDH has been studied for decades using the nitrofen model in rodents. The work in this thesis has shown that three other compounds can cause the same diaphragmatic defect in rats. The compounds 3-biphenyl-carboxylic acid (BPCA), SB-210661, and bisdiamine when administered early in gestation on several subsequent days induce posterolateral defects that are identical to those seen in the nitrofen model in fetal rat diaphragms. Another compound related to BPCA called biphenyl methanol also induced hernias, but with a significantly lower incidence. For BPCA and SB-210661, this work represents the first systematic characterization of

their effects on diaphragm development in the rat. There have been only single publications for each compound that briefly mentioned the observation of diaphragm defects (Solomon et al., 1989; Sutherland et al., 2000). Bisdiamine has been studied quite extensively in Japan in this context (Tasaka et al., 1992; Hashimoto et al., 1998), but these data are little known outside of Japan.

The differences found in the number of doses necessary to induce defects probably reflects, in part, variations in the half-life of the compounds in the body of the rat. It was hypothesized that bisdiamine and the other compounds being investigated acted to inhibit retinoic acid production. The fact that bisdiamine potently inhibited spermatogenesis (Coulton et al., 1960; Hershberger et al., 1969) which is a process dependent on retinoic acid, strengthens this hypothesis. Jörg Mey of Aachen University was recruited for collaboration on this project to test the four compounds. In a cell assay system, it was found that all four compounds that cause diaphragmatic defects strongly inhibit production of retinoic acid. Evidence for the possible involvement of the retinoid system in CDH has been obtained. However, it does not prove that inhibition of retinoic acid synthesis is the main or sole point of interaction of the compounds with the retinoid system. This work does not correlate strongly with human CDH in that, as stated in the General Introduction, these teratogens have not been linked to human CDH (Torfs et al., 1992), while other unknown environmental factors or compounds could be responsible. Also, the inhibition of RALDH2 examines only the final step in the retinoic acid synthesis pathway. The finding from this study was that all four teratogens inhibit the synthesis of retinoic acid directly but not necessarily exclusively.

## 6.4.1 Future Directions

More work should be done to identify specifically the point(s) of action of the teratogens in retinoid metabolism. The final step in RA production catalysed by retinaldehyde dehydrogenase 2 is inhibited, but considering that bisdiamine is known to inhibit alcohol dehydrogenase, it is conceivable that the conversion of retinol to retinal is inhibited. Other earlier steps in the pathway may be compromised, as well. The initial point of the insult to the retinoid system caused by the compound has to be identified to understand the etiology of the defect in the animal model.

Some preliminary data have been gathered about the utility of retinol or retinoic acid supplementation in prevention of lung and diaphragm defects induced by nitrofen. It has been shown that retinol administration prior to, with or after nitrofen administration does reduce hernia incidence and lung hypoplasia in rats (Thébaud et al., 1999, 2000; Babiuk, unpublished results). There is a reduction, not a complete abolition of the effects of nitrofen, possibly due in part to the timing of administration. Retinoic acid rescues some defects caused by retinoic acid depletion or genetic defects in embryos (Dickman et al., 1997; Pasqueletti et al., 2001). Preliminary results gathered have not shown success in the use of retinoic acid treatment in reducing the incidence of hernias in the nitrofen model, but RA does appear to lessen the lung hypoplasia seen in the fetuses. It is possible that the retinoic acid used for treatment does not efficiently enter the fetal circulation with maternal administration. This can be tested using the LacZ-RARE mice, which are being bred in the animal facility. Treatment of pregnant transgenic mice with the teratogenic cocktails as described in Chapter 4 and analysis of LacZ expression (decreased staining) in the fetuses will

indicate if the retinoid system is perturbed *in vivo* by these drugs. If the transgene expression is restored after maternal retinoic acid administration, the retinoic acid is effectively delivered to the fetuses.

Retinoic acid is not the only active retinoid with physiological importance. The visual system for example requires retinal, not retinoic acid. If diaphragm formation is not (wholly) dependent on retinoic acid but requires another active metabolite of retinol for certain aspects, this could explain the ineffectiveness of retinoic acid in this paradigm and only partial success of retinol in preventing CDH. Another more likely explanation is that retinoic acid is much less effective at transferring across the placenta to the fetus, as has been shown (Shukla, et al., 1986). Future work will be designed to determine exactly what steps in the retinol pathway are affected by the teratogens, as well as what retinoid(s) are critical for diaphragm formation.

A collaborative project is underway with the laboratory of R. Blomhoff in Oslo that is anticipated to provide quantitative data on levels of retinoids and related molecules (i.e. RBP) in control rats and those treated with nitrofen. Major et al. (1998) reported that the levels of retinol and RBP in the plasma of infants born with CDH were lower than in normal infants. These levels were found to be higher in mothers of infants with CDH when compared with levels in mothers having healthy babies. This is suggestive of impaired transport of retinol from the maternal to fetal circulation and/or impaired retinoid metabolism in the fetuses. Such a reduced level of retinol would result in lower retinoic acid and other retinoid concentrations that are hypothesized to be important in normal diaphragmatic development. Embryos staged from E10.5 to E13.5 have been isolated from nitrofen and control dams. Plasma and liver samples have been collected from the dams as well. All samples have been sent to Oslo where retinoids and carrier proteins will be isolated and HPLC measurements will be performed. The hypothesis is that values for retinoid concentrations in the fetuses isolated from nitrofen treated animals will be lower than those in control fetuses.

In the nitrofen model, the PPF has been shown to be defective in some fetuses from treated animals (Greer et al., 2000). The missing piece of the PPF appears to correspond to the location where the missing part of the diaphragm is observed. This is the basis for the hypothesis of the pathogenesis of CDH in the model that much of this thesis is based upon. To show that BPCA, SB-210661 and bisdiamine act through the same mechanism as nitrofen in causing CDH, it is important to treat rats with these three compounds, isolate and section the fetuses to determine if similar PPF defects are induced. The inhibition of RALDH2 by all compounds and data showing that all induce similar defects in the PPF would support the hypothesis that CDH in the rodent model is the result of a defect in retinoid metabolism, which disrupts a process necessary for the mesenchymal substratum to form.

There is a colony of RARE-LacZ transgenic mice presently being bred by Laboratory Animal Services at the University of Alberta. These animals have the beta-galactosidase gene-coding region under the control of a retinoic acid response element-containing promoter. BPCA, SB-210661, bisdiamine and nitrofen will be given to pregnant mice on E8 in experiments similar to ones performed by J. Greer (Greer et al., 2002) to investigate whether all of the compounds can reduce expression of the transgene as has been shown with nitrofen.

These mice will be used to determine the period during development when the RARE-LacZ gene is turned on or shows increased expression in the primordial diaphragm. This would correspond to the period of highest susceptibility to the teratogens and decreased retinoic acid production. This information will make it possible to employ conditional mutants (animals in which a particular gene can be "turned on/off" at a specific time) for retinoic acid-responsive genes to show that the defect in the PPF directly results from problems with the retinoid system. If it is possible to obtain a conditional mutant for a gene hypothesized to be important in the pathogenesis of the defective PPF, the gene could be silenced during the development. Turning off expression of the gene at this time would result in the same type of tissue defect seen in the nitrofen model of CDH. Evidence would then be obtained for the mechanism or the candidate genes that might underlie the pathogenesis of the defective PPF.

# 6.5 <u>CHARACTERIZATION OF OTHER MODELS OF CONGENITAL DIAPHRAGMATIC</u> <u>DEFECTS</u>

Diaphragmatic hernia has not been linked to genetic defects in all cases. It is seen as a malformation in numerous syndromes that do have a genetic component (Cunniff et al., 1990; Pinar et al., 1994; Choo et al., 2002) or as the result of specific chromosomal abnormalities (Kristoffersson et al., 1987; Bettelheim et al., 1998;

Aviram-Goldring et al., 2000; Smith et al., 2000; Schlembach et al., 2001). Bochdalek hernias are studied in rodent models created by administration of teratogenic compounds or by surgical means in other animals, but other types of diaphragmatic malformations are much less researched, as good models are not available.

Two genetic mouse mutant lines with diaphragm malformations have been partially characterized as part of this thesis (Appendix 1). Some *Slit3* null mutants have a congenital diaphragmatic hernia as part of the null phenotype. This hernia resembles the central transversum hernia. The *Fog2* mutants have a partially muscularized diaphragm without a specific herniation. This situation resembles the eventration type of diaphragm defect (Stokes, 1991).

## 6.5.1 Future directions

Both types of diaphragm malformation arise from defects in genes that previously were not known to be important for diaphragm development. However, as both result in diaphragm defects, one appearing to be non-muscle specific and the other predominantly muscle specific, these mice could provide models for diaphragm formation. More detailed analysis of the genetic pathways affected by these mutations could be informative about the genes that regulate diaphragm embryogenesis. However, dissection of this genetic control is in the domain of those labs that developed the lines and have the capability to perform such studies.

There is another knockout mouse line in which diaphragmatic defects result, namely the *WT1* (Wilms' tumour suppressor gene) knockout animal. In the homozygotes, the kidney and gonads do not develop. There are also mesothelial, heart

and lung defects (Kreidberg et al., 1993). The  $WTI^{-1}$  fetuses die between days 13 and 15 of gestation, likely due to these defects rather than the kidney defects. It was found in fetuses at E 14.5 that the diaphragm had not fully formed, leaving communication between the thoracic and abdominal cavities. These animals had posterolateral defects, similar to the position of the holes seen in the nitrofen model. WTI-LacZ transgenic fetuses were examined in the Greer laboratory, sectioned and stained for beta-galactosidase expression. The expression domain of the WTI gene product is in the mesothelial lining of the abdominal cavity; as well, WTI shows strong expression in the dorsal region of the PPF, a region which corresponds to the region observed to be defective in the nitrofen model of CDH (Greer et al., 2000), suggesting that there may be a connection to the etiology of CDH in the model. These data correspond with the findings showing WTI expression in the coelomic epithelium, developing limb, septum transversum and epicardium (Moore et al, 1998).

WT1 plays a role in epithelial to mesenchymal transformation. It is also believed to be involved in differentiation of certain tissues. Structural analyses have shown that it has homology to known transcription factors, and it has been shown to possess DNA binding capabilities and can act as a transcriptional regulator of a variety of genes. The WT1 protein interacts with other proteins, some of which are transcription factors or act to regulate gene activity, and serves to modulate their activity (Scharnhorst et al., 2001). These multiple functions for WT1 suggest many levels of complexity are involved, and the reason for the observed diaphragmatic defects may not be as simple as a mutation in the WT1 gene. However, defects in *WT1* itself do not seem to have a role in human CDH at least. A study of children born with CDH was prompted by the data published by Kreidberg et al. (1993). 27 CDH victims were screened for *WT1* mutations, but no defects in the gene were found. There is a single report of a *WT1*-associated syndrome, Denys-Drash Syndrome, in which a diaphragmatic hernia was observed (Devriendt et al., 1995). The defect is probably not in the Wilms' tumour 1 gene, but instead lies either upstream or downstream in the signalling pathway. The gene product is a transcription factor, which has a large number of potential target genes, including itself, retinoic acid receptor alpha and the extracellular matrix components syndecan and E-cadherin (Scharnhorst et al., 2001). *WT1* has been shown *in vitro* to activate syndecan-1, which functions with other receptors to promote the translation of extracellular signals into intracellular actions and is important in the mesenchymal to epithelial conversion and the differentiated phenotype of epithelial cells.

A connection to the retinoid hypothesis in the etiology of CDH can be formulated for *WT1*. Some of the target genes for *WT1* are putative retinoic acid responsive genes. Decreased retinoic acid production could affect the expression of these targets, decreasing the function of the WT1 protein. To determine if this is an important factor in causation of the diaphragm defects in *WT1* knockouts, greater understanding of its gene targets and their possible relationship with the retinoid system is needed. Retinoic acid could have a more direct role in the pathogenesis of the defects seen in these mutants. It was found *in vitro* that differentiation of carcinoma cells and embryonic stem cells with retinoic acid triggered *WT1* expression and stimulated its DNA binding activity (Scharnhorst et al., 1997), whereas DMSOinduced differentiation resulted in decrease expression. Expression of insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor, a putative WT1 target, was increased in response to WT1 activation, and the expression was seen in endodermal, glial and epithelial cell types (i.e. tissue-specific). These findings indicate that retinoic acid may be important in activation of WT1 expression and that in the teratogen model where retinoic acid production is inhibited, reduced expression of WT1 in the PPF may be an important factor, considering the consequences of the WT1 knockout. It must be noted that these findings are from an *in vitro* culture system, and may not reflect the *in vivo* functions of WT1. Still, it provides an interesting basis for a hypothesis of the role of this gene in diaphragm formation.

Some fundamentally new insights on the process of diaphragm formation have been gained from the work described in the thesis. However, there are many questions left unanswered. Has the etiology and pathogenesis of CDH in the animal model been elucidated? No, but certain aspects of these have been clarified to an extent and have provided a foundation and a direction for more experiments and hypotheses have been provided. Is the problem of human CDH close to being solved? Again, no, but the data from the model do give an indication that an understanding of CDH will require a closer examination of the biochemical and metabolic status of pregnant women and their fetuses during the course of early pregnancy.

## 6.6 <u>REFERENCES</u>

Alcorn, D., Adamson, T.M., Maloney, J.E. and Robinson, P.M. (1980) Morphological effects of chronic bilateral phrenectomy or vagotomy in the fetal lamb lung. J. Anat. 130:683-695.

Allan, D.W. and Greer, J.J. (1997) Embryogenesis of the phrenic nerve and diaphragm in the fetal rat. J. Comp. Neurol. 382:459-468.

Allan, D.W. (2000) Prenatal development of the rat phrenic nerve and diaphragm: embryology, role of PSA-NCAM and the pathogenesis of congenital diaphragmatic hernia. PhD Dissertation, University of Alberta.

Aviram-Goldring, A., Daniely, M. Frydman, M., Shneyour, Y., Cohen, H. and Barkai, G. (2000) Congenital diaphragmatic hernia in a family segregating a reciprocal translocation t(5;15)(p15.3;q24). Am. J. Med. Genet. 90:120-122.

Babiuk, R.P. and Greer, J.J. (2002) Diaphragm defects occur in a congenital diaphragmatic hernia model independent of myogenesis and lung formation. American Journal of Physiology - Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol. 283:1310-1314.

Babiuk, R.P., Zhang, W., Clugston, R., Allan, D.W. and Greer, J.J. (2002) Embryological origins and development of the rat diaphragm. J. Comp. Neurol. In Press.

Bagnall, K.M. (1992) Segmentation and compartments in the vertebrate embryo. In Formation and Differentiation of Early Embryonic Mesoderm. Eds. R. Bellairs, E.J. Sanders and J.W. Lash. New York, NY: Plenum Press, pp. 133-225.

Bettelheim, D., Hengstschlager, M., Drahonsky, R., Eppel, W. and Bernaschek, G. (1998) Two cases of prenatally diagnosed diaphragmatic hernia accompanied by the same undescribed chromosomal deletion (15q24 de novo). Clin.Genet. 53:319-320.

Choo, S., Teo, S.H., Tan, M., Yong, M.H. and Ho, L.Y. (2002) Tissue-limited mosaicism in Pallister-Killian syndrome -- a case in point. J. Perinatol. 22:420-423.

Christensen, G., Minamisawa, S., Gruber, P.J., Wang, Y. and Chien, K.R. (2000) High efficiency, long-term cardiac expression of foreign genes in living mouse embryos and neonates. Circ. 101:178-184.

Cilley, R.E., Zgleszewski, S.E., Krummel, T.M. and Chinoy, M.R. (1997) Nitrofen dose dependent gestational day-specific murine lung hypoplasia and left-sided diaphragmatic hernia. Am. J. Physiol. 272(2 Pt 1):L362-371.

Collins, F.S. (1992) Cystic fibrosis: molecular biology and therapeutic implications. Science 256:774-779.

Coulton, F., Beyler, A.L. and Drobeck, H.P. (1960) The biologic actions of a new series of bis(dichloroacetyl) diamines. Toxic. Appl. Pharmacol. 2;715-731.

Cunniff, C. Jones, K.L. and Jones, M.C. (1990) Patterns of malformation in children with congenital diaphragmatic defects. J. Pediatr. 116:258-261.

DeTroyer, A., Sampson, M., Sigrist, S. and Macklem, P.T. (1981) The diaphragm: two muscles. Science 213:237-238.

Devriendt, K., Deloof, E., Moerman, P., Legius, E., Vanhole, C., de Zegher, F., Proesmans, W., and Devlieger, H. (1995) Diaphragmatic hernia in Denys-Drash Syndrome. Am. J. Med. Genet. 57:97-101.

Dickman, E.D., Thaller, C. and Smith, S.M. (1997) Temporally-regulated retinoic acid depletion produces specific neural crest, ocular and nervous system defects. Development 124:3111-3121.

Greer, J.J., Allan, D.W., Babiuk, R.P. and Lemke, R.P. (2000) Recent advances in understanding the pathogenesis of nitrofen-induced congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Pediatr. Pulmonol. 29:394-399.

Hamosh, A., Fitz-Simmons, S.C., Macek, M. Jr., Knowles, M.R., Rosenstein, B.J., Cutting, G.R. Comparison of the clinical manifestations of cystic fibrosis in black and white patients. J. Pediatr. 132:255-259.

Hashimoto, R., Inouye, M. and Murata, Y. (1998) Pathogenesis of congenital diaphragmatic hernia induced by transplacental infusion of bisdiamine into rats. Cong. Anom. 38:143-152.

Hayashi, K. and Ozawa, E. (1995) Myogenic cell migration from somites is induced by tissue contact with the medial region of the presumptive limb mesoderm in chick embryos. Development 121:661-669.

Hershberger, L.G., Hansen, D.M. and Hansen, L.M. (1969) Effects of antifertility agents on male mice as determined by a serial mating method. Proc. Soc. Exp. Med. Biol. 131:667-669.

Hooper, S.B. and Harding, R. (2001) Fetal growth and development. Eds. Richard Harding and Alan D. Bocking. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, Ch. 6, pp. 114-136.

Iritani, I. (1984) Experimental study on embryogenesis of congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Anat. Embryol. 169:133-139.

Kreidberg, J.A., Sariola, H., Loring, J.M., Maeda, M., Pelletier, J., Housman, D. and Jaenisch, R. (1993) WT-1 is required for early kidney development. Cell 74:679-691.

Kristoffersson, U., Heim, S., Mandahl, N., Sundkvist, L., Szelest, J. and Hagerstrand, L. (1987) Monosomy and trisomy of 15q24----qter in a family with a translocation t(6;15)(p25;q24). Clin. Genet. 32:169-171.

Landmesser, L.T. (1992) The relationship of intramuscular nerve branching and synaptogenesis to motoneuron survival. J. Neurobiol. 23:1131-1139.

Langman, J. (1977) Medical embryology, 3<sup>rd</sup> Edition. Baltimore: Williams & Wilkins.

Laskowski, M.B., Norton A.S. and Berger, P.K. (1991) Branching patterns of the rat phrenic nerve during development and reinnervation. Exp. Neurol. 113:212-220.

Laskowski, M.B. and Sanes J.R. (1987) Topographic mapping of motor pools onto skeletal muscles. J. Neurosci. 7:252-260.

Lee, K.K. and Sze, L.Y. (1993) Role of the brachial somites in the development of the appendicular musculature in rat embryos. Dev. Dyn. 198:86-96.

Liu, A.L. and Bagnall, K.M. (1995) Regeneration following somite removal in chick embryos. Anat. Embryol. 192:459-469.

Major, D., Cadenas, M., Fournier, L., Leclerc, S., Lefebvre, M. and Cloutier, R. (1998) Retinol status of newborn infants with congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Pediatr. Surg. Int. 13:547-549.

Megeney, L.M. and Rudnicki, M.A. (1995) Determination versus differentiation and the MyoD family of transcription factors. Biochem. Cell Biol. 73:723-32.

Moore, A.W., Schedl, A., McInnes, L., Doyle, M., Hecksher-Sorensen, J. and Hastie N.D. (1998) YAC transgenic analysis reveals Wilms' labeling 1 gene activity in the proliferating coelomic epithelium, developing diaphragm and limb. Mech. Dev. 79:169-184.

Pasqualetti, M., Neun, R., Davenne, M. and Rijli, F.M. (2001) Retinoic acid rescues inner ear defects in Hoxa1 deficient mice. Nat. Genet. 29:34-39.

Pinar, H., Carpenter, M.W., Abuelo, D. and Singer, D.B. (1994) Fryns syndrome: a new definition. Pediatr. Pathol. 14:467-78.

Scharnhorst, V., Kranenburg, O., van der Eb, A.J., and Jochemsen A.G. (1997) Differential regulation of the Wilms' tumour gene, WT1, during differentiation of embryonal carcinoma and embryonic stem cells. Cell Growth Differ. 8:133-143.

Scharnhorst, V., van der Eb, A.J. and Jochemsen, A.G. (2001) WT1 proteins: functions in growth and differentiation. Gene 273:141-161.

Schlembach, D., Zenker, M., Trautmann, U., Ulmer, R. and Beinder, E. (2001) Deletion 15q24-26 in prenatally detected diaphragmatic hernia: increasing evidence of a candidate region for diaphragmatic development. Prenat. Diagn. 21, 289-292.

Sekine, K., Ohuchi, H., Fujiwara, M., Yamasaki, M., Yoshizawa, T., Sato, T., Yagishita, N., Matsui, D., Koga, Y., Itoh, N. and Kato, S. (1999) Fgf10 is essential for limb and lung formation. Nat. Genet. 21:138-141.

Sillos, E.M., Donnelly, D.F. and Mansell, A.L. (1988) Unilateral diaphragmatic paralysis inhibits postnatal lung growth in the piglet. Pediatr. Res.23:463-465.

Shukla, R.R., Kumar, V., Banerjee, R. and Misra, U.K. (1986) Placental transfer and fetal distribution of 3H-retinoic acid in rats. Int. J. Nutr. Res. 56:29-33.

Skandalakis, J. E., S. W. Gray, and R. R. Ricketts. The diaphragm. In: Embryology for Surgeons, edited by J. E. Skandalakis and S. W. Gray. Baltimore, MD: Williams & Wilkins, chapt.15, pp. 491–539, 1994.

Solomon, H.M., Wier, P.J., Johnson, C.M., Posobiec, L.M., Rendemonti, J.E. and Rumberger, DF. (2000) Benzofuranyl ureas with potent cardiovascular teratogenicity in rats. Teratology 61:211-221.

Stokes, K.B. (1991) Unusual Varieties of Diaphragmatic Herniae. Prog. Pediatr. Surg. 27:127-139.

Sutherland, M.F., Parkinson, M.M., and Hallett, P. (1989) Teratogenicity of three substituted 4-biphenyls in the rat as a result of the chemical breakdown and possible metabolism of a thromboxane A2-receptor blocker. Teratology 39:537-545.

Tasaka, H., Takenaka, H., Okamato, N., Koga, Y. and Hamada, M. (1992) Diaphragmatic hernia induced in rat fetuses by administration of bisdiamine. Cong. Anom. 32: 347-355.

Thébaud, B., Tibboel, D., Rambaud, C., Mercier, J.C., Bourbon, J.R., Dinh-Xuan, A.T. and Archer, S.L. (1999) Vitamin A decreases the incidence and severity of nitrofen-induced congenital diaphragmatic hernia in rats. Am. J. Physiol. 277:L423-9.

Thébaud, B., Barlier-Mur, A.M., Chailley-Heu, B., Henrion-Caude, A., Tibboel, D., Dinh-Xuan, A.T. and Bourbon JR. (2001) Restoring effects of vitamin a on surfactant synthesis in nitrofen-induced congenital diaphragmatic hernia in rats. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 164:1083-9.

Torfs, C.P., Curry, C.J., Bateson, T.F. and Honore, L.H. (1992) A population-based study of congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Teratology 46:555-565.

Yu, D. (1998) A crash course in spinal cord injury. Postgrad. Med.104:109-110, 113-116, 119-122.

APPENDIX

ş

Based on contributions to the following works

Ackerman, K.G, Herron, B.J., Rao, C., Huang, H., Epstein, J.A., **Babiuk, R.P.\***, Greer, J.J., and Beier, D.R. (2002) An ENU-Induced Mutation in *Fog2* Results in Abnormal Diaphragm, Lung and Cardiac Development. In preparation.

Yuan, W., Rao, Y., **Babiuk, R.P.\***, Greer, J., Wu, J.Y., and Ornitz, D.M. (2002) A genetic model for congenital diaphragmatic hernia created by a null mutation in the *Slit3* gene. In preparation.

\*contributions to these works: isolation of diaphragm tissue from fetal mice of different ages, immunolabeling of diaphragm tissue, photographed diaphragms (unlabeled and labelled) and providing them to the primary authors

Assisted in writing of manuscript (provided methods details and discussion of diaphragm malformation)

These results have been included in the following:

Ackerman, K.G., Herron, B., Rao, C., Huang, H., **Babiuk, R.P.**, Kochilas, L., Epstein, J.A., Greer, J.J. and Beier, D.R. (2002) An ENU-induced mutation in Fog2 produces both primary pulmonary hypoplasia and abnormal diaphragmatic development in mice. American Thoracic Society Meeting. In press.

Ackerman, K.G., Herron, B., Rao, C., **Babiuk, R.P.**, Greer, J.J. and Beier, D.R. (2002) Abnormal diaphragmatic development and pulmonary hypoplasia caused by an ENU-induced mutation in mice. American Thoracic Society Meeting 306.

#### **INTRODUCTION**

The genetics of diaphragm development are poorly understood. Slowly the genes involved in the formation of the diaphragm in the mouse have been elucidated by generation of mutant mouse lines. For example, the *WT1* gene appears to be important for normal diaphragm development (Moore et al., 1998; Kriedberg et al., 1993). Also, phenotypic screening of mouse mutations is becoming a very powerful tool in identifying developmentally important genes (Anderson, 2000; Kasarskis et al., 1998).

In the Chapters 3-5, work based upon chemical models of diaphragmatic hernia in rodents was discussed. The studies described in those chapters investigated developmental malformations (i.e. CDH) of rat or mouse diaphragms that were the result of teratogen administration. However, the genetic control governing the formation of the diaphragmatic primordium is still not known. As discussed in the opening paragraph of this appendix, mouse mutants are becoming an important tool for identifying important developmental genes in many organ systems. As a result of this phenomenon, two groups contacted the Greer laboratory because of the expertise it has shown in the fields of diaphragm development and CDH research. The labs of D. Beier (Harvard) and D. Ornitz (Washington University in St. Louis) engineered genetically mutated mice as part of their own research. It was determined that the phenotypes of these mouse lines included diaphragmatic malformations. Collaborations were established to elucidate the pathogenesis of the diaphragm maldevelopment observed in these models. Determination of the pathogenesis was accomplished by isolation of the diaphragms from mutant and control mice of different embryonic ages and immunolabeling the tissue for markers of nerve and muscle development. From these genetic models of aberrant diaphragm development and from further studies of the genes involved, insight into the genetic control of diaphragm formation can be gained and, possibly, into the genetic contribution to the human condition of CDH.

One of these genetic models is the *Slit3* knockout mouse. Slit is the ligand for the Robo receptor. *Slit1* and 2 are expressed primarily in the central nervous system, and have been shown to have functions in axonal guidance and as guidance molecules for other cell types in the mouse. No specific function is known for the Slit3 protein, but in contrast to Slit 1 and 2, Slit3 is expressed weakly in the CNS but strongly in some peripheral tissues. David Ornitz's laboratory in St. Louis generated these knockout mice to elucidate *in vivo* functions of *Slit3*. It was found that the null animals for this gene develop a herniation of the diaphragm (penetrance of the hernia phenotype – 68%), resulting in respiratory distress causing death in 24% of the nulls by day 40 and 58% by day 150 (Yuan et al., 2002).

The other mouse mutant described here has an induced mutation in the Fog2 gene. David Beier at Harvard uses N-ethyl-N-nitrosourea (ENU) to induce novel mutations in mice, specifically recessive mutations that cause developmental abnormalities such as those seen in human congenital malformation syndromes (Herron et al., 2002). A mutation with phenotypic malformations of the cardiac and pulmonary systems and the diaphragm was identified. The mutated locus was found to be Fog2 with a positional cloning strategy. This gene is known to be necessary for normal heart development. No role in diaphragm or lung development had previously

been attributed to *Fog2* before the initial observation of these phenotypes by the researchers who developed the mutants.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Tissue Isolation**

The labs that engineered the mutant lines provided fixed fetal mouse samples. The diaphragms from control, heterozygous and null animals were isolated as previously described. Diaphragms were isolated from fixed fetal mice. Upon removal, diaphragms were washed for 30 minutes in PBS pH 7.4 prior to immunohistochemical processing.

## Antibodies

Antibodies were diluted in PBS containing 0.4% Triton X-100 (BDH Inc., Toronto, Canada). Muscle fibers were labeled with mouse MF 20 used at a dilution of 1:25. This antibody recognizes myosin heavy chain (MHC). Phrenic nerve labeling was performed at a dilution of 1:1 with mouse anti-neurofilament antibody 2H3, which detects the 165 kDa isoform of the protein. The secondary antibody was diluted to 1:200 with PBS with 0.4% Triton X-100. Biotinylated goat anti-mouse IgG (Sigma; whole molecule) was used for both primary antibodies.

#### *Immunohistochemistry*

The diaphragms were placed in wells of a 96-well microtiter plate containing PBS. The PBS was removed from the wells by vacuum aspiration and replaced with PBS/0.4% Triton X-100 containing 0.3% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> for 20 minutes. The solution was

removed and PBS was added to wash the diaphragms for 2-3 minutes. Diaphragms were then incubated in 1:20 normal goat serum (Sigma) for 1 hour. After removal of the goat serum, diaphragms were incubated in diluted primary antibody MF 20 or 2H3 overnight at  $4^{\circ}$ C. After washing the diaphragms in PBS, tissue was incubated in secondary antibody for 1 hour at room temperature. This was followed by PBS washing and further incubation in a 1% avidin biotinylated-peroxidase complex (ABC; Vector Laboratories (Canada) Inc., Burlington, ON) at room temperature for 1 hour. Diaphragms were washed thoroughly with PBS. Antibody labeling was visualized with a DAB (3,3-diaminobenzidine tetrahydrochloride; Sigma) reaction product intensified with nickel (0.1M Tris-buffered solution pH 8.0 containing 0.04% DAB with 0.04% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and 0.6% ammonium nickel (III) sulphate). Labeling was detected at room temperature over 5-10 minutes. Mutant and control diaphragms were stained with this protocol. Diaphragms were photographed using a Nikon 990 digital camera mounted on a Leica research microscope, imported into Adobe Photoshop, contrast-adjusted and labels added.

## <u>Results</u>

## Slit3 null diaphragms

The Slit3<sup>-/-</sup> diaphragms were observed to be abnormal at the ages examined. The pathogenesis of the central tendon first appeared at E14.5. An apparent thinning of the region of the central tendon retrosternally could be observed at E14.5 (4/4 fetuses). The central tendon was adherent to the liver at E14.5 and E15.5 (3/3 fetuses). At E17.5 (2/2 fetuses), it appeared that pressure from the growing liver ruptured this weakened area and liver tissue was forced through the resulting defect, forming a "plug" (Figure 1B). Upon dissection of the diaphragm (i.e. removing all liver tissue), the defect could be observed to be an oval, almost circular hole in the diaphragm, situated in the central tendon. This defect did not extend into the muscularized lateral portions of the diaphragm, as determined by labeling of the muscle fibers with the anti-myosin antibody. The phrenic nerve and its innervation pattern were normal in the null diaphragms when compared with the wild type. From observation of the lungs from the null animals, there did not appear to be any gross external pathology present, such as the hypoplasia seen with the nitrofen/teratogen models of CDH or in the human condition.



## Figure 1 CDH in *Slit3<sup>-/-</sup>* mice

(a) Normal E17.5 diaphragm with liver attached underneath. (b) E17.5  $Slit3^{-/-}$  diaphragm with a liver plug (arrow).



## Figure 2 E16.5 *Slit3*<sup>-/-</sup> diaphragm.

Whole-mount immunohistochemistry in E16.5  $Slit3^{-/-}$  diaphragm with MF-20 (antimyosin, Hybridoma bank). Arrow: defect in central tendon, Arrow head: defect in muscle.

## Fog2 mutant diaphragms

Isolation of Fog2 diaphragms from the mouse mutants was more difficult than the *Slit3<sup>-/-</sup>* mice. This was due to the very limited muscularization of these diaphragms that provides mechanical support to the diaphragm. Immunolabeling for myosin at E17.5 showed that the muscularized area of the diaphragms was restricted mainly to the medial region (Figure 3B,D) and the muscle fibers were distributed abnormally. The myotubes that were present did not appear to be oriented in the normal mediolateral fashion as seen in control diaphragms; rather they ran in a ventrodorsal pattern. A large portion of the dorsal and dorsolateral musculature was absent, leaving a thin, transparent non-muscular membrane that covered the surface of the liver. The phrenic nerve visualized by neurofilament labeling at E15.5 also showed an irregular branching pattern when it contacted the diaphragm (Figures 3F, 4) when compared with a normal diaphragm (Figure 3E). When the thoracic cavities of the mutants were opened, a significant degree of lung hypoplasia was seen. This was common to all mutants examined (4/4 E15.5, 4/4 E17.5 fetuses)





Whole mount unstained diaphragms from E15.5 wildtype (a) and *lil* mutant (b) mice. In the mutant mouse, the diaphragmatic tissue is intact, but lacks apparent muscularization in the dorsal regions. Whole mount diaphragms labeled for myosin (MF-20) from E17.5 wildtype (c) and mutant (d) mice. The mutant diaphragm shows an abnormal distribution of muscularized tissue. In the wildtype, myotubules radiate laterally from the central tendon. The mutant diaphragm shows myotubule radiation in a more ventral-dorsal pattern. Whole mount diaphragms labeled with neurofilament from E15.5 wildtype (e) and mutant (f) mice. The mutant diaphragm shows a lack of normal phrenic motoneuron branching.





The pattern of the phrenic nerve branches in the muscular region of an E15.5 mutant diaphragm is irregular (arrows), with fewer branches, as shown by neurofilament immunolabeling. The amuscular membrane that composes the remainder of the diaphragm surface is not innervated.

## **DISCUSSION**

These mouse models provide intriguing defects in diaphragm development and may provide models to study other rare types of congenital diaphragmatic hernia. These data show that normal diaphragm development is under potentially complex genetic regulation.

#### Implications from the Slit3 diaphragmatic hernia

The defects seen here initially were thought to be similar to the Morgagni type of CDH. Typical Morgagni hernias are anteromedial or retrosternal and are small triangular defects. It is believed to be a defect between the diaphragm's attachments to the sternum and the costal cartilage. Abdominal contents (bowel, less often the liver, stomach or spleen) may herniate directly through these defects. The majority of hernias through this foramen occur on the right side. These hernias are rare (2-3% of CDH cases seen) and are most often seen later in life, usually upon routine radiographic examination of the chest. It is rarely fatal and does not have a pulmonary component to the pathophysiology like the Bochdalek hernia. In this animal model, the defect is also retrosternal, but unlike a Morgagni defect, which is more frequently located on the right (Stokes, 1991), it is essentially directly medial, centered on the midline of the diaphragm. In the mutant diaphragms, the defect is located in the central tendon, leaving the diaphragm muscle intact and attached to the sternum in normal fashion. This defect actually resembles the central tendon hernia that is a rare type of congenital hernia (1-2% of cases). The central tendon hernia often contains a portion of the liver coming through the central defect (Stokes, 1991). The Morgagni defect is a small triangular defect whereas the mouse defect is oval or circular in shape (Figure 2) and, according to Dr. Alan Flake, a pediatric surgeon in Philadelphia with knowledge of Morgagni hernias, is much greater in its extent. The *Slit3* null mutants are born live, but developed a progressive morbidity that manifested in enlarged chests, atrophic abdomen and respiratory distress, apparently due to problems due to herniation of the abdominal contents into the thoracic cavity. There is some correspondence to the clinical manifestations observed in central tendon hernias, with infants having this defect presenting with varying degrees of respiratory distress.

*Slit3* is expressed strongly in mesenchymal tissue. It has been shown by others that the *Slit3* mutation decreased the proliferation rate of such cells in the central tendon region of the diaphragm (Yuan et al., 2002). A reduced number of cells could cause the formation of a thin membrane in this region. Since the growing liver provides continuous pressure or tension to the developing membrane, it is conceivable that the membrane could rupture and be penetrated by the liver. The effects of *Slit3* on mesenchymal cell proliferation could be important to normal diaphragm development, but the gene's precise function is yet to be determined.

#### Implications from the Fog2 diaphragmatic hernia

Fog2 mutation results in an incompletely muscularized diaphragm with considerable expanses of amuscular membrane separating the abdominal and thoracic compartments. This type of defect does not resemble the more commonly seen types of CDH such as Bochdalek and Morgagni hernias. An examination of the literature found reference to an unusual type of hernia that resembles the characteristics of the defect observed in Fog2 mutants. It is possible that the defect seen could be described clinically as eventration of the diaphragm (Stokes, 1991). This is characterized as an intact but thin diaphragm resulting from incomplete development of the diaphragm musculature and a paucity of muscle fibers. The defect must encompass an entire hemidiaphragm, rather than one region of a side of the diaphragm, and can be right, left or bilateral. Lung hypoplasia can result if the eventration is severe. All of the diaphragms (4 E15.5, 4 E17.5) examined in this study met these criteria. The extent of the muscularized region of each diaphragm at both ages varied slightly between individual diaphragms (no precise measurements were made), but all showed bilateral muscle defects. Examination of the cardiac system in these mutants showed a variety of defects including septal defects and underdeveloped endocardial cushions and myocardium (Ackerman et al., 2002). These are similar to the effects seen in targeted mutations of the Fog2 gene. It was observed in mutants that there was significant pulmonary hypoplasia. This led to the designation of the mutation as *lil* (little lung). Previously described mutations in Fog2 have not reported the diaphragmatic or pulmonary defects. Lung hypoplasia is a common consequence of CDH both clinically and in models. Eventration of the diaphragm can cause interference with lung development (Stokes, 1991), although whether the lung pathology in these mice is a primary effect of the mutation or the result of the diaphragmatic defect is not certain. It is possible that the mutation in Fog2 directly affects lung development in some way. An interesting observation is that CDH was seen in two cases where there was balanced translocation at the location at 8q22.3, which is the location of the Fog2 gene. This suggests that Fog2 may have an important role in diaphragm development and could be involved in CDH formation.

Previously unknown roles for known genes as well as novel genes are being discovered with phenotype-based screening of mutant mice. Through the use of mutagenesis and knockout technology in mice (as well as *Drosophila* and *C. elegans*), information is being gained about the genetic control of development. Correlations of this knowledge with human genes will advance the understanding of human development.

## <u>References</u>

Anderson K.V. (2000) Finding the genes that direct mammalian development : ENU mutagenesis in the mouse. Trends Genet. 16:99-102.

Ackerman, K.G, Herron, B.J., Rao, C., Huang, H., Epstein, J.A., Babiuk, R.P., Greer, J.J., and Beier, D.R. (2002) An ENU-Induced Mutation in *Fog2* Results in Abnormal Diaphragm, Lung and Cardiac Development. Submitted.

Herron, B.J., Lu, W., Rao, C., Liu, S., Peters, H., Bronson, R.T., Justice, M.J., McDonald, J.D. and Beier, D.R. (2000) Efficient generation and mapping of recessive developmental mutations using ENU mutagenesis. Nat. Genet. 30:185-189.

Kreidberg, J.A., Sariola, H., Loring, J.M., Maeda, M., Pelletier, J., Housman, D., Jaenisch, R. (1993) WT-1 is required for early kidney development. Cell 74:679-691.

Kasarskis, A., Manova, K. and Anderson, K.V. (1998) A phenotype-based screen for embryonic lethal mutations in the mouse. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 95:7485-7490.

Moore, A.W., Schedl, A., McInnes, L., Doyle, M., Hecksher-Sorensen, J. and Hastie, N.D. (1998) YAC transgenic analysis reveals Wilms' labeling 1 gene activity in the proliferating coelomic epithelium, developing diaphragm and limb. Mech. Dev. 79:169-184.

Stokes, K.B. (1991) Unusual Varieties of Diaphragmatic Herniae. Prog. Pediatr. Surg. 27:127-139.

Yuan, W., Rao. Y., Randal P. Babiuk, R.P, Greer, J., Wu, J. and Ornitz, D.M. (2002) A genetic model for congenital diaphragmatic hernia created by a null mutation in the *Slit3* gene. Submitted.